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Leaves are beautiful not only because
of their unique shapes and refreshing
colors, but also because of their unlimited
energy and growth. Our new shopping
center, Forum 66 in Shenyang, forms
the newest leaf in our Hang Lung tree
of development as we continue to grow
our “soaring perspectives” and ever
“expanding horizons”. On the cover of this
annual report, Forum 66 is shown at the
heart of the city center, surrounded by the
streets of Shenyang.

Forum 66

Shenyang
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n the fourth quarter of 2012, Forum 66, another world-class project of the Group, is
set to open in Shenyang. The opening of Forum 66 not only extends our footprint on
the Mainland, it also marks a major milestone in our transition into a leading national
corporation.

Situated at Qingnian Da Jie, Shenyang’s “Golden Corridor”, Forum 66 is the Group’s
largest project under development. The first phase of the mega complex to be completed
will consist of a high-end shopping center housing an impressive array of world-leading
luxury brands. Boasting the ultimate in architectural design, excellent tenant mix and
top-level services, this iconic landmark will create a brand new shopping experience for
customers seeking quality lifestyle.
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Hang Lung Properties Limited

Hang Lung Properties Limited (stock code: 101) is the property
arm of Hang Lung Group Limited (stock code: 10).

We are a top-tier property developer in Hong Kong and on the
Mainland with a recognized commitment to quality.

We are a truly diversified property development company
with a varied portfolio of commercial, retail, office, residential,
serviced apartment, industrial/office and car park properties.
Our primary focus is to acquire the best sites in the cities with
growth potential and employ only the top architectural firms
to achieve the highest design quality and develop the best
properties.

In Hong Kong and on the Mainland, our corporate strategy is to
constantly review and, where necessary, upgrade our tenant
mix while regularly refurbishing our existing developments so
as to achieve a maximum return on our investments. We also
emphasize value-added services and incentives, which add to
the appeal and marketability of our properties.

Our long-term vision is to expand on the Mainland while
continuing to invest in our home market of Hong Kong. As
our business will certainly continue to grow with soaring
perspectives, we are set to develop into a mega national
enterprise.
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Financial Highlights

Results

HE+=—A=+—HB1t/<{EA For the six-month period ended December 31

A EETTE in HK$ million 2011 2010
EER Turnover
YERE Property leasing

BB Hong Kong 1,483 1,387

H B A3, Mainland China 1,393 1,131
YIZEHE Property sales 193 3
E Total turnover 3,069 2,521
5% 5P 4y A K Net profit attributable to shareholders 2,516 3,418
B Dividends 1,610 760
BRER Per share data
B Earnings $0.56 $0.80
12 Dividends

HHA Interim - $0.17

REP Final $0.36 -

#Et Total $0.36 $0.17
Hﬁ%*ﬁﬁf\?& Shareholders’ equity $24.9 $23.9
BEFE Net assets $26.2 $25.0
IR R 5 Shareholders’ equity 111,462 106,749
TRELEE Payout ratio 64% 21%
aER Gearing ratio o' 0% 0%
Underlying Results
A E ST in HK$ million 2011 2010
R SR A B A Al R 2 Underlying net profit attributable to

. shareholders "°t¢2 1,650 1,275
FREF Wf“ Earnings per share o3 $0.37 $0.30
3=V Payout ratio N3 97% 57%
BRE - Notes:

1.

BEXRSFEREREINFER LR - F#ER
BIRITERRREBLOARE - NBRBRS RRITHE
R o R B IER R A N SR AR A A -

R EAREEEERENIDH - 2REAKSE
i 2B R BB 2R ERIF 405R RE Y
F)2H8  ZEANREREMERERDRE
W NFEZ BB HBBBRERE R IR
g 3SRk N

3. AEFETRERREEERLME

1.

Gearing ratio represents net debt over equity plus net debt. Net debt represents
bank loans and finance lease obligations, less cash and deposits with banks.
Equity comprises shareholders’ equity and non-controlling interests.

To facilitate better understanding of the Group's operational results, the
underlying net profit attributable to shareholders is presented by excluding the
effect of adopting Hong Kong Accounting Standard 40, Investment Property
which requires changes in fair value of investment properties and investment
properties under development, net of related deferred tax and non-controlling
interests be accounted for in the profit or loss.

The relevant calculations are based on the underlying net profit attributable to
shareholders.
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Sustainable Income and Profit Growth in Core Businesses

HEEXE & % 7
Rental Turnover Rental Profit
HET-A=1+—BLFE HE+=-A=+—HILtFE
For the years ended December 31 For the years ended December 31
BEEET BEEET
HK$ million $2,876 HK$ million $2,301
million million
3,600 50% 2,500
' _ ' EAFEREASZT=
BEFBRREDZT= Compound annual growth of 13%
3,000 Compound annual growth of 13%
45% 2,000
2,500
2,000 40% 1,500
|
1,500 35% 1,000
1,000
30% 500
500
0 25% 0
1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H TH 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H
2007 2008 2009 2010 20M 2007 2008 2009 2010 201

© e FEFME Hong Kong leasing

FE AT E Mainland China leasing o 1H | TAERA e oH | EAET=A
SRR SRS S SRS DN SOlIeL:

% of mainland China leasing of total leasing turnover

MBEHEEAZEEH
Strong Financial Capability to Capture Business Opportunities

RS EEAE BERNERNEEH
Total Equity Total Assets Interest Cover*
R+=A=+—8 R+=—A=+—8H BE+-A=1T—HILFE
At December 31 At December 31 For the years ended December 31
AETET BEEET &
HK$ million HK$ million times
$150,663 148
140,000 $117018 160,000 million 160 times
120,000 million 140,000 10
100,000 120,000 120
100,000 100
80,000
80,000 80
60,000
60,000 60
RCCC0 40,000 40
20,000 20,000 20
0 0 0
07 08 09 10 M 07 08 09 10 M 07 08 09 10 M

* EFEF B ESIE R AR B EMBEREDIFE ¥ Interest cover represents operating profit before changes in fair value of
Y2 A E) K& FI B AR & 255 F B bAF) investment properties and investment properties under development and interest
BECRIHFEN BRI - income divided by net interest expenses before interest capitalization.

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011 7
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Results and Dividend

The law in Mainland China dictates that all limited liability
companies have the calendar year end as financial year
end. Since the majority of our new projects of the past
decade are on the Mainland, resulting in an increasing
percentage of our business there, it makes eminent
sense to change our financial yearend date from June
30 to December 31. It will eliminate much unnecessary
accounting translations and administrative work which
are tedious and costly. As such, this report can be
considered the financial year end of 2011 although it
only covers a sixmonth period.

Numbers are fully audited by our long-standing auditor
KPMG. Foramore meaningful comparison and for good
corporate governance, we have additionally requested
KPMG to audit our historic results for the period July 1,
2010 to December 31, 2010. They are incorporated into
this report as you shall read later. The next time that |
write to shareholders will be after the interim results of
June 30, 2012.

Compared to the last corresponding period, turnover
for the present six months ended December 317,
2011 increased 22% to HK$3,069 million. Net profit
attributable to shareholders fell 26 % to HK$2,516 million;
earnings per share was HK$0.56 representing a drop of
30%. When excluding the effect of revaluation gains,
the underlying net profit attributable to shareholders
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grew 29% to HK$1,650 million and the underlying
earnings per share rose 23% to HK$0.37.

The Board recommends a final dividend of HK$0.36 per
share. For the half year to December 31, 2010 we paid
HK$0.17 per share and six months later, HK$0.54 per
share at then fiscal year end, making a full year payout
of HK$0.71 per share . That means on average we paid
HK$0.355 per share for each sixmonth period, hence
the present recommendation. This amount is subject
to approval by shareholders at the forthcoming general
meeting of shareholders.

Business Review

After a considerable time of managing down Mainland
prices by the
employing many market and administrative measures,

residential Central Government
transaction volume finally shrank around August. Soon
thereafter, prices began to fall. By the fourth quarter
of last year, many real estate companies - - not only
the smaller players but also some major ones - - were
experiencing financial difficulties. We were expecting
this development but it came perhaps earlier than we

would have thought.

\We were nevertheless pleased, for once again we were
in a great financial state as the bear market descended
upon us. We were, and probably still are, financially
speaking one of the strongest real estate companies
anywhere. \When we placed shares and raised HK$11
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billion in November 2010, there were plenty of skeptics.
Being already cash rich, why do you need more, they
sneered. Anyone who asked such a question was
obviously not a real estate professional, at least not a
good one. One should know that the bear will sooner
or later return and we want to be prepared to buy land
on the cheap. Having more money on hand will give us
a psychological edge as we go to bid.

Moreover, even if we do not add to our land bank,
construction costs from existing projects in the coming
years will not be inconsequential. The fact that today
we have less net cash than the amount raised 14
months ago, means that without that exercise, we
would already be in a net debt position. Yet we may
be at the cusp of another round of good land purchase
opportunities.

We began to do exactly that. In late September, we
bought one of the best located plots in Kunming, the
biggest city in the southwest. \When it was first put up
for auction in June, four local and two overseas firms
including ourselves signed up for the fight. Frankly
we did not think that we could win, for we never won
when there was serious competition. Fortunately for
technical reasons the municipal government cancelled
the auction before it began. By the end of September
when the piece was again made available, all the local
players were gone. The market had begun to fall and
financing became tight. Only a Singaporean entity and
ourselves were left in the fray. With that, we knew
that we had a fair chance although the eventual deal, if
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won, would not be a steal. If the auction had been held
several months later, the only other bidder might have
disappeared as well thus yielding an even better deal.
But the timing was not up to us; the government which
owned the land dictated it.

One attraction of this tract is that it does not have a
land clearance risk. It was home to the municipal
government which had already relocated. Moreover,
we know the plot well; we have been eyeing it for many
years. In fact about two years ago, your Board met in
Kunming and | had shown it to the Directors. Such
a gem in an economically exciting city like Kunming
would have forever been alienated from us if we had
not gotten it at that time. So we bid and we won, at a

price which was quite acceptable.

Some shareholders may not be familiar with Kunming.
First, it is the economic center of the southwestern part
of the country. Just as Shenyang is the most significant
city in the northeast, Kunming occupies that position in
the southwest. The strategic significance of its location
cannot be overstated. To keep a friendly relationship
is politically and
economically critical to China. Trade with neighboring

with Southeast Asian nations

countries is growing very fast. In the not too distant
future, one can drive a car or take a train from Singapore

EEGLEFRQIE —T——FFH
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to Amsterdam and the first major city within China’s
border is Kunming. Itis truly an important gateway city.

Besides being a rail and highway crossroads, Kunming
is also an air hub. It already has the seventh busiest
airport in the country. Once the new airport is opened
later this year, it will likely become the fourth. It is
said that Kunming has been designated by the Central
Government as one of four major international air
transport gateway cities of China, with the other three
being Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou.

Kunming is unique among major Chinese cities in that
the weather is mild. From time immemorial, it has been
called the Spring City where flowers bloom year round.
That makes it a vibrant tourist destination and a choice
location for second homes for the well-to-do.

Kunming is the capital of Yunnan Province. Due to the
weather and geological formation, its biodiversity is
unmatched. 53% of the country’s fauna and 48% of
the flora can be found in this region. As a result, certain
industries and research institutions like to be located
there. It is also one of the provinces which have the
highest percentage of ethnic minorities who historically
have lived peacefully with each other.

When all is said and done, everything must be translated
into dollars and cents. The price we paid was quite
acceptable. Compared to the land underneath Palace
66 in Shenyang purchased six years ago that was at its
time the most expensive purchase we ever made on
the Mainland, the unit cost is now 20% higher. In the
past six years, land value, inflation, retail sales volume

13
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as well as rental have all risen sharply. In that light, the
price we now pay is reasonable.

Our price is HK$4.3 billion and the piece has an allowable
buildable space of about 430,000 square meters
including the basement. Estimated total investment is
around HK$12.5 billion.

Preliminary plans call for a sizable mall, at least one
office tower, and 60,000 square meters of residential
blocks. The rest of the space can be offices and/or
hotels. At present, we are conducting an international
architectural competition. Every commercial complex
we build is a piece of public art which combines
aesthetics and functionality, and it should be the same
in Kunming. We are confident that the financial return
from the project should be quite pleasing.

Many investors over the years have wondered why
Hang Lung only built in coastal cities. Now they may
well ask, why finally in the inland with Kunming. The
fact is that back in the early 2000's when we began
to look outside of Shanghai, we did not discriminate
against municipalities away from the ocean. It was
just that opening and reform first took place along
the eastern seaboard. At that time, mayors and other

leaders there were not only better educated but also

EEBEERAR —T— 4R
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much more open-minded. As a result, it was easier to
negotiate and to consummate transactions. In fact, for
almost a decade we never stopped searching in the
central and western parts of the country. Fortunately,
over the past several years we have detected a gradual
upgrade of the caliber of city leaders in major cities in
western China. As they gained experience in dealing
with outside investors like us, conditions for doing
business have improved. Some officials in the middle
part of the country are still somewhat behind but it is
only a matter of time that the situation will change. We
welcome that development.

In Shanghai we detected a weakening of retail sales. As
a result, growth in rent, while continuing, has slowed.
Office rental has improved somewhat. Margins remain
high and again we are basically fully occupied. The mall
in Plaza 66 has seen several major tenants expanding
their shops, so some space is temporarily taken out of
the market.

Turnover in Shenyang Palace 66 grew by 15%. Rental
margin as well as operating profit have both improved.
Occupancy is at 94% and newly signed unit rents
are on average 10% better than previous ones. That
shows that tenants are confident for the days ahead.
All that was achieved in very tough and unfortunate
circumstances. The three better sides of this island site
were all but closed off to traffic for many months: two
sides were due to underground road work and the third
borders on a new construction site. VWe became almost
totally inaccessible to pedestrian traffic. Fortunately the
more serious of these problems are now resolved and
we can look forward to further improvements.

15



R RS

Chairman’s Letter to Shareholders

7 R R 1B 2 [ 35 BA R = fE A 20
T o ZMFEMRMEEFENER
BRESAOJREOREDZL &
REBFIRVIAENE D Z
B - AR ES2RMNERESE L
Tt RENMRGEQ[AE -

RN EERSEZ LA R
48 - ZMEEHEL LK AE 5
HEHEENET € (ROEEIERT
MREAEMEER)  EHEEFE
FERTER k- ] ey
KED®RE - Er A EREHEEE
GimIEEGNEWERERESER -
ZODENBEYESERNSFNA
TAMEZ MEER ENEER
M ER A2 RIREREFRFFE

BEHERFFR IEDEER
EEEREE -

BENER > ZPRLEBBRKXT
MEEL EEEESRBEL
ik SEINAABEEREEZRA -
ZERBRALE  BERHESER
BErEDZTM - BEFAIESE
D2t RARASED Z T
= EANEREF FXFHNBRE
e BBAINNYEREEERS
WABREBE D 2\ e

Parc 66 in Jinan is clearly a success story. We
expect a first year unleveraged gross rental return of
approximately 7%. This far exceeds our initial hurdle of
4%. As rental margin continues to rise, the bottom line
will look even better in the coming year.

| will not be too surprised if Forum 66 in Shenyang is
similarly successful. We are already 70% leased up
with deposits received for a majority of them. (There
is a slight time gap between signing up and the first
payment of deposits).
tier global brand names. Contracted rents should yield

Many of the tenants are top-

investment return numbers that are much more akin
to Parc 66 than to Palace 66. \We expect to open the
shopping center in late September this year, the low-
zone of the first office tower next year, and the high-
zone the year thereafter.

Hong Kong rents remain steady and all properties are
basically fully occupied.

We only sold two units at The HarbourSide in the past
six months. Unit price was however much higher than
what we had achieved before. Once again, we mainly
relied on rental income which performed well. Turnover
increased 14% with Hong Kong advancing 7% and
the Mainland 23%. This is basically the same as in the
previous six months. 48% of total rents received now
come from outside of Hong Kong.
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Strategic Initiatives

With the addition of the Kunming site, it may become
clear to some shareholders that while continuing to
develop stand-alone shopping center projects like
Shenyang Palace 66, Jinan Parc 66, Tianjin Riverside
66 and Dalian Olympia 66, we will increasingly take
on mixed-use projects. This is nothing new to us, for
our first two efforts in Shanghai, Plaza 66 and Grand
Gateway 66, are both of that class, as are Shenyang
Forum 66 and Wuxi Center 66. \What was never
discussed in my previous letters is how to treat their
residential elements.

Approximately half of China’s vast population are now
city dwellers, more so than at any time in the long
history of the country. The magnitude and speed of
urbanization of the past two decades were the biggest
Yet the
process is expected to continue. While new cities are

and fastest that mankind has ever seen.

being built, population growth of existing ones will exert
tremendous physical and social pressure of all sorts.
From a land utilization perspective, building upward
becomes inevitable. This is in fact not bad for if done
right like in Hong Kong, it can be very energy efficient.
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On the part of municipal leaders, because public finance
relies so much on land sales, having a higher plot ratio
(i.e. allowable buildable space as a multiple of the size
of the land) will yield more money. Consequently, there
are multiple reasons why they like to see mixed-use
projects encompassing many skyscrapers. Experiences
in many Asian cities show that residents get used to
them and in fact often prefer them.

All that means that for our future, finding land for stand-
alone malls like Palace 66 or Parc 66 will become the
exception rather than the rule. There are many reasons
why we do not mind this. With mixed-use projects
which are by definition large in total buildable area, the
land cost will of necessity be high. That cuts out the
smaller developers. In other words, such plots when
sold will attract fewer competitors, for few developers
will have the financial strength like us to play.

Some of these mixed-use projects will only entail retail
space and offices like Plaza 66 in Shanghai. Others will
have added residential blocks like Grand Gateway 66.

As our shareholders know, we have been cautious in
In the U.S.,
there are about ten metropolises that have a sizable

developing office towers in many cities.

downtown with numerous high-rise offices. China will
for sure have more of such cities, but we should not
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be blindly optimistic for this product type. And in the
cities that we choose to construct them, we must be
sure that the location is the best and the product world-
class. This is exactly what we have done in Shanghai,
what we are doing with Shenyang Forum 66 and Wuxi
Center 66, and what we will do in Kunming.

Since we consider hotels a terrible business for the
owners and will only do so when constrained by
the need of the project, residential units become
the only other major product class for us. Our long-
term shareholders may remember my past writings
explaining why we are not in residential development.
We still strongly hold that view in the traditional sense
of a home builder - - buy large tracks of land and build
tens of millions of square meters of apartments. That
is a game of size and speed which is not our forte. We
only want to compete in quality and in high unit prices.

On mixed-use projects in city centers, the residential
element falls squarely on our side. Consider this: what
will be the unit price of luxury apartments built on top
of or abutting a world-class mall and right next to the
city’s most prestigious office skyscrapers? The answer
Is: among the highest in the city. That we do not mind
doing, either for rent as serviced apartments or for sale.
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Look atitanother way. Again as | have previously written,
for years we recognized that by developing a city's best
shopping center, we are creating tremendous value for
the immediate neighborhood and indeed for the entire
district. That is in fact a key reason why municipal
leaders consider Hang Lung the preferred buyer of
their land because the land value surrounding us will
inevitably go up. That will bring further income to the
city’s coffers.

After much internal debate, we have hitherto decided
to focus on what we do best, i.e. commercial
developments, leaving the added value for others to
enjoy. But now, doing mixed-use projects is increasingly
becoming the government's stipulation, thus forcing us
to take some of those potential values for ourselves.
We will be happy to oblige! After all, having more
people living right next door to our shopping center
will only bring more retail sales. It seems we shall win

whichever way we look.

Our question is whether we should sell or rent these
apartments. It will depend on the project. Take the case
of Grand Gateway 66. Because it is in Shanghai where
land of superb location is limited and because we only
have 624 units, we will keep them for long-term hold,
at least for the foreseeable future. But in the case of
Shenyang Forum 66, we may have 300,000 to 400,000
square meters with perhaps over two thousand units,
so selling becomes much more likely.
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Moreover, whereas top-located residences in cities like
Beijing and Shanghai have in recent years witnessed
substantial increase in sales price, the rise in secondary
cities like Shenyang, Wuxi and Kunming has been
more modest. It is quite possible that a sharper rise
may be had in the coming years, although it is unlikely
that the growth curve will be as steep as in the first tier
cities. For that reason, we have recently reviewed all
such projects in our portfolio and are making plans to
capitalize on the coming opportunities.

As market conditions warrant, we may have all design
work done, government approvals obtained, and in
some cases the foundation work completed when we
are doing the same for the mall and for the office towers.
Then we sit and wait. Once we detect winds of rising
residential prices, we can quickly do the superstructure
which is not that complicated. In a relatively short
period of time, we should be able to hit the market,

hopefully catching an updraft.

That we will do. For our shareholders, this initiative
should represent a new area of value creation that
was hitherto untapped and even unspoken. Yet to your
management, it represents something we have always
known. In our existing portfolio, we have approximately
500,000 to 600,000 square meters that we can work
with. There are as yet many uncertainties affecting our
decision on how much and when to build. For example,
if demand for offices in one of our cities heats up,
we may build more offices and less apartments. The
determination can only be made as market conditions
evolve.
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Shareholders may remember that one reason we
previously did not like to build properties for sale was
the much higher taxes that such an activity attracts.
However, if apartment prices rise substantially
resulting in very rich margins, then sharing part of it
with the government may still make sense to us. As
in our commercial development business, we are not

interested in high volume-low margin activities.

Back in Hong Kong, there are also new developments
worth reporting. As | have previously told shareholders,
our matured rental properties here can be sold to
unlock hidden value because the periodic revaluation
of our investment portfolio by third-party professionals
is perhaps among the most conservative of our peers.
In the past we did not sell because we wanted to first
make sure that we knew how to grow the rent roll on
the Mainland. Now with our Shenyang and Jinan malls
successfully opened and performing well, it is time to
seriously look into it. As always, we will be patient and
watchful for the right moment in order to maximize
profit. After all, we can only sell each property once!
We are still in a net cash position and so are not under
pressure to act. Frankly that is the only way to part with
valuable assets.

Prospects

Since expanding beyond Shanghai in 2005, we have
so far committed about HK$67 billion in projects in
six cities. If we were to count the two adjoining plots
of land in Wuxi as one, then we have seven projects
(with two in Shenyang). Almost all land premiums have
been paid for and construction for Shenyang Palace
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66 and Jinan Parc 66 has been completed. All other
developments, with the exception of Kunming which
is in the planning stage, are being built. So far HK$42
billion of construction remains to be paid.

Given the size of Shenyang Forum 66 and \Wuxi Center
66 which like Kunming are huge, each of these may take
a decade (from land purchase) if not longer to complete.
With a total of about 2.9 million square meters to be
built (including car parks), finishing them in the next ten
years will mean an average of 290,000 square meters
per year. That is equivalent to completing one Empire
State Building and more each year for ten years. Some
say that Hang Lung is conservative but that seems
quite progressive to me! Financial conservatism which
we insist on does not necessarily mean strategic
conservatism.

How to maintain fiscal
strategically aggressive to grasp the best opportunities
in a fast expanding market is an interesting question.

prudence while being

We do it by honoring the old adage of the real estate
industry, namely, insisting to buy-low-sell-high. This is
easier said than done. Most players buy high expecting
to sell higher. We are not so self-confident to do that,
for there is little cushion in case the often fickle market
turns south. For the past two decades we have honed
our skill in calling market cycles correctly and so far
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we have done superbly. That, together with our utter
respect for the other time honored principle in the
industry of “location, location, location” (i.e. buying only
the best located properties), have differentiated us from
many of our competitors. It is truly amazing how few
developers abide by these two cardinal rules!

Being disciplined to keep to the two adages is however
still not sufficient to win in the longer term unless one
manages one’s finances wisely. That we have done in
the past two decades and more. In fact for the last
six years, we have had a net cash position. The main
reason for this is that we have consistently made correct
decisions not only on the Mainland but also in our home
market. Our Hong Kong residential developments for
sale have by far the lowest cost basis compared to
our competitors, and we always time our sales well to
maximize profit. It is the cash therefrom that has put
us in this enviable financial position and that to a good
extent feeds our new Mainland projects.

Some have questioned our financial conservatism and
suggest that we return money to shareholders such
as in the form of a special cash dividend. For several
reasons management should not do that. In fact, | have
told those proponents to sell our stock if we do that.
Conceptually speaking, we are in a privileged position
- - having gained experience, and having built a team
as well as a brand - - to take advantage of one of the
biggest commercial opportunities mankind has seen
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in the beginning part of this century, namely to ride
the wave of urbanization and domestic consumption
in China.
that management is incapable of converting those

Returning money to shareholders means

opportunities, a great reason to dump our shares!

But there are very practical reasons as well. Some of
them were laid outayear ago in my letter to shareholders
(i.e. the Interim Report of 2010-2011) where | gave the
rationale for the share placement of November 2010. |
shall not repeat them here. Suffice it to say that real
estate markets in developing economies like China
are more often than not volatile. Downward price
movements can be sudden and sharp. Having cash on
hand is essential to keeping the ship afloat in such an
eventuality. Conversely, such bear markets sooner or
later present excellent buying opportunities for those

who have cash.

Nevertheless, from a capital structure perspective,
having net cash consistently is not optimal;, that
position should be the exception rather than the
rule. Leverage should be carefully employed so as to
enhance investment return. So with the latest addition
of Kunming whose land premium was paid off before
calendar (and now also fiscal) year end, we will later this
year return to a condition of having a low level of debt.
Until we can sell Hong Kong apartments in a meaningful
amount, that situation will remain.

Moreover, construction cost in the foreseeable future
will be substantial. Unless we have good reasons to
slow down progress, otherwise the amount needed in
the coming four years will be about HK$27 billion.
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To finance this growth, we have as much as HK$20
billion worth of completed or near completed
apartments in Hong Kong that can be sold. But in
line with our practice to buy-low-sell-high, we will wait
for higher prices. Our portfolio is unique among our
competitors - - almost all units have a view of the harbor
which is one of the most beautiful in the world. History
shows that it is difficult for such luxury products to fall
seriously in value. When market is slow such as in the
past two years, transaction volume shrinks but price
tends to hold up. Then when times are good, room for
price hikes is plentiful. With plenty of potential buyers
both locally and from the Mainland, the chance of price
appreciation far exceeds that of depreciation. The cost
to upkeep the empty units is miniscule compared to
the upside potential.

Since the timing of sales is uncertain, we will need
alternative funding sources. Placement of shares will
be unlikely for the coming few years not only because
the stock market may not cooperate, but also for
technical reasons. Our parent Company Hang Lung
Group prefers not to dilute its shareholding in us to
below 50%. It did after the last placement in November
2010 and was then by Securities and Futures Ordinance

barred from buying our shares for some time.

Moreover, our last issuance of scrips coincided with a
peak in our share price. Thereafter, the stock market
as a whole including our counter went down. History
shows that in all previous share placements of ours, any

EEBEERAR —T— 4R



REERRIER - HEnBiFHF
A AEBEEROEREETE LA
EFMBENERERSS - ~A5EE 2B
BENRFBERER  THRREL

mE o

At - B BEK AT FIFH AR
BB RAME—EE - HARER
HRAMEBANRITERBBEE
TAANTET MFBRTSO/E
®E-BaHtHET ERAKHBO /A
REF -

BPREHRITREEAN ERZ(E
Do REESBTEHENERZEA
R BIFAARBRITHEHESA
BEERMEN - ERERR - RME
EHATBRITHAR B R W&
7 IREREERE - HE - BHIRIA
T Zf-BEESELERESY
2R - FE L EEBBEFAF
RBR/AREFREE A &HRNE
YA e

B0 R APIE RT MIRITE K
EELD FERKER—FZRLH
T —EPHREE - ERFUES
RBEMRANEEA  BERERE
BEFMHRE - R - EREE™
BRARERR  HMAEHRY
METARKREEK - AR S

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

taker with say a three-year investment horizon is pleased
with their decision. For unlike some of our competitors,
each issuance was at a price higher than all previous
exercises of the same kind. As much as possible, we
have all intentions to maintain that tradition. \We want
our shareholders to be happy with us.

We are thus left with debt financing as the only
alternative to fund growth. At present we have bank
facilities, drawn or undrawn, of over HK$26 billion. This
is roughly matched by about HK$24 billion of cash on
hand, mostly kept as RMB deposits.

Our present basic attitude towards bank financing is
one of mistrust. We do not like the way global financial
markets are developing. There is hardly a bank of size
which is not under pressure of one sort or another. At
times we are even skeptical about how “committed” is
a so-called “committed bank line”. So once such a loan
is secured, we unlike in the old days right away draw
down. Converting HK dollar loan proceeds to RMB

deposits can at times generate an interest income.

Partly due to this mistrust for banks and bank loans,
over a year ago we put in place the Medium Term Note
(MTN) program so that we as an unrated borrower can
tap the bond market if we so choose. Again because
of concerns over the financial market, we are only
interested in longer dated instruments. Given our

financial strength and the fact that we do not now need
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the funds, the yield we have to pay should be among
the lowest in the industry. From this source, we should
be able to raise about HK$15 billion.

With five sizable projects under construction, we will
redouble efforts to ensure their timely completion.
high standard of
design and construction, there are areas of project

Besides maintaining our usual

management which can use improvements. We
will strive to strengthen property management as
well in order to maximize tenant as well as shopper
satisfaction. We are also conscientious to enhance our
brand equity especially on the Mainland where all of our
new businesses are. Already Hang Lung is considered
by many there as China's best commercial property
developer. A wider acceptance should not hurt and will
help us as we later move into new markets.

As to buying more land on the Mainland, it is hard to
judge at this stage if there are better opportunities in
the coming months. We are rather pleased with our
present portfolio and will only add to it if what we
consider very attractive deals come along.

The main reason for the present uncertainty is that
where the market will go will more than in recent years
depend on the Central Government’s actions. Just like
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in the few years before mid-2008, the government has
since the second half of 2009 been attempting to rein in
residential prices. Increasingly severe measures finally
took hold last August and the plights of local developers
became obvious. By the second half of December,
however, there seemed to be signs of relaxation as
banks began to lend again. Yet since the New Year,
top government officials have repeatedly stated that
tightening would continue. In other words, signals are

mixed.

Nevertheless, what seems likely is that now with the
price hike under control and the government preferring
to avoid big market swings, things will remain relatively
quiet. Transaction volume may recover somewhat but
prices may not rise much. That, together with renewed
lending from banks, means that most major Mainland
developers will survive but with some difficulties.
Consequently, their ambition to enter the commercial
property market will be put on hold for the time
being. This is evidenced by the Kunming land auction
mentioned earlier - - whereas four Mainland players
were among those who signed up to bid last June
which contest was later called off, they all disappeared
when it eventually went ahead in September.

That is good news for us - - if there is any land we want
that is up for sale, competition will not be as keen.
What we do not know is when municipal governments
will be financially desperate enough to sell at prices
acceptable to us. That happened in early 2009 and we
are hopeful that it will be repeated. However, we are
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not overly eager for that to happen, for we are a very
patient player.
better the price.

Sometimes the longer we wait, the

Back in Hong Kong, it is doubtful if in the coming
months we will be able to sell a lot of apartments at
prices we want. That said, we will part with the top-end
The HarbourSide units as buyers willing to pay emerge.
We saw a few cases in recent months which gave us a
profit margin of some 78%. We should not expect that
to be the norm.

In our bread and butter business of leasing commercial
space, growth in Hong Kong rent for the first half of
2012 should be similar to that of the past six months.
For the Mainland market, we have detected a
slowdown in domestic consumption. Although slow to
be translated to rents received, sooner or later it will,
unless sentiments quickly turn to the better. Given
dullness in the global and to a lesser extent the Chinese
economies, this is unlikely to happen. Rental increase
rate should be similar to that of the past six months.
Fortunately we will see the opening of Shenyang Forum
66 this September. \We expect a first year gross vyield
on investment of around 6% which will help top line

growth.
Taking a longer term view, our future should be bright

indeed. As long as the Mainland economy holds up
reasonably, domestic consumption will sooner or later

EEBEERAR —T— 4R
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In the U.S,, it
accounts for over 70% of all economic activities while

account for a bigger share of the pie.

the number is less than 35% in China. If the latter were
to close half of that gap in an ever expanding economy,
it will be a bonanza for our mall business.

To put it in numeric terms: if one day the gross yield of
the new investments of HK$67 billion approaches what
we are receiving today in Shanghai, the annual profit
therefrom will be impressive indeed. Some twelve
years after opening our two properties in that city, they
are annually yielding on an unleveraged basis close to
40%. | believe that this level of return can be repeated.
If so, then the mathematics indicates a very promising
future as we successfully open new complexes one by
one and grow rental. | like to think that few real estate
companies anywhere have that level of certainty or of
magnitude, in sustained profit growth.

To execute our strategy, property management is a
critical element. | am pleased to report that we have
employed a seasoned executive Ms Prudence Chan to
head that activity. Although not an Executive Director
of the main Board, this is a Director grade hire. She will
report directly to our Managing Director Mr Philip Chen.
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It is my belief that our entire Board including the Non-
Executive Directors should continually learn in areas
critical to the success of the Company. This is why we
visited Dubai in 2010 and Las Vegas last November.
The choices of location are deliberate and here are the
reasons.

It is my observation that the best malls in the world are
perhaps in three places: in the U.S. especially in Las
Vegas, in Dubai, and now in Mainland China. Much of
the innovative ideas come from Las Vegas which are
frequently copied by the Gulf region Emirate. More
often than not, the latter improves upon them and
builds them bigger. With China coming to the game
later, it has the benefit of learning from everyone. For
example, our Dalian Olympia 66 last month won a
global design competition held in London. In fact, all
of our new projects of the past decade have won one
contest or another in the international arena.

More significantly, the economics of the Chinese malls
are by far the best. The U.S. has an oversupply of
retail space in a slow growing economy. In Las Vegas,
shopping will always play second fiddle to gambling. As
a result, most of the shopping centers there are not that
big. Dubai on the other hand relies heavily on tourists;
there are just not enough locals to fill the abundance
of mall space. Tourists can be repeat retail customers
but only periodically if not rarely. Recent turmoil in the
region also does not help business.

EEBEERAR —T— 4R
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The situation in China is much more encouraging. So far
society has been peaceful, the economy consistently
expands by 8 to 10% per annum, and personal income
growth is powerful. Last year, overall domestic
consumption rose by 17% and that for luxury goods
Unlike
in the West, shopping centers are a relatively new
Because population

density is invariably high, the pool of repeat customers

which is of particular interest to us, by 30%.
phenomenon in most big cities.
is huge and consistent. Given all these favorable

factors, your Company is truly in a market sweet spot,
the likes of which are rare in the world!

Barring unforeseen circumstances and excluding
developmental profit from Hong Kong which is
unpredictable, this year we strive to produce a bottom
line growth rate in the low double digits similar to that
of the past twelve months.

Ronnie C. Chan
Chairman
Hong Kong, January 19, 2012
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Extending our Reach on the Mainland
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With more projects on the Mainland to come on stream
in the next few years, we are quickly expanding into a
nationwide enterprise with a broad rental portfolio.

]
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On November 27 2011, the Board of Directors of Hang Lung Group
Limited (HLG) and Hang Lung Properties Limited (HLP) passed a
resolution to change the financial yearend date of the two companies
from June 30 to December 31. This Annual Report therefore covers
the current financial period for the six months from July 1, 2011 to
December 31, 2011. This change aligns both HLG and HLP with the
financial year, and yearend date, of the Group's businesses in mainland
China, as their financial results are consolidated into both HLG's and
HLP’s accounts. Mainland statutes require that all business accounts
are closed on the financial yearend date of December 31.

On the international front, the second half of 2011 proved to be a
difficult period with many uncertainties brought about by the European
sovereign debt crisis. Despite these global restraints, we are pleased
to announce that we have been able to turn in a solid performance

EEGLEFRQIE —T——FFH
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in the theme of this report. Both in the past six months and looking
forward, we continue to benefit from our “soaring perspectives” as we
continue to expand our footprint on the Mainland and become a nation-
wide Group on the Motherland. \We are seeing healthy expansion in
our portfolio as we realize our vision and as more and more of our
developments come on stream.

In the sixmonth period ended December 31, 2011, we achieved a
satisfactory performance with robust growth throughout our core
businesses. Total turnover grew to HK$3,069 million, up 22%.
Underlying net profit attributable to shareholders increased by 29% to
HK$1,650 million. Overall rental income generated by our Mainland
properties grew by an encouraging 23% while the Hong Kong portfolio
rose by 7%.

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011 39
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Property Leasing

Our property leasing operations maintained their strength and continued
to deliver income and profit growth. Together with the opening of Parc
66, our iconic new development in Jinan, rental turnover and rental
operating profits in the second half of 2011 rose by 14% and 11% to
HK$2,876 million and HK$2,301 million respectively.

Hong Kong

While Hong Kong was not immune to the uncertainties sweeping
across the European continent, demand for our strategically located
portfolio of properties remained strong. Maintaining occupancy rates
of 94% among our commercial and 93% among our office premises,
our Hong Kong operations achieved steady growth, to bring in total
rental income of HK$1,483 million, a rise of 7% over the sixmonth
period. Leasing operating profits also grew a satisfactory 8% to
HK$1,229 million.

During the sixmonth period ended December 31, 2011, our leasing
properties in Hong Kong made a 52% contribution to the Group's total
rental income.

Rental income of Hong Kong property portfolio grows steadily

40

EEGLEFRQIE —T——FFH



FRMEERSELRERSZ—A

Parc 66 in Jinan achieved an 100% occupancy rate

HEl At

BE-_T——F+-_A=+—HIAE
AR RBEAMEBNHES WA LREE
BET=—EBNLT=-8&8 T BRKESZ
= B EABES 2T REEEE T+
BEtF_aB8T  HERBHIBHREE
WEHMBEEEENERESN T ——
FNAEXFAERE - BrRNERERES
HAFXEENEREES 2 —BHNEH
MEE  SRUEAMNEEHRESRS
EAK—E-_fT-g8 Tl KA -
AN - BAPIRIBA N B RE S HE L
Y% — BREESBEEREYS - N
BRAEE BARBEMEZLEEEANE
EAmi%  EtZMIBYERERE - ©
PEHR - EENERESNEEER
BB HESER» 2NN BT
TR AERBET—RBNATHEET
ES M 2R ES NS ERTE - 28
MEEa T —TFNAREARGE
S - RHESWABENTEEET °

HE_Z—F+_A=+—HIE~HE
ABA - AEEYREASEERER
SWABDZE+\ -

i
H

__.- -.l. |
r

Mainland China

Total rental income in mainland China amounted to HK$1,393 million,
up 23%, while profits rose by 15% to HK$1,072 million in the six
month period ended December 31, 2011. This growth is due in part to
the opening of our latest development, Parc 66, in Jinan. Apart from
celebrating its grand opening in August 2011, Parc 66 commenced
operations with an outstanding 100% occupancy rate. As such, the
property generated a rental turnover of HK$123 million in just four
months of operation. Our two leading properties, Plaza 66 and Grand
Gateway 66, in the bustling city of Shanghai also continue to do well.
In view of our early entry into this market, we have established a strong
and mature foothold for these properties, achieving an occupancy level
of 99% for both Plaza 66 and Grand Gateway 66, to bring in rental
contributions of HK$1,185 million in total, during the reporting period.
Palace 66 in Shenyang also added to this positive picture. Continuing
to gather momentum since its opening in June 2010, it generated a
rental turnover of HK$85 million.

During the sixmonth period ended December 31, 2011, our leasing
properties on the Mainland thus made a 48% contribution to the
Group's total rental income.

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011 41
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Property Development

Our property developments on the Mainland remain on track and are
progressing well. The next project to come on stream will be Forum
66 in Shenyang. With construction work on the project proceeding
as scheduled, Phase 1, which consists of a shopping complex, is due
for completion in the final quarter of 2012. Following the footsteps
of Palace 66, which opened in the city in 2010, Forum 66 will be our
second major development in Shenyang. As the city is the economic
center of northeastern China, we are viewing Shenyang's rapid
economic growth with high optimism. When fully operational, Forum
66 will complement the features and facilities offered by Palace 66.
The resulting synergy will not only bring in a new lifestyle concept for
residents, but also reinforce our prestigious Hang Lung “66" brand in
the city.

Other property projects in mainland China include Center 66 in Wuxi,
Riverside 66 in Tianjin, Olympia 66 in Dalian and Spring City 66 in
Kunming. Reflecting the quality of these developments and our ongoing
quest for excellence, we were delighted to receive the “best of the
best” award in the prestigious International Property Awards 2011 for
our landmark Olympia 66 project in Dalian. At the awards presentation
held in London at the end of 2011, Olympia 66's unique architectural
style, reflecting both the concept of the auspicious Chinese Tai Chi twin
dancing carps and our well-established “66" brand, outperformed top
projects from around the world to win the title of “Best International
Retail Architecture 20117 the ultimate world’s best architectural award.
Highlighting the culture of quality that pervades the development,
Olympia 66 took the “Best Retail Architecture in Asia Pacific” and
“Five-star Best Retail Architecture in China” titles also presented under
the International Property Awards, in addition to winning the Bronze
Award in the category of the “Best Chinese Futura Projects” in the
MIPIM Asia Awards 2011.

Finance

As at December 31, 2011, we had a strong balance sheet with cash and
deposits amounting to HK$23,732 million. Deducting bank borrowings
of HK$20,734 million, we had a net cash position of HK$2,998 million
after full payment of the land price for the Kunming project. The
Group is thus equipped with an ample war chest to capture expansion
opportunities in the future.
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Outlook

Looking forward, our strong balance sheet and abundant reserves,
hand-in-hand with our skilled and experienced staff, stand us in
good stead and equip us with the necessary tools not only to deliver
satisfactory progress on our current development projects, but also
to drive our future growth and momentum. We continue to maintain
our long-term investment plan in mainland China, looking for every
opportunity to build up our land bank to fuel our ongoing growth in the
future, while continuing to invest in our home market, Hong Kong.

During the period under review, this focused strategy reaped
dividends with the acquisition of a prime 56,042 square-meter site,
zoned for commercial property development, in Kunming. In line
with our focused “Hang Lung Model”, the site is located in the
heart of Kunming's business district and is set to become even more
accessible as mass transit railway links are completed. Kunming, a
key city in southwestern China, is not only the capital, but also serves
as the political and cultural, economic and technological, as well as the
transportation hub of Yunnan Province. With a population of well over
6.4 million people, this new acquisition will expand our horizons while
broadening the Group’s asset and earning bases.

In Hong Kong, a brand enhancement exercise is being carried out in
all our core commercial properties. Not only is the tenant mix being
refined, effective marketing and promotional activities are greatly
increasing customer traffic and enhancing rentals in turn. With regard
to our property sales in the territory, we continue to monitor the
residential market closely, with a view to releasing further residential
units for sale as and when appropriate. The completion of our new
development on Blue Pool Road, expected in 2013, will also buoy these
activities in Hong Kong.

As we move forward into a new vyear, Parc 66, which opened in Jinan
in August 2011, will provide further impetus to the growth of our rental
income on the Mainland. In addition to its commercial contributions,
the inauguration of Parc 66 also marked a major milestone in our
operations on the Mainland. With the spread of our quality “66" brand
throughout the country, it highlights our growth into a nationwide
enterprise. This national development will broaden and speed up as
further projects, based on our “Hang Lung Model” to build world-class
commercial complexes for long-term investment, come on line over
the next few years. Our Mainland property portfolio will thus become
an important driving force for the sustainable growth of the Group in
the future.
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Overall market sentiment in Hong Kong remained positive, though
the European sovereign debt crisis and the resulting instability in the
world's financial and stock markets did have some effect on certain
sectors in the leasing market. Hong Kong's economy was buoyed by
the high influx of visitors which rose to a record high of 41.92 million in
2011, an increase of some 16.4% over the previous year, according to
figures released by the Hong Kong Tourism Board. This drive in tourism
not only benefited our commercial and retail activities, it also boosted
our serviced apartment sector. Together with our strategic planning
and effective cost controls, our rental income in Hong Kong achieved a
high of HK$1,483 million.

Commercial and Retail

Hong Kong recorded a total of approximately 28.10 million tourists
arriving from the Mainland in 2011, up 23.9% over the previous year.
With such a high inflow, the boost in retail sales, particularly in favored
merchandise areas such as gold and jewelry, watches, skin care and
cosmetics, as well as luxury fashion items, drove demand for prime
locations, and particularly duplex level shops. Rentals in the major
shopping areas, such as Mongkok and Causeway Bay and tourist
locations such as The Peak Galleria, thus rose over the period. As a
result, our commercial and retail sector enjoyed an occupancy level of
94%, with a growth of 7% in rental income.

Hong Kong's Central District also experienced strong demand for retail
space as new organizations and international retail brands seek to
establish their businesses in the territory. Properties at Duddell Street
in the heart of Central are benefiting from this move.

Over the past six months, local consumption remained stable. This has
enabled fair sales and rental performances in our regional malls such as
Amoy Plaza and Kornhill Plaza.

In addition to this encouraging picture, we continue our efforts to
maximize traffic flows, offering the best possible shopping experience
to customers. To this end, we carried out brand enhancement
exercises at our core commercial properties while our tenant mix has
been refined.
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“The Peak of Love Wedding 11.11.11" organized by The Peak Galleria
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Versatile marketing at The Peak Galleria has helped to promote this
primary tourist destination and shopping complex as a Hong Kong icon,
which reflects the local style and culture. The development is therefore
establishing a reputation as a cultural hub for key events in the city.
For example, we held a mega promotional event, “The Peak of Love
Wedding 11.11.11" when 11 couples tied the knot on our Green Terrace
atThe Peak Galleria on the auspicious 11" day of the 11" month of 2011.
The event generated massive interest and media coverage, reinforcing
the mall's image as a unique and memorable venue for weddings and
other important functions.

Seizing the opportunities provided by the growing number of tourists,
The Peak Galleria is fine-tuning its tenant mix even further to balance
the needs and requirements of both local residents and visitors. Thus,
in addition to offering more popular tourist brands within the complex,
we are also planning to improve our entertainment and leisure facilities
to appeal to locals and tourists alike.
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“Crystal Christmas” event

UREBER 2B ENAIEY - £ Fashion Walk in Hong Kong's busy and bustling Causeway Bay
B EEATI B HMABEZA S  continued to enhance its branding as a primary fashion and leisure
Rz SR ERAMEHMREESZE  hub with a full range of the world’'s most well-known brands together
EHEHRRMER —%¥ - BIERZEA  with top-quality dining facilities. Contributing to the area’s vibrancy, we
SEH BMBERTZEEEENMNIE  organized a number of carnival-type occasions including “Oktoberfest”
g B 45 [ 8 2 1% )8 &7 A1 [ Crystal  celebrations as well as the “Crystal Christmas” event, which drew
Christmas] BHE8) % - 3| T AR A strong interest from the public as well as heavy crowds to the area.
BB - WARAZETRERAM

BEALTIR-Z——FN\BMPEITT Hang Lung Centre also provided the venue for Hong Kong's first-ever

2AEERKRIBREPIMEGTRIE - —  ultra sensory 3D outdoor projection event in August 2011, mesmerizing
SRy BFER%E ARA - A the thousands of passers-by who were fascinated by the stunning
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Amoy Plaza

visual experience and the amazing impact combining sight, sound and
music. The event was staged at Hang Lung Centre in view of its prime
location and easy accessibility at Hong Kong Island’s busiest shopping
and entertainment area. The event created tremendous market and
customer attention, while the strong media coverage reinforced both
Fashion Walk's and Hang Lung Centre's brand image as a primary
shopping hub in Hong Kong.

Kornhill Plaza has introduced new food and beverage-themed areas.
This move has significantly raised total monthly rents, contributing to
overall rental performance. The diversity of cuisines has also increased
patronage and attracted additional customers to the venue.

Building on the successful dining promotion offered in conjunction
with Groupon Hong Kong and six of our shopping malls earlier in
2011, we launched our “Come and Dine at Hang Lung” featured
site at Openrice.com forThe Peak Galleria, Hang Lung Centre, Fashion
Walk, Kornhill Plaza, Gala Place and Amoy Plaza. Our aim is not only
to raise public awareness, but also to bring businesses to the many
diverse food and beverage outlets in our various properties.

(7B A ORI S R R 448
Gala Place in the heart of Mongkok
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One Grand Tower
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While the uncertainties in the global economy will no doubt have some
effect on our leasing operations, we see the situation drive demand
for necessities and greater mass consumption, which will benefit our
regional shopping malls such as Amoy Plaza, Laguna Plaza and Kornhill
Plaza. We also expect to raise rental income with a large-scale tenant
reorganization at Amoy Plaza as well as a major change in the tenant
mix, planned for 2012, at One Grand Tower.

Office and Industrial/Office

As a growing number of international organizations take a cautious
business outlook for 2012 in light of the economic turmoils experienced
due to the Eurozone crisis, Hong Kong is entering a correction phase
in rental levels for office space. Demand for Grade A offices in Central
has softened since the third quarter of 2011. However, demand from
local servicing trades has been relatively stable as evidenced by the
high occupancy rate of our well-managed diversified office portfolio
located at various districts of Hong Kong. Our specially designed
“themed floor” strategy in our office buildings in Causeway Bay, Tsim
Sha Tsui and Mongkok such as Hang Lung Centre, Grand Centre, One

LR IRHIRERKAT

Baskerville House at Central
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and Two Grand Towers, and Park-In Commercial Centre, as well as our
Kornhill Plaza - - Office Tower in Quarry Bay, benefited from this market
to achieve higher unit rentals. Thus, despite the uncertain climate,
our office and industrial/office sector brought in a total rental income
increase of 3%, based on an occupancy rate of 93%.

Looking forward, we will further diversify the trade sectors and
broaden the tenant and trade mix in our office properties to increase
rental yields and create greater risk resistance to possible fluctuations
in the market.

Residential and Serviced Apartment

Our residential and serviced apartment sector performed strongly,
achieving a total rental turnover of HK$176 million, a growth of 17%
over the previous reporting period. The high tourism drive coupled
with our effective marketing and pricing strategies have driven this
positive upward trend. Maintaining and enhancing these levels, we will
broaden our marketing activities, targeting not only corporate accounts,
expatriates and overseas visitors, but also expanding our client base to
local businesses and households.

Our residential properties consist of The Summit, located in the
fashionable Mid-Levels district of Hong Kong Island with sweeping
views of both Hong Kong and the Kowloon Peninsula, as well as
Burnside Villa in scenic South Bay with stunning beach views.
Benefiting from the robust economy and strong market demand in the
first half of 2011, which led to the renewal of leases on a higher rental
basis, the second half of the year continued to see a positive effect on
rental income. In the sixmonth period ended December 31, 2011, the
two developments achieved a rental income of HK$79 million.

\We are cautious with regard to the future. Average rentals from the
luxury residential market are expected to undergo a mild downward
adjustment over the next year as multinationals cut back on their
expenses in view of the slowdown in the world’s economy. As budgets
are cut, residents are moving away from traditional luxury residential
areas while a number of companies are also surrendering their existing
rental units. Together with the slower inflow of expatriate staff,
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particularly in sectors such as banking and finance, not only has there
been a general slowdown in leasing demand, the impact on occupancy
rates in the high-end residential leasing market is also becoming visible.
Seeking to deal with the situation, a number of developers have begun
to lower their asking rents.

Countering this negative picture, we are carrying out large-scale
renovations, upgrading our vacant units to raise their value and
competitiveness, to bring in new leases with enhanced rentals. We
are also making every effort to diversify tenant profiles, reducing the
proportion of tenants working in the banking and finance sector for
instance, to minimize the impact of the economic downturn on our
rental income.

iz A B b R

The Summit enjoys panoramic views
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Geographical Analysis of Hong Kong Investment Properties

BEEE (FEHK)
Gross Floor Area* (‘000 sg. m.)
R=B——F R=ZZ—%F
+=B=+—H ~A=+A
December 31, 2011 June 30, 2011
BE Hong Kong Island
IR & Central and Admiralty 58 58
i $78 0 NG T Causeway Bay and Wan Chai 112 112
BRI K 8l 0m Kornhill and Quarry Bay 164 164
HLTE R 1 & The Peak and Mid-Levels a7 47
=12 Hong Kong South 12 12
NBE Kowloon
A Mongkok 140 140
ESLENSTipN: S Tsim Sha Tsui and West Kowloon 89 89
458 A I B Ngau Tau Kok and Kwun Tong 96 96
RWE MR Cheung Sha Wan and Kwai Chung 52 52
=t Total 770 770
* BIEREG ZEEEE Including gross floor area of car parks
ERRENEZREDW
Segmental Analysis of Hong Kong Investment Properties
HE+=—A=+—HB1L/@A For the sixmonth period ended December 31
EEmEE(TEAKR) HeWACEBERET) HEE(EAL)
Gross Floor Area Rental Revenue Occupancy Rate
('000 sg. m.) (HK$ million) (%)
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
i R ra s Commercial and Retail 271 271 773 723 94 98
WAERTE P& Office and Industrial/Office 237 237 477 461 93 94
FEREFR Residential and Apartment 79 79 176 151 84 82
FE5 Car Park 183 183 57 52 N/A N/A
“at Total 770 770 1,483 1,387 92 94
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Hong Kong Property Development and Sales
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High-end residential complex - - The Long Beach
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In the second half of 2011, Hong Kong experienced some consolidation
in its residential property sales market. In view of the soaring prices
encountered in residential property sales in the early part of the
year, the HKSAR government increased minimum down payment
reguirements and increased land sales to maintain residential property
prices at realistic levels and to avoid any possibility of a housing bubble.
The economic uncertainties and weak financial markets also affected
sentiment leading to greater caution in the latter part of the year. These
factors however had little effect on our property development and sales
activities in Hong Kong as our strategy has been to develop top-quality
residential projects in prime locations with strong upside potential,
supported by a highly-disciplined sales approach which will catch the
best opportunity to optimize value and returns, both for shareholders
and the end-users. During the sixmonth period under review, two units
at The HarbourSide were sold at an average unit price of approximately
HK$44,000 per square foot, recording a profit of HK$150 million.

The Long Beach

This high-end residential complex is located in southwestern Kowloon.
[ts unigue wave-like design echoes its superb location and spectacular
sea views. Consisting of 1,829 residential units in eight residential
towers, the development also includes a fourstory clubhouse with
luxury facilities and superior recreational services.
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The HarbourSide towers majestically in southwestern Kowloon

EWXT

BlRATELRLEEEEEHNEL
tE ZERBEERE BH#H—T
—HE-t—EAxEEML - HEESRXA
NEREFAB 2 BEME - LHE—
BATE#ERES - I LINEE B

o BRREERE-EEZ SERA
FEMELWER EEEREENRE
HBZ— -

ERE

VRS HERENTKTIER @ HWEE
BEtTNBRA+TFEF R - ETHEER
B BEHAR T —=F%K - HE#
RINEKTK - BERAERLFEEER
TR -ZTFFREHN ERIERE
AT | FERE AN RE
EEfEE -

The HarbourSide

Soaring above Kowloon Station in southwestern Kowloon, The
HarbourSide consists of three connected residential towers offering
1,122 residential units. Its outstanding location in the green and open
West Kowloon area by the sea provides residents with outstanding
180-degree views of Victoria Harbour. The stunning views, its unique
design and contemporary lifestyle facilities, all come together to create
a landmark in Hong Kong while also making The HarbourSide one of
the most elegant and prestigious residential addresses in Hong Kong.

Blue Pool Road

The luxury development being built on the 7850 square-meter site on
Blue Pool Road in Happy Valley is proceeding as scheduled and is due
for completion in 2013. Though the property is as yet unfinished, it
became the world's first project to be registered under the Leadership
in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) for Homes' International
Pilot Scheme launched by the U.S. Green Building Council at the end
of 2010.
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Benefiting from our early entry into the mainland China property market
in the early 1990s, we have been able to grow our market as well as
our portfolio of properties. Blazing a vibrant trail through a number
of leading cities with our strategic “Hang Lung Model’ which focuses
on building world-class commercial developments for long-term
investment, we achieved a total rental turnover of HK$1,393 million,
up 23% in our Mainland property leasing sector in the sixmonth period
ended December 31, 2011. In addition to rental revenues from our two
successful properties in Shanghai, Plaza 66 and Grand Gateway 66,
this figure also included contributions from Palace 66, which opened
in Shenyang in June 2010, as well as Parc 66, which opened in Jinan in
August 2011.

The grand opening of Parc 66 provided dual causes for celebration.
Firstly, it took the Group a significant step forward in our activities on
the Mainland, giving us a national presence. Secondly, as Parc 66 was
fully leased when it opened its doors for business in August, it made a
contribution of HK$123 million to rental revenues during the reporting
period, despite being in operation for little over four months by the end
of the year.

Looking forward, we expect our rental figures to escalate again as
Phase 1 of Forum 66, the shopping complex, opens in Shenyang in
the fourth quarter of 2012. Working in concert with Palace 66, which
is also located in Shenyang, Forum 66 will create synergy and cement
our foothold in the city.

Our scope of activities will broaden even more in the future as projects
currently under development come on stream. Expanding our horizons,
we are also stepping into the core region of southwestern China for the
first time. In September 2011, our bid was accepted and we acquired a
prime 56,042 square-meter site, with a development potential of 401,300
square meters, at the very heart of the business and commercial center
in Kunming. One of the key cities in southwestern China, Kunming is
not only the political, cultural and economic capital of Yunnan Province,
but also acts as a technological and transportation hub in the region. We
expect the value of this key site to rise even further as links to the mass
transit railway are completed.
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Plaza 66, Shanghai

Hailed as one of China’s most successful commercial developments
and one of the most admired landmarks in Shanghai, the shopping
mall at Plaza 66 achieved a rental turnover increase of 14% over the six
month period under review, based on an occupancy rate of 99%. With
tenants ranging from Louis Vuitton and Hermes to Chanel, Dior and
Prada, to name just a few, Plaza 66's tenant list reads like a who's who
of the world's top brands. With the continuing refinement of our tenant
mix as well as the opening of a number of flagship stores of anchor
tenants in the coming year, the complex is not only earning a well-
deserved reputation as one of the most luxurious shopping centers in
Shanghai, but also driving increasing tenant interest from the high-end
luxury market. Rounding out the mall's role as a leisure and lifestyle
center, a diverse range of fine dining options is also available.
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Plaza 66 in Shanghai is renowned for its collection of the world's top brands
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The two office towers within the Plaza 66 complex continue to attract
leading local and international business tenants. The quality of the
development coupled with excellent office management services
that we offer have resulted in a high level of rental renewals, taking
us almost back to the high rental levels achieved before the outbreak
of the financial turmoils of 2008. We also benefited from the healthier
environment that has seen the absorption of the city’s plentiful supply
of Grade A office premises, leading to an increase of 8% in the rental
turnover of the two office towers. Maintaining our competitive edge
in this positive environment, we will continue to further upgrade our
facilities and tenant profile in the year to come.

Grand Gateway 66, Shanghai

The shopping mall at Grand Gateway 66 in Shanghai experienced
double-digit rental income growth of 15%, with an occupancy rate
of 99%. Grand Gateway 66's performance ranks above any of the
shopping centers in Xujiahui and is among the top performers in
Shanghai.

Renamed Grand Gateway 66 in March 2011, such a move unified the
shopping complex, previously known as The Grand Gateway, under our
powerful and successful “66"” brand. The brand, which has become a
household name for international luxury goods and high-end lifestyle
across the Mainland, not only drives awareness of the Hang Lung
name and image, it also reinforces our commitment, as a long-term
investor, to driving a quality lifestyle in the country.
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Highlighting the Grand Gateway 66 image and enhancing our “66”
brand, we carried out a number of initiatives and improvements
throughout the complex. With Level 1 within the mall positioned as a
“World-Class Brand Zone", the tenant mix was further upgraded with a
plethora of new luxury names. From internationally renowned fashion
brands such as Dunhill, Chloé, Escada and Vivienne Westwood, as
well as a Loewe concept store which opened in December, to luxury
cosmetics retailers such as Dior and Givenchy, Grand Gateway 66
continues to lead its way, not only with the sale of luxuries and the most
well-known international brands, but also with the provision of quality
dining and leisure facilities. The opening of top-quality restaurants such
as the Din Tai Fung Restaurant and the Jade Garden Restaurant for
instance, not only enhanced the shopping experience for customers,
but also brought in interested diners while growing our rental sales.
Contributing to this dynamic picture, the Yonghua Cinema World box
office, Shanghai's best-known cinema, was also upgraded with the
inclusion of a 4D-movie theater.

VERETERE 15 R HIEH B E T AUB R 8 408 K
Grand Gateway 66 brings unique lifestyle to

:.;& ._ii_( consumers in Shanghai
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Mainland China Rental Revenue
BEt+t-A=+—HLFE

For the years ended December 31

These measures helped us to maintain our competitive edge in a highly
competitive market, particularly as more and more luxury shopping
facilities emerge in Shanghai's bustling city center.

Grand Gateway 66's prime location above Shanghai'’s largest and busiest
metro station in the Xujiahui commercial district with the intersection of
metro lines 1 and 9 stand us in good stead, while the opening of metro
line 11, which is due for completion at the end of 2012, will increase
customer flows even further. Building on this positive platform, we
are planning ahead, riding on market trends to bring in more luxury
and up-to-the-minute brands, focusing on the top names and relocating
existing tenants to create an efficient brand mix and a top-of-the-line
luxury shopping experience, to differentiate us from, and outperform,
our competitors. Based on these competitive strategies, we expect to
continue our double-digit growth in the future.

TERBESBRAZERSE
Mainland China Rental Revenue by
Business Segment
BE_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

For the year ended December 31, 2011

BEEET
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L2020 million
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Palace 66, Shenyang

During the sixmonth period ended December 31, 2011, the rental
turnover at Palace 66 in Shenyang reached HK$85 million, up 15%
compared to the same period last year. Commencing operations in June
2010 at Zhongjie Lu in the busy Shenhe District, the commmercial and
cultural heart of Shenyang, Palace 66 has brought added vitality to the
area, with a host of lifestyle events and an inviting mix of international
and local brands, encompassing fashion and accessories, beauty and
cosmetics, as well as gourmet and quality cuisines. The special events,
ranging from Street Dance Competition to interactive games using the
city's largest LED screen at grand atrium of Palace 66, have proven
to be highly popular, attracting large crowds to the complex. Our
Christmas promotion initiative, which enabled customers to have their
SMS messages to their loved ones displayed on Palace 66's huge LED
screen drew significant pedestrian traffic. On Christmas Eve alone,
over 2,000 SMS messages were received for display, to the delight of
the recipients.
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Despite keen competition in the area, we believe that with our
constant efforts to refine services and tenant mix to position Palace
66 as a young and trendy destination which brings quality lifestyle,
hand-in-hand with our world-class design and state-of-the-art facilities,
Hang Lung's powerful “66" brand, as well as our popular promotional
initiatives, we will continue to attract a strong inflow of customers with
high purchasing power to the complex. Reflecting the vision and care
that have gone into the development of Palace 66, in November 2011 it
won the Silver Award in the 2011 Asia Pacific Shopping Center Awards
in the category of “Innovative Design and Development of a New
Retail Project” Presented by the International Council of Shopping

Centers (ICSC) to recognize standards of excellence in the Asian retail
real estate industry, these coveted awards honor industry practitioners
for outstanding design, development and marketing of retail properties
in terms of vision, innovation and creativity.
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Grand opening of Parc 66 in Jinan

Parc 66, Jinan

Bringing a new dimension to life in Jinan, Parc 66 celebrated its grand
opening on August 26, 2011, emerging as Jinan's latest landmark as well
as the largest shopping center in the city. Located on Quancheng Lu,
the city’s " Golden Avenue” and its political, cultural and commercial hub
since the Ming Dynasty, the shopping mall has attracted considerable
attention both locally and throughout the country. In September 2011,
almost immediately after its opening, Parc 66 won the “Mall China
Golden Mall Awards 2011 - - City Advancement Award’ in addition to
the "MIPIM Architectural Review Future Project Awards 2009 - - Retail
and Leisure” Commended Certificate and "Asia Pacific Commercial
Property Awards 2009 - - The Architecture Award (Five-star)” received

earlier.

Providing a gross floor area of 171,000 square meters over seven
stories, Parc 66 secured an 100% occupancy rate upon operational with
close to 350 tenants, more than half of whom being international brand
names. Many of these brands, from Bang & Olufsen to Coach, Escada,
Furla, IWC, Muiji, UNIQLO and Versace Jeans, are in fact being seen
for the first time in Jinan. In view of this encouraging picture, rental
turnover in the four months since the mall’'s opening reached HK$123
million. Looking forward, we expect the new lifestyle experience
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offered by our comprehensive facilities, from premium dining and
superlative shopping to the latest leisure and entertainment facilities,
to attract a strong inflow of customer traffic both from the city and the
surrounding neighborhood.

Forum 66, Shenyang

Fueling the momentum of our leasing activities in mainland China
even further, Phase 1 of Forum 66 in Shenyang, consisting of a high-
end shopping complex featuring over 150 shops and more than 2,000
car park spaces, is scheduled for completion in the fourth quarter of
2012. Benefiting from our prestigious “66" brand and our close tenant
partnerships, a number of luxury brands have chosen Forum 66 as the
home for their first stores in Shenyang while others will be locating
their flagship stores, both for the city and for northeastern China, in the
development. Together with its premium entertainment, supermarket
and quality restaurant facilities, Forum 66 will blend shopping, luxury
entertainment and enjoyment to create a new lifestyle experience for
the city’'s most well-off consumers.
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Segmental Analysis of Mainland China Investment Properties
HE+=-A=+—HB1/EA For sixmonth period ended December 31

wgEmmaEt(TEak)  HelA (B¥aET) HEE (Aot)
Total Gross Floor Area* Rental Revenue Occupancy Rate
('000 sg. m.) (HK$ million) (%)

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
HEEEE Commercial and Retail 454 283 1,017 782 98 97
LN Office 160 160 357 332 929 98
2EH Car Park 263 176 19 17 N/A N/A
weEt Total 877 619 1,393 1,131 98 98

¥ EIEHE MK 2 B EER

Including gross floor area above and below ground

FRENMRENERERTFRENER 2RI DN

Geographical Analysis of Mainland China Investment Properties and Investment Properties Under Development
RZZ——%F+=HA=+—H At December 31, 2011

meEEmE" (FFAK)

Total Gross Floor Area™ (‘000 sg. m.)

REYE Investment Properties

L& Shanghai

RER Xuhui District 165
Ll Jing'an District 273
ZE Shenyang

& [ (P AR ) Shenhe District (Zhongjie Lu) 181
BB Jinan 258
ERPIREYE Investment Properties Under Development

R Shenyang 855
B (FFEAE) Shenhe District (Qingnian Da Jie)

fELR Wuxi

Sm(ARPEK) Chong'an District (Renmin Zhong Lu) 264
S (RERER) Chong'an District (Jiankang Lu) 113
KE Tianjin 153
KE Dalian 222
EB Kunming 401
wa=t Total 2,885

¥ EREME RME B EEE

Including gross floor area above and below ground
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Forum 66, Shenyang

Forum 66, our second project in Shenyang, is coming on stream in the
fourth quarter of 2012. Being the largest of our current projects under
construction, this prime landmark complex, consisting of 855,100
square meters of space and rising 350 meters high, will include
premium shopping facilities, offices, hotels and serviced apartments.

Forum 66 is ideally located on Qingnian Da Jie, the “Golden Corridor”
which runs through the city center. It is also sited among Shenyang's
most well-known landmarks, the Liaoning Grand Theater, the Liaoning
Provincial Museum, the Municipal Government Building, as well as
City Plaza. Boosting traffic flows even further, not only is a new metro
line currently being built along the “Golden Corridor”, it will also provide
direct internal access from the station to our development. Forum 66
will complement the facilities and service provided by Palace 66 while
the synergy and awareness generated will also strengthen the prestige
of our well-known “66" brand.
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Center 66 - - Phase 1, Wuxi

Located on Renmin Zhong Lu in Chong'an District, Center 66 enjoys a
prime location in the very heart of Wuxi's central business district. In
addition to the heavy pedestrian flows in the area, Center 66 will also
benefit from the busy traffic that the metro lines 1 and 2, currently
under construction, will bring. Due for completion from 2013 onwards,
Phase 1 of Center 66 will consist of 263,800 square meters of premium
shopping space and Grade A office towers. Attesting to the quality
of the development as well as the many environmental initiatives that
have been included in its design, the shopping mall and Phase 1 office
facilities obtained their "Precertification under Leadership in Energy
and Environmental Design (LEED) for Core and Shell Development - -
Gold Level” from the U.S. Green Building Council in July 2009.

Center 66 - - Phase 2, Wuxi

Phase 2 of Center 66 will consist of commercial and office facilities as
well as hotel and serviced apartments. \WWhen completed, it will bring
the total gross floor area of Center 66, Phases 1 and 2 to an impressive
376,800 square meters, making it the largest retail and commercial
landmark in the central business district of WWuxi. The Phase 2 site is
situated at the intersection of Jiankang Lu and Hou Xixi, adjacent to
and immediately to the south of Renmin Zhong Lu where Phase 1 is
located.
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Riverside 66, Tianjin

Located in the heart of Tianjin on a prime site in Heping Lu, one of
the “Ten Most Famous Commercial Streets in China’’ Riverside 66 will
not only provide 152,800 square meters of world-class commercial and
retail facilities, it will also create an iconic landmark for the city as one
of the longest shopping malls in China. Specially designed to integrate
both Riverside 66's internal elements and its external surroundings,
the development boasts a unigue glass shell design, which enables
an external view into the shops and activities within the mall. This
innovative design has won Riverside 66 a host of awards including
the prestigious “2010 AIA New York Chapter’s Design Awards, Unbuilt
Category” from the American Institute of Architects (AIA) New York
Chapter. We are probably the first Hong Kong developer operating
on the Mainland to receive this well-known award. It also won the
“MIPIM Architectural Review Future Project Awards 2007 - - Retail
and Leisure” In 2009, Riverside 66 received its “Precertification under
Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) for Core and
Shell Development - - Gold Level”, which is issued by the U.S. Green
Building Council. The project is due for completion in 2014.
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Olympia 66, Dalian

Upon its completion, expected in 2015, Olympia 66 will offer a new
leisure and lifestyle center in Dalian with 221,900 square meters of
prime shopping, dining and entertainment space. Centrally located at
Wausi Lu, one of the city's leading commercial avenues and adjacent
to Olympic Square, Olympia 66's grand indoor plaza will connect the
complex’s vibrant atrium spaces under a crystalline skylight. Attesting
to the innovation and sophistication of this design, Olympia 66 won the
highly coveted titles, the “Best Retail Architecture in Asia Pacific” and
the “Five-star Best Retail Architecture in China”, in the distinguished
International Property Awards 2011. Even more significantly, our project
outperformed top projects from across the world to bring home the
ultimate “Best International Retail Architecture 2011" award. In view of
its environmental and sustainability features, Olympia 66 also received
its "Precertification under Leadership in Energy and Environmental
Design (LEED) for Core and Shell Development - - Gold level” from the
U.S. Green Building Council in August 2011.

Spring City 66, Kunming

In September 2011, we acquired a prime site on Dongfeng Lu
of Panlong District in Kunming. The plot will be developed into a
world-class shopping center, office towers and serviced apartments
with total gross floor area of 401,300 square meters for long-term
investment. The project is due for completion in phases from 2017
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Major Properties Under Development
RZT——F+=A=+—H At December 31, 2011

BIEHEEE TERTERK
HARETE (FFAK) HH
(FHXK) Total Gross M LREER Expected
Site Area FERBE Floor Area Stage of Completion
I 2h Location (sg. m.) Main Usage (sg. m.) Completion Date
&HE HONG KONG
BEyEE Blue Pool Road, 7850 R 8,005 BELE 2013
AHBER 5747 5% IL 5747 Superstructure
] SHENYANG
TIFERELE - Forum 66, 92,065 C/H/O/S 855,100 B = 2012
SEKE Qingnian Da Jie, Superstructure #E
B & Shenhe District onwards
LS WUXI
1B/ E% (—H3) - Center 66 (Phase 1), 37324 C/O 263,800 B EE 2013
AEHE - Renmin Zhong Lu, Superstructure s}
=@ Chong'an District onwards
{BREM!5 (Z5) + Center 66 (Phase 2), 16,767 C/HIO/S 113,000 E1% 3
R Jiankang Lu, Planning
By Chong'an District
XiE TIANJIN
18 ES - Riverside 66, 42,697 C 152,800 HETE 2014
MFE - Heping Lu, Foundation
FF & Heping District
KiE DALIAN
B8R E% - Olympia 66, 63,400 C 221,900 HE T2 2015
FPOEE - Wusi Lu, Foundation
i) Xigang District
EHH KUNMING
1B EE - Spring City 66, 56,042 C/O/S 401,300 =HE|h 2017
HEL Dongfeng Lu, Planning *E
BEER Panlong District onwards
C: % Commercial
H o OBEIE Hotel
0: WnE Office
R: {F= Residential
S : BRIEAEHT Serviced Apartment

N EMEELAEERERS -

All the above properties are wholly owned by the Group.
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BIEHEEE i 53
(FFFK) T8 E BAIEE
Total Gross No. of No. of
TER® Floor Area Residential Car Park
I 2h Location Main Usage (sg. m.) Unit for Sale Space for Sale
&E HONG KONG
BERXT - The HarbourSide, R 37080 282 265
A mEErm15E 1 Austin Road West,
BEAHIEL 1108057 KIL 11080
SR The Long Beach, R 100,224 1,234 —
YGFBIESSR 8 Hoi Fai Road,
JLBEAHBER 1115257 KIL 11152
ZFEX - AquaMarine, R 1,939 21 =
RER R85 - 8 Sham Shing Road,
T LRE R ER 633855 NKIL 6338
Bz Carmel-on-the-Hill, R 286 2 16
BN - 9 Carmel Village Street,
BEHBER 1112258 KIL 11122

R: {F= Residential
L EMESAREELEAHRER -

All the above properties are wholly owned by the Group.
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Major Investment Properties

R-ZF——F+=-A=+—H At December 31, 2011

EEAEE (FHXK)
Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)
AR
T Qg FEREFR BEuEA
G5 Office and Residential No. of
122 & i G 5 Commercial Industrial/ and Car Park
th 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartment Space
& HONG KONG
FRESE CENTRAL AND ADMIRALTY
ENfITT » Printing House, 2848 1,709 5,980 - -
HE=FE65 6 Duddell Street,
b ER 339 5% IL 339
HMEFE 15 1 Duddell Street, 2848 2,340 6,616 - -
AIHILER 7310 5% IL 7310
LERRTT Baskerville House, 2880 1,473 3,379 - =
EMAT2257 - 22 lce House Street,
A ER 644 55 IL 644
BEITIRITAE Standard Chartered 2854 4814" 23,730" = 16
EEE 4-4A5 - Bank Building,
Y HER 103 5% 4 - 4A Des Voeux Road Central,
AERKBE Sections A&B of ML 103
SER Queensway Plaza, 2012 7,303 - - -
& EIE 93 9% 93 Queensway
R CAUSEWAY BAY AND WAN CHAI
BRER L - Hang Lung Centre, 2864 8,777 22,131 = 126
BEFE2-205% 2-20 Paterson Street,
NHBER 524 557 K 74957 1L 524 & IL 749
BIES Fashion Walk, 2842, 2864 31,072 = 7935 =
B{EH4 - E3AT - Paterson Street, Houston Street, & 2868
SRIA4ET - MN%E4S - Great George Street,
R UER - 4544738 - Cleveland Street, Kingston
TEESHER 231 5% Street, Gloucester Road,
R 528 - ML 231 & ML 52,
MHBER 46957 & 4705% 1L 469 & IL 470
BRE Park Towers, 2060 * 1,101 = = 250
HEE 15 1 King's Road,
A ES 8560 57 IL 8560
Iz Shui On Centre, 2060 * - 16,313 - 42
15 228 1 - 15/F-28/F,
BIEE -8 6-8 Harbour Road,
A EL 8633 57 |L 8633
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Major Investment Properties (Continued)
WZZT——F+=A=+—HF AtDecember 31, 2011

BEERE (FHK)
Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)
AR
% YN FERBF B2E
GRS Office and Residential No. of
R EmFE  Commercial Industrial/ and  Car Park
b 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartment Space
E#E) HONG KONG (Continued)
B R#E KORNHILL AND QUARRY BAY
EIBES Kornhill Plaza, 2059 * 53,080 10,577 - 1,069
ERILIE 1-25% - 1-2 Kornhill Road,
A ER 8566 5% IL 8566
EEE Kornhill Apartments, 2059 * - - 35,275 -
BRILZE25% 2 Kornhill Road,
A ER 8566 5% IL 8566
LR Stanhope House, 2082 1,424 26,411 - 70
HEE 7345 734 King's Road,
A ER 3507 5% IL 3507
WER¥ILE THE PEAK AND MID-LEVELS
TR - The Peak Galleria, 2047 12,446 = = 493
ILTEE 11857 - 118 Peak Road,
T RBHER 3 5% RBL 3
ERZE - Nos. 2&3, Garden Terrace, 2078 & 2886 = = 558 25
2-35RE —pE Block 2, 8A Old Peak Road,
EILTRBE AT - IL 896 & IL 2850
A ER 896 55 &
2850 5%
iz The Summit, 2047 - - 15,225 54
AIEBEE41CHR 41C Stubbs Road,
AILER 8870 5% IL 8870
BEEE HONG KONG SOUTH
B=E Burnside Villa, 2072 = - 9,212 89
FEE QSR 9 South Bay Road,
B ER 994 557 RBL 994
EA MONGKOK
EARLE—H Argyle Centre, Phase |, 2060 64 = = -
TFFE 68857 688 Nathan Road,
TLBERIHLER 1262 5% KIL 1262
MR FO—H One Grand Tower, 2060 19,276 22,637 = 40
THZE 627-641A5% - 627-641A Nathan Road,
JLBEAIHBER 10246 9% KIL 10246
HEH LS - Two Grand Tower, 2060 1,629 8,614 - -

FE 625 5%

JUBEAIHEEL 10234 5%

625 Nathan Road,
KIL 10234
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Major Investment Properties (Continued)
WZZT——F+=F=+—H AtDecember 31, 2011

BEERE (FHK)
Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)
AR
T WAE FEREF BA2E
s NEiE Office and Residential No. of
WREmFE  Commercial Industrial/ and  Car Park
th 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartment Space
E#E) HONG KONG (Continued)
A (&) MONGKOK (Continued)
BEAE Hang Tung Building, 2045 * = = - 1,000
ER:E1112-11205% - 1112-1120 Canton Road,
JLBEAIHE EX 970855 KIL 9708
LS EL YN Park-In Commercial Centre/ 2044 * 7,454 30,205 = 478
REELs - Gala Place,
BT L5655 56 Dundas Street,
JLRE A HBER 95905k KIL 9590
AEEEEFL Hollywood Plaza, 2047 9,139 17,941 - -
THE6105% 610 Nathan Road,
JLRE I ER 1102455 KIL 11024
Bl Carmel-on-the-Hill, 2050 2,131 - - 11
MR AN - 9 Carmel Village Street,
FEERMER111228%  KIL 11122
KRB RANE TSIM SHATSUI AND WEST KOWLOON
R Grand Centre, 2038 3,688 7,198 = =
= F B8y 8 Humphreys Avenue,
NEEAMERTT2557 K% KIL 7725 &
80265% KIL 8026
1EfEREEEHE - Hanford Fashion, 2037 1,444 4,891 - =
B E221B-E5k - 221B-E Nathan Road,
NBEERHER106195% & KIL 10619 &
81325k KIL 8132
BEEX AquaMarine, 2050 22,350 = = 516
REX BR85S 8 Sham Shing Road,
NKIL 6338
The Long Beach, 2050 20,174 - - 390
YGIBIERSR 8 Hoi Fai Road,

NBEAHEER 1115255  KIL 11152
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Major Investment Properties (Continued)

M=ZZ——F+=F=+—H At December 31, 2011

BEEE (FHK)
Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)
AR
T WAE FEREF BA2E
s NEiE Office and Residential No. of
R EmEFE  Commercial Industrial/ and  Car Park
b 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartment Space
E#E) HONG KONG (Continued)
FEARBYE NGAU TAU KOK AND KWUN TONG
YRS Amoy Plaza, 2047 49,006 - - 620
HSHMABETTIR 77 Ngau Tau Kok Road,
¥TNBEAMERS35E « NKIL 53, NKIL 1482,
148255 + 266057 & NKIL 2660 &
394757 NKIL 3947
ARITEA D - Amoycan Industrial Centre, 2047 = 6,547 = -
HEEABTR - 7 Ngau Tau Kok Road,
HFABEAHER 174457  NKIL 1744
AR Laguna Plaza, 2047 15,162 - - 165
KRaEE Cha Kwo Ling Road,
FLBERHER60555%  NKIL 6055
ROEREF CHEUNG SHAWAN AND KWAI CHUNG
BERERL Park Building, 2047 397 13,109 = =
1L E4765R - 476 Castle Peak Road,
FNBEAE17615%  NKIL 1761
ZEtR - Laichikok Bay Garden, 2047 3,109 = - 172
#2ILE1A1 - 1A2 ~  Shops 1A1, 1A2,
5A - BAK6BSE R4 - BA, 6A & 6B,
BIEH D458 Lai King Hill Road,
1 EX 333657 Lot 3336 of SD 4
ATARRL Star Centre, 2047 - 28,512 - 27
F1Li8443-4515% 443-451 Castle Peak Road,
B AHA4555ERX  Section A of Lot 690
6905 AR in DD 445

* AEST RS

With an option to renew for a further term of 75 years

T SERFAEM_B-_T AT FIRBRAEZESEA - ERRE WERREER S ——FREEH -

The Group is now entitled to rental on 22,101 square meters of office area. The rights to rental entittement in the remaining area will revert to the Group in 2012.

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Major Group Properties

C IERENRA)

Major Investment Properties (Continued)
WZZT——F+=F=+—H AtDecember 31, 2011

wEmEE (FhX)
Gross Floor Area® (sg. m.)
AR
% YN FEREH BUEA
GRS Office and Residential No. of
R EmFE  Commercial Industrial/ and  Car Park
th 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartment Space
Lig SHANGHAI
BEERES Grand Gateway 66, 2043 120,000 - - 835
UTAEBE 155 1 Hong Qiao Lu,
GIER Xuhui District
BEES - Plaza 66, 2044 53,700 159,600 - 804
R PR 1266 55 - 1266 Nan Jing Xi Lu,
HeE Jing'an District
) SHENYANG
SEWEERES Palace 66, 2057 109,300 = — 871
FRATEE 12857 128 Zhongjie Lu,
& & Shenhe District
B JINAN
El Parc 66, 2059 171,000 - - 785
SRYREE 188 5% - 188 Quancheng Lu,
[N Lixia District

# BIEE RE I EEEE

Including gross floor area above and below ground
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Financial Review

EER
Turnover
BE+-_A=+—HLLEE

For the years ended December 31

RAAREMEZATFESHNEEER
Operating Profit Before Change in Fair Value
of Investment Properties

BHETZA=+—BIFE

For the years ended December 31

B BEET BEBET
HK$ million HK$ million
12,000 8,000
7,000
10,000
6,000
8,000
5,000
6,000 4,000
$2,451
3,000 million
4,000 $3_'969
million m
- 2,000
2,000
1,000 I I
L L0 T I
TH 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2007 2008 2009 2010 201
o EEMEHE o MEMHE o FEWMFEHEE CR/ES
Hong Kong leasing Property sales Hong Kong leasing Property sales
PR ALY EEE PERM YRR E
Mainland China leasing Mainland China leasing
—AZEXA +AZE+=A —RZEXA +tAZE+=A
L ‘ Jan tiJun 2H | gl tgtDec 1H ‘ Jan to Jun 2H | i tcStDec

BE-®-——%+-A=+-§
IERE AR SRR RE
EEBBEABIZ_+= 28K
=t+EARNTALEET - BEEGHER
A - B FrEAREFENT ST -
BEBDZ_THALEBEE+ERT
Bt

SEEEAREMTBERMYREERE
RZLER - EHEEHRIDTEH T -
THFEEVPEREXBNES WA RE
2aMopBEAESZ TERES 2T
CEBE T \BETREERLNE
B—_+t=fET—aExT-

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

Review of Financial Results for Six-month Period Ended
December 31, 2011

Total turnover increased by 22% to HK$3,069 million and underlying
net profit attributable to shareholders, being profit after taxation
without taking into account the net revaluation gain, increased by 29%
to HK$1,650 million.

Property leasing in Hong Kong and mainland China remains our core
business. Boosted by strong leasing activities, rental turnover and
operating profit for property leasing increased by 14% and 11% in
the second half of the year to HK$2,876 million and HK$2,301 million
respectively.
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Financial Review

REMEZAFEEM MEWARZH
Change in Fair Value of Investment Properties Interest Income and Expenses

BE+-_A=+—HLFE

For the years ended December 31

BET-_A=+—BULFE

For the years ended December 31

B BEET BEBET
HK$ million HK$ million
18,000 200 $178
million
16,000 180
14,000 160
140
12,000
120 $104
10,000 million
100
8,000
80
6,000
60
4,000 20
$964
2{000 million 20
9 il g
TH 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H TH 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H
2007 2008 2009 2010 201 2007 2008 2009 2010 201
o FSWA o0 FIEXH
—BZ~A +Bz=+—A Interest income Interest expenses
© Jan to Jun ® 2H Jul to Dec 1H —AZAA o4 +AZE+—8
Jan to Jun Jul to Dec

KEBREBREVMENHEES WA MK L
MARIREEDZERADZ/\  £8
BtOENT=ZA8&TER+ 8=
ThBEST-

hEA Y EEERETERIER e
WAREERNARN ER B Z T =
KBEpZtH EB®+T=FAT=8
BB RET-_BET . LEXN
BRESNEBEERES HEBEVES
BEEUBFIER - FENERESE
R-ZE——F)\AR%E AHxEAD
Z—H e
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Rental income and operating profit generated from Hong Kong
investment properties grew by 7% and 8% to HK$1,483 million and
HK$1,229 million respectively.

Mainland China properties continued to deliver impressive growth
as rental income and operating profit increased by 23% and 15% to
HK$1,393 million and HK$1,072 million respectively. The shopping
malls at Plaza 66 and Grand Gateway 66 in Shanghai recorded a double-
digit growth. In August 2011, Parc 66 in Jinan was opened with an
100% occupancy rate.
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We sold two flats at The HarbourSide at an average unit price of
HK$44,000 per square foot, generating a profit before tax of HK$150
million.

The increase in fair value of investment properties recorded for
the period amounted to HK$964 million which was lower than the
HK$2,297 million of the corresponding period last year.

As a smaller net revaluation gain was recognized, operating profit after
change in fair value of investment properties decreased by 19% to
HK$3,334 million.

The Group held significant cash balances which mainly included
Renminbi deposits matching with construction payments on the
Mainland. Benefiting from the higher interest rates of the Renminbi
than Hong Kong dollars, the net interest income of HK$74 million
recorded for the period, more than doubled that of the HK$36 million in
the corresponding period.

Taxation charges increased by 7% in this period to HK$536 million, in
line with the higher rental profit.

With a much lower net revaluation gain on investment properties, the
net profit attributable to shareholders fell by 26% to HK$2,516 million.
The earnings per share decreased from HK$0.80 to HK$0.56. The
Board has proposed a final dividend of HK$0.36 per share.
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Financial Review

FEHEA
Profit for the Year
BE+-_A=t+—HLEE

For the years ended December 31

BREEFE

Net Assets per Share
®+=—A=+—H

At December 31

B BEET B
HK$ million HK$
20,000 30
18,000 $26.2
16,000 25
14,000
12,000 20
10,000
8,000
15
6,000
4,000 $2.736
& million 10
2,000 I
0 I
TH 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 5
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
o EAHF| © JEEHEL
Underlying profit Non-controlling interests

® YEE[WHREHERIER R 8

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Effects of revaluation, net of deferred tax and non-controlling interests

+tAZE+=A

—REXA
1h ‘ 2H | Julto Dec

Jan to Jun

—E-—SMBRREE
AEBEBRISEREER  HAETHH
MBERMEEEINEAENRERE
LA B AR R T IR TS -

AAZE——FAARENERNER
BSAREEMEEGRMNEMRKE
® REVREMABD 2 NLEABNA
=tRE-TET-
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Review of 2011 Financial Position
The Group continued to maintain a strong balance sheet with sufficient
financial resources and liquidity to meet all obligations as they fall due.

Investment properties rose by 9% to HK$93,610 million due to inclusion
of Parc 66 upon its opening in August 2011 and moderate gains on
revaluation of the leasing portfolio.
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In September 2011, we successfully acquired a prime site in Kunming
at a price of RMB3,497 million. With a site area of 56,042 square
meters, the plot will be developed into a world-class shopping mall,
office towers and serviced apartments for long-term investment.
The properties will cover a total gross floor area of 401,300 square
meters. The land price of the Kunming project has been fully paid as at
December 31, 2011.

With the land acquisition in Kunming and construction progress of
other Mainland projects, properties under development increased from
HK$21,524 million to HK$23,613 million, after transferring out Parc 66
to completed investment properties.

As at December 31, 2011, the Group had capital commitments
amounting to HK$33,992 million not provided for in the financial
statements. Those commitments predominantly relate to the property
development projects in mainland China to be completed over the next
few years.

The Group continued to position itself with a prudent level of liquid funds
and banking facilities to meet future commitments. As at December
31, 2011, the Group had cash and bank deposits of HK$23,732
million to meet the stipulated equity injection requirements of various
projects on the Mainland and their construction payment schedules in
addition to other working capital requirements. After netting off total
borrowings, all unsecured, of HK$20,734 million, the Group had net
cash of HK$2,998 million as at December 31, 2011.
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RENX  BRIPREVERGENE
Investment Properties, Investment Properties
Under Development and Properties for Sale
W+=—A=+—H

At December 31

B EETT
HK$ million

140,000 $123,337
million
120,000
100,000
80,000
60,000

40,000

20,000

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

o REME o RHEMX
Investment properties Properties for sale

® BFRAREME
Investment properties
under development

B ER N EREE
Financing Resources and
Capital Commitment
W+=—A=+—H

At December 31

BEEET
HKS$ million
50,000 $44,662

million
40,000
30,000

20,000

10,000

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

o RITER o EAREE

Bank deposits Capital commitment
o HARRGEERHHRERTE

Undrawn credit facilities and

MTN issuing capacity

BEBEMEIEIR SR NI NTMBETE  With robust cash generation capability and ample financial resources,
BR AEBRETS  TJEHZRME  we are wellequipped to tackle unexpected market turbulence or
R EBZH LB ERFARFIEER  capture attractive investment opportunities that fit our growth strategy.

RESI AW S| NI ERS -
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Risk Management
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Land Bank Acquisition and Property Development

The Group's long-term expansion strategy is to build up a land bank
for property development. Before any development project or land
acquisition goes ahead, a thorough evaluation of the related risks and
returns, including consideration and assessment of relevant government
policies, the level of local government support, various economic
data as well as the adequacy of the infrastructure development in the
surrounding area, is carried out. If the conditions satisfy our overall
requirements, Board approval is then required before the purchase or
project can proceed.

Short-term market fluctuations and government policies have minimal
impact on our development strategies as our investment projects in
mainland China are planned for the long term with ongoing commercial
usage.

Each project is carefully managed and monitored. A steering committee
monitors the progress of each scheme, evaluating and approving any
important changes in the design and construction process. Management
are also closely involved. Projects are actively supervised with regular
progressive reviews so that they have a clear picture of the situation
and decisions can be made promptly. The designated team of skilled
and experienced professionals, who are responsible for the project, is
also charged with keeping the steering committee and the Board fully
informed of developments through regular and comprehensive status
reports.

Internal Control Environment

Clear guidelines and a well-established control environment set the tone
for good internal controls. Our simple yet effective control mechanisms
include such fundamentals as close and regular management reviews,
the segregation of duties, budgetary controls, clear, well-defined
and specific limits for the various levels of authority, whistle blowing
mechanisms, codes of conduct for both our staff and trading partners, as
well as the provision of appropriate training for staff development.
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Treasury Risk

The scale and scope of the Group's activities expose us to a variety of
treasury risks. Every effort has been made to minimize these risks,
which are managed in accordance with the Group's treasury policies and
approved by management.

(a) Interest Rate and Foreign Exchange

The Group is exposed to interest rate movements as most borrowings
are issued at floating rates. Interest rate risks are thus closely monitored
and, as and when appropriate, the Group may adopt relevant measures
to manage associated risks, including but not limited to the issuance of
fixed interest bonds. The maturity of monetary assets and liabilities is
also planned and managed with care to minimize any mismatch and/or
repricing risk. Exchange rate risks arising from the Group'’s investments
on the Mainland are prudently managed to provide maximum protection
under China’s existing currency regime. In Hong Kong, as Hong Kong
dollars are pegged to United States dollars, exchange rate risks relating
to United States dollar deposits are not considered significant.

(b) Cash Management, Funding and Liquidity

The Group's funding requirements are managed and controlled at the
corporate level, which optimizes borrowing terms and facilitates financial
risk management. All ready cash is also pooled and centrally managed.
This move achieves both economies of scale and ensures that sufficient
funds and banking facilities are always available and in place to meet
obligations well before they fall due. Bank facility maturity dates are
distributed evenly to minimize repayment or refinancing risks.

(c) Credit/Counter-party

The Group's exposure to credit risk arises from rents receivable,
installments receivable relating to property sales, and deposits placed
with banks. The credit risks with regard to rents receivable are managed
through credit assessments of the prospective tenants, the payment of
rental deposits as well as close monitoring of any outstanding rental.
Receivables related to property sales are protected with collateral on the
properties in question. Bank deposits of surplus funds have assigned
exposure limits to mitigate concentration risks and are only made with
reputable banks that have sound credit ratings.
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(d) Use of Derivatives
Derivative instruments may only be used for financial risk hedging
purposes. Speculative derivative transactions are not allowed.

Business and Operational Risk

We follow market trends and business environments closely to make
sure that our properties continue to maintain both the highest market
standards and their competitive edge. Maintenance and renovation
are carried out regularly to upgrade the facilities and uphold the safety
and quality of our properties while adequate insurance measures are
in place to protect our properties against accidental losses and/or other
hazards. Established internal control systems also safeguard our assets
and protect the Group from potential malpractices, if any.

An independent internal audit team carries out frequent reviews
and tests to ensure that all internal control systems and policies are
adequate, cost-effective and fully adhered to. As part of the Group’s
business continuity plan, proper back-up procedures have also been put
into place to safeguard against any potential loss, our computer data for
example. A separate back-up site for our computer systems has thus
been established.

We continue to upgrade our environmental conservation measures,
aiming not only to act responsibly as a global corporate citizen, but also
to meet and stay ahead of market expectations.

People Risk

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee works to ensure that
remuneration levels for Group directors and senior management are
competitive. Employee remuneration packages are also evaluated and
monitored against market trends to make sure we not only attract, but
also retain, a professional and able team. Maximizing potential and
encouraging staff to improve their knowledge and skills, we provide
financial support to further their training with relevant and recognized
professional programs. Maintaining a dialogue with staff, we provide
clear channels of communication together with an accessible grievance
reporting system for staff of all levels. Exit interviews are also conducted
to gather relevant information for future improvement.
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2011
“ <A RNENERESRENGEREHEAR _T——FEN [ EABRRKETERRER | R[FEERELAHKES
Jun EREEIHA | K& o
Olympia 66 in Dalian is awarded the “Best Retail Architecture in Asia Pacific” and the “Five-star Best Retail
Architecture in China” under the renowned International Property Awards 2011.
+A BREHER (HBIREE) MRS S —— FONERA R BEESRAER &R [REHREEBERAR 2 — -
Jul HLP is named one of the “Best Investor Relations Companies” in the 2011 All-Asia Executive Team survey
conducted by /nstitutional Investor magazine.
a NA B ERE SR ARE
Aug Grand opening of Parc 66 in Jinan.
a NA RNER B EHEEEACREERSRE [RURIIRTRTEBE — 2O RINRER ] & RNTARE -
Aug Olympia 66 in Dalian is awarded the “Precertification under Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design
(LEED) for Core and Shell Development - - Gold Level” issued by U.S. Green Building Council.
n LA BIEMESENTERA [BESERECEES M MBENE REBFERRAEERINORMNKRZ— -
Sept HLP is selected as one of the constituent companies of the Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Index and
the Hang Seng (Mainland and HK) Corporate Sustainability Index for the second straight year.
FLA BlEMEXRINRGEERT ERARELENTEN T TRz @S MIREREMEZRRRARL -
Sept HLP acquires a prime site of 56,042 square meters in Kunming for commercial property development.

a +—A EBEMENRKEZSRNNRERSEEZRETET  BIRRERERERE] -
Nov HLP is named a “Distinguished Family-Friendly Employer” in the Family-Friendly Employers Award Scheme
organized by the Family Council.
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The 2009/10 Annual Report of HLP is awarded the Bronze Prize in the General Category of the “2011 Best
Annual Reports Awards" held by the Hong Kong Management Association.

BEHENEREBESERRENROBEEPN S ——FETREBEYHROAED  ER[2HHETEY
¥IHE — ERRETHEERAR R o

Palace 66 in Shenyang clinches the Silver Award in the 2011 Asia Pacific Shopping Center Awards in the
category of “Innovative Design and Development of a New Retail Project”.

RENEEBESN _T——FEDNEREEANRED - 5 [PRISERKIAE AR | #75E -
Olympia 66 in Dalian garners the Bronze Award in the MIPIM Asia Awards 2011 in the category of the “Best
Chinese Futura Projects”.

BN EEESEERZCEEHSRE LR RIRRRGTEERE — 20 RINRAER | & 56535F -
Parc 66 in Jinan attains the “Certification under Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) for
Core and Shell Development - - Gold Level” issued by U.S. Green Building Council.

BEMENREERERMD) IRN T ——FEARTFERARED - RIG[BEQARKERSE — FI|AM
Wl .

HLP earns the “Best Reporting (Annual Report and Online) by a Hong Kong Company” award in the Greater
China Awards 2011 presented by /R Magazine.

RNENBREESERREHMEARD @ Bi5 [ - T —FERBRRETEREEH | KL -
Olympia 66 in Dalian clinches the “Best International Retail Architecture 2011" award in the International
Property Awards 2011.
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We are committed to
promoting sustainability in

our environment, our
community and our people.
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HANG LUNG

PROPERTIES

As a top-tier and expanding property developer in Hong Kong and
mainland China, Hang Lung is committed to showing exceptional
leadership in the areas of sustainability and corporate social
responsibility. In order to ensure that all our activities are sustainable
economically, socially and environmentally, our strategies for sustainable
development specifically address to our environment, our community
and our people. They aim to:

construct environmentally friendly and sustainable buildings that
add significant and tangible values to the communities we serve;
promote a green environment wherever we work and in our
operational practices;

maintain our role as “the employer of choice” by ensuring a
respectful, harmonious and safe work environment, providing
necessary training and career development opportunities for our
people; and

acknowledge the immense support we receive from the
communities we serve by making meaningful contributions to
them through participation in, and sponsorship of, a broad spectrum
of social and charitable initiatives.
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On the basis of our ongoing and long-standing commitment to
promoting sustainability by enhancing our environment, our community
and our people, the Group was listed on the Hang Seng Corporate
Sustainability Index and the Hang Seng (Mainland and Hong Kong)
Corporate Sustainability Index for the second consecutive year. We
also joined the new Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Benchmark
Index. The index series is the first of its kind in Hong Kong and will be
a vital reference tool for the investment community and the general
public as a benchmark for socially responsible investments and for
tracking the stock price performance of constituent companies.

Business Sustainability

The drive for sustainability is an essential part of all our business
operations. In order to deliver long-term value and sustainable growth
to our customers, employees, communities and all other stakeholders,
Hang Lung is committed to the highest standards of business
management, accountability and transparency throughout our
operations. We believe that good corporate governance starts at the
top with the Board of Directors. Our Board is proactive, with Directors
that are highly diligent in their guidance and monitoring. The Board
assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the Group. The
Chairman, Directors and management actively participate in and guide
the formulation and detailed application of our sustainability strategy
and practices. Further details of our proactive corporate governance
policies are set out in the Corporate Governance section of this report.

Risk Vigilance and Business Continuity
Our focus on risk vigilance and ensuring business continuity is another
vital element of our business sustainability strategy.

During the period under review, we enhanced our crisis management
plan with new measures to protect customers, tenants and staff while
making sure that business continuity is maintained and that the impact
of any damage or loss to our business is mitigated should a crisis or
emergency occur.

In order to heighten overall awareness and staff readiness in the event
of an unfolding crisis, we carried out special drills and emergency
exercises both in Hong Kong and on the Mainland.
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The Group also established a Crisis Management Team at our
headquarters in Hong Kong and set up sub-teams in Mainland cities.
In addition to carrying out a drill in Hong Kong, Crisis Management
Team members from Shanghai, Shenyang and Jinan linked together
to exchange views on the different approaches of crisis management
strategies in Hong Kong and on the Mainland.

Corporate Values and Code of Conduct

Our core values of Simplicity, Authority, Integrity and Loyalty (SAIL) are
strongly promoted throughout the Hang Lung family. We use a variety
of platforms to communicate and diffuse our culture while reinforcing
the values of honesty and solidarity as part of the Hang Lung family.

Simple work procedures: lean corporate PR Authority
structure and efficient work practices e REFEI  ITFEBERMELMENMEN
ABERE  BNEPEREEEEREHR HORE

BETHERBEE

Staff empowerment: work ownership

Simple and clear communication: enhanced together with necessary and effective
transparency and two-way communication decisions

between management and staff

90

£ H Loyalty
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Sense of belonging: teamwork and
shared goals to work in the best
interests of the Group
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Our enhanced Code of Conduct further supports these values,
establishing firm guidelines and rules regarding the professional and
ethical behavior of our people in Hong Kong and mainland China. In
April 2011, we launched a Secondment Policy to ensure that staff
seconded to different locations with the Group would be provided with
clear policies and procedures.

Reinforcement via Different Channels

In order to uphold and strengthen these core values within the Group,
we have developed a variety of relevant staff training and engagement
programs. As a means of underlining the value of integrity, for example,
we publicized practices and news related to integrity through our internal
newsletter Connections and e-learning platform “Learning Zone" on our
Intranet. We also conducted a series of seminars in Hong Kong together
with the Independent Commission Against Corruption to educate our
staff about the high standards of ethics expected of them and to upgrade
their knowledge of the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance. Similarly, year
round anti-corruption training sessions have been developed for our
Mainland offices using specially tailored training modules.

Our Environment

The Group strongly believes in our responsibility to help create a
better environment for future generations. Hang Lung has long been
an industry leader in the design and building of sustainable property
developments both in Hong Kong and on the Mainland. As a pioneer
in this field, the concept of sustainability is deeply ingrained in all our
business operations as we move forward into an era of robust growth.

That is why we promote green education among our staff, tenants and
customers and support green organizations on various fronts.

\
CCBF

Climate Change Bavion Forem

AEeE mREE

BUSINESS

Carbon HJCJ it 6 B
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Building for Sustainability

\We believe that sustainable building development has a clear business
rationale as well as broader implications for the preservation of global
resources and for the protection of the environment. Simply put,
sustainability as a component of building helps to support the value
of our properties while lessening energy and other operational costs.

Our environmental performance is benchmarked against the highest
international standards, in particular the gold rating certification under
the Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) for Core
and Shell Development issued by the U.S. Green Building Council.

For commerecial projects under development on the Mainland, we have
set high environmental saving targets:

37 P- RE
1B/ Ei5 B &5 1Bk B
Center 66 Riverside 66 Olympia 66
Wauxi Tianjin Dalian
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All our projects on the Mainland have been planned, designed,
constructed and operated with the LEED gold rating as the ultimate
target. Our developments on the Mainland often surpass international
building requirements, incorporating a number of innovative features,
for example, renewable energy products such as geothermal ground
source heat pumps and solar panels; high performance building
envelopes that save cooling and heating loads, and hence energy used;
and extensive recycling and reuse of waste materials.

The benefits of this proactive sustainability program continue to be
recognized in a number of LEED awards. In November 2011, Parc
66 in Jinan achieved “Certification under Leadership in Energy and
Environmental Design (LEED) for Core and Shell Development - - Gold
Level! the second Hang Lung property to obtain such a recognition
following the gold level award to Palace 66 in Shenyang in 2010. Palace
66 was the first shopping mall on the Mainland to achieve such gold
status. In August 2011, Olympia 66 in Dalian gained “Precertification
under Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) for
Core and Shell Development - - Gold Level” LEED pre-certification
applications for Plaza 66 and Grand Gateway 66 in Shanghai are in
progress.
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In Hong Kong, our new residential development on Blue Pool Road
became the first project in the world to be registered under the LEED
for Homes' International Pilot Scheme, which was launched by the
U.S. Green Building Council at the end of 2010. As a reflection of the
sustainability of our Hong Kong projects, we also continue to aspire to
BEAM plus (Building Environment Assessment Method) certification.
This scheme aims to enhance the life performance of structures
through upgraded performance, careful assessment of the building,
award of certification and recognizable labeling. Hang Lung has also
become a Patron Platinum Member of the Hong Kong Green Building
Council since September 2011.

Environmental Project Team

The preservation of the environment is a holistic undertaking that
goes beyond design initiatives and integrates sustainable concepts
in building development into a wide range of energy saving, recycling
and eco-education initiatives. We have established an Environmental
Project Team that includes representatives from different departments
in Hong Kong and on the Mainland with the aim of reaching out to all
levels of the Group with appropriate and practicable green initiatives
that can be integrated into our daily lives.

In addition, the responsibility for making these and similar efforts at the
operational level has been allocated to 17 Environmental Ambassadors
who have completed an environmental training course at the
Environmental Protection Department of the HKSAR government.
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Saving Energy and Water on the Mainland

Our development at Parc 66 in Jinan is a prime example of the
innovative sustainability features, which the Group now includes in
the planning, design and construction of our properties. Sustainability
building features at Parc 66 include:

Saving Energy

Renewable Energy -- Photovoltaic (PV) panels, total area
equivalent to 11 standard basketball courts, generate 363,000
kWh of electricity a year, enough to light a 4,150-square-meter
car park with 650 spaces.

Energy-efficient Lighting-- Lighting control systems are installed
with preset time-management devices, in addition to energy
efficient LED lighting as well as T5 fluorescent tubes.

High Performance Building Envelopes - - Double deck and
low emissivity glazing facades, efficient solar reflecting roofs
and 4,000 square meters of “greening” roofs create shielding
from extreme heat and cold, thus reducing demand for air
conditioning and heating.

Variable-frequency Chiller Systems -- Three watercooled
machines work towards saving a significant amount of
electricity (saving around 400,000 kWh of electricity per year).

Heat Recovery Systems -- Heat recovered from airside
systems is used to pre-cool or pre-heat fresh air entering
through the mall's airconditioning systems.

Automatic Fresh Air Systems -- Carbon dioxide monitors
adjust fresh air flow based on the actual volume of people
in the mall, maintaining a pleasant environment while also
saving energy.

Saving Water

Watersaving Features - - Include dual-flushing toilet cisterns,
low discharge faucets and showers, and automatic faucet
Sensors.

Grey Water Treatment Systems - - Collect and treat 36 cubic

meters of recycled water every day for irrigation and non-
drinking purposes, sufficient to flush 6,000 pedestal toilets.
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In Shanghai, committed sustainability management continued to be
a significant feature of our Hang Lung signature properties, Grand
Gateway 66 and Plaza 66. As a renowned leader in the field of energy-
saving, Grand Gateway 66 has been named a “Model Enterprise in
Saving Energy” for five consecutive years by the Xuhui District People’s
Government and has received incentive awards totaling RMB4 million
from the authorities to develop its environmental programs. Recently
the water pumps of the shopping mall were replaced, thereby reducing
electricity consumption by some 50%. In recognition of its efforts
in water saving, Grand Gateway 66 was awarded the title of “VWater
Balance Enterprise” by the Shanghai Water Authority.

Ever since it signed the Shanghai Energy Saving Improvement
Measures Management Agreement with the Shanghai Energy
Saving Services Center in 2008, Plaza 66 has carried out a series of
energy-reduction measures. In 2011, Plaza 66 has been recognized
as the “Model Project in Shanghai on Energy Saving” by the Shanghai
government and received a RMB2.1 million incentive award from the
municipal and district governments. During the period under review,
the airconditioning system of the office tower was revamped and the
lighting system in the car park and public areas was replaced by a high
energy-efficiency model. In addition, continuous training is provided to
staff on the new technologies involved in saving energy, so that they
can further implement related measures at Plaza 66.
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Hang Lung’s Continued Effort in Saving Energy and Water in Shanghai
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Green Measures in Hong Kong

A number of the Group's properties in Hong Kong received recognition
in 2011 for their energy saving and waste reduction measures. Nearly
all of our major investment sites in Hong Kong were awarded the
Wastewi$e Label “Class of Excellence” by the Hong Kong Awards
for Environmental Excellence (HKAEE) in September 2011. The
Peak Galleria, Stanhope House, The Summit and Burnside Villa were
awarded the Energywi$e Label “Class of Excellence” by HKAEE while
Park-in Commmercial Centre, Gala Place, Printing House and Baskerville
House obtained a “Class of Good" distinction. The Peak Galleria and 1
Duddell Street achieved an IQAwi$e Label “Class of Good" award, as
well as a “Quality Water Recognition Scheme for Buildings Certificate”
presented by the \Water Supplies Department.

Recycling Measures

Recycling of all kinds remains one of our top environmental priorities.
During the period under review, One Grand Tower continued to
participate in Yan Qi Tong's “Oil for Charity” program, in which Yan Oi
Tong collects waste oil from participating tenants at a scheduled time
each week and converts the oil into biodiesel.

\We adopted a new image and uniform for frontline colleagues in Hong
Kong last year. Old uniforms were donated to suitable non-profit-making
organizations. The first batch of clothing was donated to the Salvation
Army, which distributed the uniforms to people in need or sold them at
discounted prices at their Family Stores to raise funds for community
projects in Hong Kong and mainland China.

In October 2011, to protect the environment and reduce computer
dumping, the Hong Kong office donated about 200 computers to
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the Caritas-HK Computer Workshop. Donated computers were
refurbished, upgraded and sold to the deprived at cost, thereby not
only preventing pollution by prolonging the computers’ lifecycle but
also bridging digital barriers by producing computers that are affordable
for those less fortunate. A total of 750 sets of old televisions from
our serviced apartments were also recycled and The Summit donated
disused furniture to the Crossroads Foundation, which gave it to those
in need.

Green Education and Promotion

Eco-Discovery Tour at The Peak Galleria

An Eco-Discovery Tour sets out at The Peak Galleria every Sunday
with the aim of encouraging the younger generation to treasure the
planet’s valuable resources and to preserve the environment. Children
aged 6 to 12 are invited to join the tour to explore the environmentally
friendly facilities such as solar panel system, wind turbine and rainwater
collection system. Workshops are also organized to teach the children
how to make their own eco-cars powered by solar panels. Since
December 2011, the Tour has been open to the general public and
positive feedback has been received. Since its launch in 2009, the Tour
has attracted a total of around 1,200 participants.
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Promoting Electric Vehicles

In the same spirit of energy conservation, the Group promotes the
use of Electrical Vehicles (EVs) in Hong Kong and continues to set up
charging facilities for EVs at its car parks. In September 2011, new EV
chargers were installed at car parks in Kornhill Plaza and Amoy Plaza.

An offer entitled “The First Ever Environment-Friendly Car Parking
Privilege” was launched by a number of the Group’s properties to
encourage eco-driving. Under the scheme, car owners with vehicles
approved by the Environmental Protection Department, or with a valid
Environment-friendly Private Car Certificate issued by the Department,
can enjoy parking privileges for 12 months.

LOHAS Museum@2030

From December 1, 2011 to February 14, 2012, The Peak Galleria partnered
with the Kadoorie Farm and Botanic Garden to hold an exhibition
entitled “LOHAS Museum@2030" along with a series of low-carbon
DIY workshops with the objective of encouraging Hong Kong people to
lead a more environmentally friendly life. The exhibition and workshops
allow the general public to have a better understanding of the impact of
restricted oil supplies in Hong Kong and how a sustainable production
model can be created to partially replace our overdependence on oil
with other forms of energy generation.

Take a “Brake” Low Carbon Action

Hong Kong and Shanghai colleagues have taken action to reduce
carbon dioxide emissions by pledging to reduce their use of motor
vehicles. The Hong Kong office has joined the Take a “Brake” Low
Carbon Action - - Corporate Green Driving Award Scheme launched
by Friends of the Earth, which aims to reduce exhaust emissions by
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company and employee vehicles. The Group has attained the Gold Tier
in the “Fuel Efficiency Improvement” category. Meanwhile, the CSR
Group of Plaza 66 made a similar pledge on carbon reduction.

Our Community

As a good corporate citizen, Hang Lung’'s management and employees
are committed to a broad range of charitable and volunteer programs
that support the well-being of the disadvantaged and needy in society.

In reaffirmation of our dedication to nurturing our community, our
environment, our employees and their families, once again the Hong
Kong Council of Social Service named us a “Caring Company” in 2011.
This recognition is given to those in the business sector that have
shown high standards of corporate social responsibility.

Staff Volunteering

In return for the tremendous support we receive from our customers
and the community, we encourage our staff to engage in community
service. This dedication to corporate citizenship has led to the formation
of a staff-initiated Volunteer Team. Between July and December 2011,
the number of volunteering hours of our staff was 1,438.
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In order to meet the educational needs of underprivileged children, our
VolunteerTeam joined hands with The ChangingYoung Lives Foundation
to continue with its “360-degree Outdoor Learning Series” in 2011. This
enabled children to learn about environmental care and climate change
through a number of stimulating outdoor activities. Our volunteers also
brought hand-made cookies to share with the youngsters.

Summer Internships

Each year in summer, Hang Lung receives intern students from
universities in Hong Kong and abroad. These internships allow young
people to think beyond the confines of the known and familiar and to
gain valuable working experience, setting them on the right path for
future career development.

Supporting Social Enterprises

The Group is dedicated to assisting people in need through our support
to social enterprises. Since June 2011, we have hired the Hong Chi
Association for its lettershop services for our publication Connections.
The Hong Chi Association is a non-profit-making organization providing
special education services and work training for those with intellectual
disabilities.

Our People

Our people are the most precious asset of the Hang Lung family and
the key to our success. They drive forward our development through
their commitment, professionalism and caring services. As we extend
our business horizons, we continue to devote significant resources
and energy to developing the expertise and skills of our outstanding
team. At the same time, we are committed to promoting the sense
of belonging and team spirit of “Hang Lung as One” among our
colleagues. We offer a competitive package of benefits to attract the
best people. Inline with our “pay for performance” principles, we award
outperforming employees with bonuses in addition to their regular
package while directors and executives also receive share options as
incentives and rewards. At the end of December 2011, there were a
total of 2,756 employees, of whom 1,085 are in Hong Kong and 1,671
on the Mainland. Total remuneration for the sixmonth period ended
December 31, 2011 amounted to HK$404 million.
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Continuous Recognition

The Group aims to create a harmonious and productive work
environment that includes the families of our employees. In November
2011, we were named a “Distinguished Family-Friendly Employer” in
the Family-Friendly Employers Award Scheme organized by the Family
Council. This award recognizes our efforts towards fostering a pro-
family culture and environment, and in implementing family-friendly
employment policies and practices. The award scheme cherishes
employers that demonstrate a family-friendly spirit and encourages
them to implement family-friendly measures for their employees with
the aim of raising awareness of the importance of core family values in
the business sector.

On the Mainland, Palace 66 in Shenyang has been named the
“Shenyang Best Employer 2011 in the “China Best Employer Award
20117 an event organized by Peking University, the TV program “Zhi Lai
Zhi Wang” on China Education Television Channel 1, and the website
Zhilian Zhaopin, in recognition of its staff caring policy.

People Development

In order to sustain a high-performing and steadily expanding
organization, Human Resources teams work closely with each of
our business divisions to understand their work requirements and to
identify training needs with the ultimate aim of enhancing employees’
talent and building strategic organizational competency. An individual
training and development plan has been launched to assist with the
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building of a continuous learning culture throughout the organization
and to encourage staff ownership of their ongoing learning and sharing.
Every employee is encouraged to make good use of company training
sponsorships to help them attain their learning and development
objectives. A total of 42,874 hours of training were conducted from
July to December 2011.

Executive Exchange Program

The first Executive Exchange Program for managerial staff from our
Hong Kong and Mainland offices was held in September 2011. The
five-day program included a series of executive development activities
such as meeting the Managing Director and senior executives, an
Outward Bound program, and a project presentation. By participating
in these activities, Hong Kong and Mainland colleagues strengthened
their team spirit and gained practical knowledge of modern leadership
skills.

Management Trainee Program

To meet the needs of our rapid growth, Hang Lung aims at attracting
and nurturing outstanding young talents to be our future leaders.
During our 22-month Management Trainee Program, the trainees
gain a thorough understanding of our business and strengthen their
operational knowledge through job attachment to various departments
and functions in our Hong Kong and Mainland offices. In addition, they
are given opportunities to attend leadership training and to participate in
project assignment, monthly review and experience sharing sessions,
in order to provide them with all-round exposure.

Learning Culture

Hang Lung strives to promote a learning culture among staff members.
During the year, structured training programs were organized in Hong
Kong and Mainland offices with a varying focus for staff from different
positions and departments. The theme of each course ranged from
customer service and upgrading work skills to occupational health and
safety, stress management, interpersonal skills, crisis management,
team building, environmental protection, languages and computer
skills within a growing organization.

Since November 2011, Hang Lung has organized a “Learn@Lunch”
series of talks, inviting experts from various sectors to share their
knowledge and experience with Hang Lung staff. The aim is to broaden
staff horizons and stimulate creativity.
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We have revamped our e-learning platform “Learning Zone" on the
Intranet to enrich content and coverage. “Learning Zone” features
detailed highlights and convenient information at the Group level as
well as from each of our Mainland offices.

Work-Life Balance

\We believe that the maintenance and encouragement of a healthy work-
life balance is essential for the well-being and productivity of our staff,
and to support the Group's sustained business momentum. The Hang
Lung Social Club continues to play a crucial role in providing a supportive
working environment for our staff through social and recreational
activities. In July 2011, Club LAVIE was set up at Plaza 66, Shanghai, to
provide a similar series of recreational activities.

Relaxation and Togetherness

The social activities held by the Hang Lung Social Club included movie
appreciation, Funky Dance interest class, Art Jamming, and “Bowling
Fun and Jump Day’ A badminton tournament held for staff at Plaza
66 in Shanghai and Forum 66 in Shenyang also attracted colleagues
from Dalian and Tianjin. The Group highly encourages the participation
of employees’ family members in our social and recreational activities
with the aim of strengthening our employees’ sense of belonging and
providing a family-friendly working environment.

Among various staff competitions was a highly enjoyable and creative
photo competition, to which staff submitted photos of their working
life at Hang Lung. Around 100 entries from our Mainland and Hong
Kong offices were received. The best 12 photos were selected for the
production of a company desktop calendar for 2012.
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In addition, the “Hang Lung's Got Talent” company-wide singing
competition met with an overwhelmingly enthusiastic response.
The performances of the finalists from Hong Kong and winners from
Mainland offices at the Annual Dinner held in Hong Kong earned several
rounds of deserved applause.

Toreward colleagues for their hard work, Hong Kong and various Mainland
offices organized annual outings in October and November 2011 and
encouraged staff to bring along their family members. For the Hong
Kong and Shanghai offices, the destination was Jinan and Parc 66 was
one of the highlights of the trip. Other Mainland offices organized their
own annual outings for staff, which received a very positive response.

Staff Volunteering

We strongly encourage and motivate our staff to reach out to the
communities in which we operate. Our Volunteer Team has about 150
members. In July 2011, a volunteer recognition ceremony was held
to acknowledge the contribution of our volunteers to the community.
To further develop our employees’ knowledge and skills in organizing
voluntary services, the Group’s Social Club has fully sponsored our
active volunteer and committee members to join the “Training Course
for Corporate Volunteer Teams” organized by the Social Welfare
Department of the HKSAR government.

One day of paid volunteer leave is granted to executives and
administrative employees participating in voluntary activities during
normal working hours, such activities being organized by non-profit-
making organizations registered in Hong Kong. This arrangement allows
considerable flexibility for Hang Lung staff to adapt their schedule and
that of their family members to voluntary activities, thereby helping
families to educate themselves about charity work.
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Family Knows Your Workplace

On December 30, 2011, we launched another family-friendly initiative
entitled the “Family Knows Your Workplace” program, encouraging all
staff members from Hong Kong and Mainland offices to invite their
family members to visit their workplace so as to learn more about the
Group and their work. With emphasis on the team spirit of “Hang Lung
as One’ the initiative not only brings harmony to staff and their families,
but also promotes strong bonding between the Group, staff and their
family members, achieving a triple-win situation.

Further relaxation and enjoyment for staff and their families is provided
by the Group’s bungalow, Leyburn Villas, at Cheung Sha beach on
south Lantau Island. Since 2008, proud new Hang Lung fathers are
also given two days of paid paternity leave on the confinement of their
spouse to achieve a better work-life balance and fulfill their domestic
needs.

Staff Communication

The Group is committed to building close connections and fostering
good relationships among different levels of staff through two-way
communication channels such as town hall meetings, departmental
and team meetings, conferences and focus groups. The monthly
staff newsletter, Connections, keeps staff abreast of the latest
developments within the Group and shares experiences between our
Hong Kong and Mainland employees. As a Group devoted to good
corporate governance and strong relations with all our stakeholders,
we hold well-attended staff briefing sessions after all our results
announcements to explain the Group’s performance, prospects for
growth and future development.
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Our Stakeholders
We seek to build trust and productive partnerships with our stakeholders
through regular, comprehensive and interactive engagement programs.

During the reporting period, we continued to garner recognitions for
our financial reporting. In December 2011, Hang Lung Properties
was honored with the award of the “Best Reporting (Annual Report
and Online) by a Hong Kong Company” in the Greater China Awards
2011 presented by the prestigious /R Magazine. \We also clinched the

B BRPTMEELEEERERBE I HE
— T FEREFRELED  ES

TrdRARIHE -

& BB &

Stakeholder Engagement Programs

Bronze Prize in the General Category of the “2011 Best Annual Reports
Awards"” held by the Hong Kong Management Association.

HE BEEE HYHEER
Stakeholder General Communication Face-to-face Communication
wEE KRR o BRI AL PHIRFEEEALHK o NIMBMWME  REESHEREINEE

Investors and
Shareholders

Information releases, notices, interim and
annual results announcements
o NEEBEREERE
Investor Relations mailbox and news
o HEMETE
Up-to-date electronic information
o FIRRFEIRE
Annual and interim reports

Analyst briefings, investor meetings and
overseas roadshows

B REIEREESZTmE

Analyst and institutional conferences and
forums

RERBERE

Annual general meeting

245
Government

o MBFIEREE A ER
Information notices to relevant government
bodies

o (EARTBMERERRE
WER
Presenting property developers’
perspectives as a member of the Real
Estate Developers’ Association of
Hong Kong (REDA)

SNEE  PRIUEERRS

B 75 - B NP RBUTEE RS E NS
Regular communication and meetings with
local, provincial and national government
bodies

R
Business Partners

o ERIRIEE(REAREINEPA  HEREE
DEEBREHENEN
As a CCBF patron, working closely with the
business community to share information
on environmental issues

o EATEBMERRHENEE @ HERMhESE
ERENER
As a REDA member, helping to represent
the interests of property developers
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Connections serves as an important internal

Results Announcement
2011

2011 FEEFME

2011 Results Announcement

communication channel

BHE ERES HHEER
Stakeholder General Communication Face-to-face Communication
BERREP o [MHPBLEFZIENTA o UEEREVXZRBETPRBESR
Customers and Online “Tenants Log-on” platform Customer service counters at individual
Tenants o HRVEBRNMETEARZEER developments

Ensuring effective communication between o EIBAEBHMESFHMRE

property buyers and the property Regular meetings between management

management company and tenants

o AREPRITRLTED
Recreational events for residents

ttER AN IEB AR A o BIBEMRRET - MITAAZ - Mgt RAE | o ARERIEE
The Community )& Corporate Volunteer Program
and NGOs Close communication with the community

and community organizations about
the design, execution and evaluation of
projects

g(@ﬁ;ﬁ 15054

FLEREERFBMIRRE R - BHEFHTABERE

HEHLARBTERRITER SR

HrEm BiREETE Regular progress meetings with
Contractors, Proactive supplier and contractor program consultants and contractors
Consultants and on our operational and environmental o ER{FERRIZBREHE
Suppliers practices Close contact with vendors
o ZERBEMRE G BRIBBEXFR o HFEHEEMTERITEED
Preparing contracts clearly to avoid Attending relevant seminars and industry
possible confusion or dispute events
o HIEEMHERNAREETBHEER
Forging partnerships with competent
vendors and contractors
=3 o EBBEMEREES M T i LHlE 8 TR o (NEMRSFAERIFIRAFTA B TR EEER AR EE S
Employees Staff well-being programs formulated EREMEREAS
by the Social Club committee through a All employees are entitled to direct access
bottom-up approach to their supervisor or higher levels of
o (EEER)NEATI management under our internal Code of
Internal monthly newsletter Connections Conduct
o WEBTHIFIIRENER
Feedback on training from staff
HH o FEAHMER - BE AMIREMSER  EEHE | o AEAAMET UMM EEHMN
Media FERRFPER Briefings and media interviews, e.g. on

Proactive media program with provision of
press releases, notices, announcements
and other relevant information

results announcements, etc.
EHGEEE R LB RE

Regular meetings, briefings and interviews
with media
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Financial Calendar

1 B JaN

AMEBE_E——F+-_B=+—HIE AR PREz¥E
Results for the six-month period ended
December 31, 2011 announced

—E--“§—-HtnNH
January 19, 2012

4 B PR

B-HEROBRF
(BHEERRBFAERAELREMS)

Latest time to lodge transfers (for attending
and voting at Annual General Meeting)

EERERMBFEER
(RHEERRBAFAERNRELREMS)
Share Register closed (for attending and
voting at Annual General Meeting)

REBFERE

(AHESHAREEM LZRRBFASES)
Annual General Meeting

(Details are set out in the Notice of Annual
General Meeting accompanying this Report)

BUEERMBFE (RAREREMS)
Latest time to lodge transfers (for final dividend)

EERERMBFER (BMARBREMS)

—E-"FWA+=H
THME=+5
4:30 p.m. on April 13, 2012

—E-—_FWA+EBE+N\AH
(BEEMXEREEA)

April 16 to 18, 2012

(both days inclusive)

—E--—FHWA+TNH
EFTEIE
10:00 a.m. on April 18, 2012

“E-"HMAZ+=H
THFEE=15
4:30 p.m. on April 23, 2012

—E-—FNA=+mAE

Share Register closed (for final dividend) April 24, 2012

5 A may

IRBEEZEZARHRE —E-—_FHANH
Proposed final dividend payable May 8, 2012
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Exceeding Compliance Requirements

As good corporate citizens, we comply fully with, and in many cases
exceed, the Code Provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the "CG Code”) as stated in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Our Strong Belief in Governance

Hang Lung firmly believes that strong governance is the foundation
to delivering the corporate objective of maximizing return on a
sustainable basis to its stakeholders over the long term. The core
of the governance structure is an effective and qualified Board of
Directors (the “Board”) which is committed to maintaining the
highest standard of corporate governance, sound internal control and
effective risk management to enhance transparency, accountability,
integrity and honesty, in order to earn the confidence from our
shareholders and other stakeholders.

EEERRE

Corporate Governance Structure

BRREHMEDE

Shareholders and
Other Stakeholders

#EBE Transparency

AMED

SIS RR BLEM

External Auditor

DNEME
Company Secretary

Integrity

-

BEM
HBE

Accountability

Honesty

EER
Board of
Directors

o

BREES A D& 5t AT
Audit Committee Internal Auditor
RENFHZES

Nomination and

Remuneration
mE A .
HITZEE Committee

Executive Committee
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A Sound Corporate Culture

As good governance is essential to corporate success, we instill
the core principle of good corporate governance into our corporate
culture through leadership by example, training and effective internal
controls. A sound governance culture starts from the root. Hang
Lung maintains an unparalleled code of conduct (the “Code of
Conduct”) which every staff and supplier would be made aware of
and required to adhere to.

Professional and Responsible Management

The Board comprises professionals from different facets of society
who brought in a wide range of business and financial experience
and expertise to the Board. The Board includes a balanced
composition of Executive and Non-Executive Directors so that there
is a strong independent element on the Board which can effectively
exercise independent judgment. To improve on the function of the
Board, three committees, namely the Executive Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination and Remuneration Committee had been
set up to take up different responsibilities.

Prudent Risk Management

The Group recognizes the various risk factors it will face in the
operation, and properly deals with them in a manageable manner by
setting a good internal control environment.
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UTAERMOCES AERBM ETmHR  The following are the major aspects in which our corporate

B s+ a~rRIFrE 2 <Al governance practice exceeds the Code Provisions and

N REZEREDRN T ZHE - Recommended Best Practices of the CG Code under Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules.

i Exceeds

 BERMAEE-_Z——%+=-H Five Board Meetings (including four regular Board Meetings)
=+—RBi1EAHM (TZH  were held during the sixmonth period ended December 31, 2011
) |/ITTRAREHE - EFMX  (the "Period”).

EEHEE -

v Eﬁmﬁié;y**?ﬂgﬁ,z%\*#iﬂﬁé A strong independent element is maintained on the Board as

£ ESRBEARANBITE - half of the Board is represented by Independent Non-Executive
Directors.

O EEEBERTEEEEWESEE  Management is invited to join the Board Meetings, where
FEEREH  (FESFEMEE  appropriate, to provide appropriate information to enable the
EAMERMER MMELRE - Directors to make an informed decision and to discharge their
WEEBITEEARN AR EERNEB duties and responsibilities.

EREMFE-

 REERFMZESMAMAKEY The Nomination and Remuneration Committee comprises only
RBIIFNTES  LAERIE  Independent Non-Executive Directors to ensure no Executive
TRARTEFS2EBER]KEFFE  Director is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration
Y B AR o package.

 OERZER BEmMAKREHREBIL  The Audit Committee comprises only Independent Non-Executive
35%?1%7%%  DARFEIF MK Directors, thereby guaranteeing its independence and credibility.
UNEPI

O EREEGRZMMIREN{T  The Audit Committee met the external auditor two times during
EEFERT - EINEZEED  the Period without presence of the Executive Board members.
BITTMANEHE o

V BZTT)\F# - RERHEE  Since 2008, the Company announced its interim and annual
gi&—{)ﬂ ANABHREAF 24 results within one month from the end of the accounting period.

i e

v QE&%W%B%%%E 2% 28F9¥  Our internal audit department is independent of our operation
%E/\\\$’A Az ABEEREFB  and accounting functions.

7% o

v ?ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ- fiEZEAEZZE=2E The Internal Auditor reports directly to the Audit Committee.

v SMESAZ BRED I E B SR B A& External auditor attends annual general meetings (the "AGM”) to
(TAFKRKE]) BEREAIRR - answer questions from shareholders.

vV DElE—NAAMFR - ®H—E The Company has adopted a corporate Code of Conduct since
BRARMEREENMNEEMNEEHE 1994, which is applicable to all staff and Directors. The Code of
?;%%’E,JJ o ZERIF B H AR  Conduct contains our whistle blowing policy.

BUR °

vV ORARIFEN®RBUE2ER - ¥EA  The Company continuously enhances its corporate website as a
S EBBERE - MUEAJT  means of communication with stakeholders. Principal corporate
HAEFTEMREERLEE - 27 governance structures, newsletters and webcast of analyst
T EE EEE ITERSRE briefing are available on its corporate website.

LA BIEE -

v Q7 MR 7T — A # &R The Company has published a separate Sustainability Report
& Wﬁﬁé\:;—%/——fﬁﬁ contained in Annual Report 2010/11 and is available on its
E&JW - WHEFI R AR AL - LAt corporate website.

\‘\ | %’E o
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() The Board
1. Composition and Functions
The Board currently comprises twelve persons:

° five Executive Directors, namely, Mr Ronnie C. Chan, Mr Philip
N.L. Chen, Mr William PY. Ko, Mr Henry TY. Yiu and Mr H.C. Ho;

° one Non-Executive Director, Mr Nelson W.L. Yuen; and

e six Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr S.S. Yin,
Mr Ronald J. Arculli, Dr H.K. Cheng, Ms Laura L.Y. Chen, Prof
PW. Liu and Mr Dominic C.F Ho. They possess appropriate
academic and professional qualifications or related financial
management expertise and have brought a wide range of
business and financial experience to the Board.

An updated list of Board members together with their biographical
details are maintained on our website.

The Board is responsible for:
e ensuring continuity of leadership;
° development of sound business strategies;

e  availability of adequate capital and managerial resources to
implement the business strategies adopted; and

° adequacy of systems of financial and internal controls and
conduct of business in conformity with applicable laws and
regulations.

To ensure proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company, and full awareness of his/her responsibilities
under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, other
regulatory requirements, and especially the governance policies
of the Company, every newly appointed Director will meet with
other fellow Directors and key executives, and will receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment. All Directors are required to disclose to the
Company their offices held in public companies or organizations and
other significant commitments.
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During the Period, five Board Meetings, including four regular Board
Meetings were held. Two Board Meetings were held outside Hong
Kong during two offsite Board trips. The Board visited Las Vegas for
studying world-class malls, and Jinan for the opening ceremony of
Parc 66.

Details of Directors’ attendance records during the Period are set out
below:

i/ BTeE
Meetings Attended/Held
RER
yWzee
ZEHRZEE  Nomination & —2—-F

EER Audit  Remuneration BEAE
EE Directors Board Committee Committee 2011 AGM
BYFHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors
BinE S.S.Yin 5/5 TERANA TEAN/A 1
B8R Ronald J. Arculli 2/5 NEFRN/A on 0/1
£z HK. Cheng 5/5 2/2 1 1
Rl Laura L.Y. Chen 3/5 2/2 1N 0/1
BiaE PW. Liu 5/5 2/2 1 1
f i Dominic C.F Ho 4f5 212 N i
FHTES Non-Executive Director
REER Nelson W.L. Yuen 5/5 TEANA THEANA 0/1
BTES Executive Directors
PRRR Ronnie C. Chan 5/5 TEAN/A TEAN/A 1
BRm4% Philip N.L. Chen 5/5 TERANA TEANA n
=ipdE William PY. Ko 5/5 TEFANA TEANA 7n
HTE Henry TY. Yiu 5/5 AEAN/A NEANA 11
BEAS H.C. Ho 5/5 DEAN/A NERAN/A n

MBEEAAMESRAAFAWERDY
EEZRERZHEANIIABNEE -
E=ERIABZEENEMERUT £
PREFEIEITEE B MK =RATD B
THEESHZEEKE - EEERE
SREAEZBERHT RAEHME
B UREZRLEZBEEREHIRE
RIRER D EREAM MG REMER -
EHEEBAT EREQRBALEES

S e

All Directors can give notice to the Chairman or the Company
Secretary if they intend to include matters in the agenda for
Board Meetings. Full Board or Committee papers will be sent to
all Directors or Committee members at least three days before
the intended date of a Board Meeting or Committee Meeting
respectively. Management also supplies the Board and its
Committees with adequate information and explanations so as
to enable them to make an informed assessment of the financial
and other information put before the Board and its Committees for
approval. Management is also invited to join Board Meetings where
appropriate.
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All the Directors are entitled to have access to timely information
in relation to our business and make further enquiries where
necessary, and they can have separate and independent access to
management. In addition, all Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary who is responsible to the Board
for ensuring that procedures are followed and that all applicable laws
and regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary is also
a source of advice to the Chairman and to the Board on corporate
governance and the implementation of the CG Code. Procedures
have also been agreed by the Board to enable Directors to seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Under the Company’s articles of association, a Director shall not
vote or be counted in the quorum in respect of any contract or
arrangement in which he/she or any of his/her associates is/are
materially interested.

We have also arranged appropriate insurance cover on Directors'
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against them arising
from corporate activities.

2. Chairman and Managing Director
There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman
and Managing Director to ensure a balance of power and authority.

Chairman

The Chairman, Mr Ronnie C. Chan, provides leadership for the
Board. He is responsible for ensuring that all Directors receive
adequate information, which must be complete and reliable, in a
timely manner and that Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board Meetings. He also ensures that:

° the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities;

° all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a
timely manner;

° good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established; and

° appropriate steps are taken to provide effective communication

with shareholders and that views of shareholders are
communicated to the Board as a whole.
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He, at least annually, holds meetings with the Independent Non-
Executive Directors without the Executive Directors being present.
He is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda
for each Board Meeting, taking into account, where appropriate, any
matters proposed by the other Directors for inclusion in the agenda,
or delegates such responsibility to the Company Secretary.

He encourages all Directors to make a full and active contribution to
the Board's affairs and takes the lead to ensure that the Board acts
in the best interests of the Company. He facilitates the effective
contributions of Non-Executive Directors and ensures constructive
relations between Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors.

Managing Director
The Managing Director, Mr Philip N.L. Chen, is a member of the
Executive Committee of the Company and is responsible for:

e  operating the business of the Company and implementing
policies and strategies adopted by the Board;

e the Company'’s day-to-day management in accordance with the
instructions issued by the Board;

° developing strategic operating plans that reflect the objectives
and priorities established by the Board and maintaining
operational performance; and

o ensuring the adequacy of financial and internal control systems
and the conduct of business in conformity with applicable laws
and regulations.

The Managing Director chairs the monthly meetings of the
Company’s various operational divisions. He formulates, for the
Board's approval, the management organization and internal rules of
the Company and recommends the appointment and dismissal of
key executives.

3. Independence of Non-Executive Directors

We have received from each of our Independent Non-Executive
Directors a confirmation of his/her independence for the Period
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and therefore we consider
the Independent Non-Executive Directors are still independent.
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To further enhance accountability, any appointment of an
Independent Non-Executive Director who has served the Board
for more than nine years will be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by shareholders. We will state in the notice of the
AGM the reason why we consider the Independent Non-Executive
Director continues to be independent and our recommendation to
shareholders to vote in favor of the re-election of such Independent
Non-Executive Director.

4.  Appointment, Re-election and Removal

In accordance with our articles of association, one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office by rotation for re-election
by shareholders at an AGM. In addition, every Director is subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years, and new
appointments to the Board are subject to re-election by shareholders
at the upcoming general meeting. Names of such Directors eligible
for re-election being accompanied by detailed biographies will be
stated in the notice of the general meeting.

Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive Directors
are appointed for specific terms, which coincide with their expected
dates of retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

() Delegation by the Board

The Executive Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination and
Remuneration Committee were formed in 1989, 1999 and 2003
respectively.

1. Executive Committee

The Executive Committee of the Board of the Company was formed
in 1989. Its members are all the Executive Directors of the Company,
who meet regularly to establish the strategic direction of the
Company, and to monitor the performance of management. Clear
terms of reference have been adopted by the Board, and guidelines
were also set up for certain issues requiring Board approval. Each
of the Committee members has full understanding on determining
which issues require a decision of the full Board and which are
delegated by the Board to the Committee or management.

EE%LERBRIE —T——FFH



2. EBRZEE

ERZEEIR—NANNFREZRR

M BRIRKERRBREABYIERITE

= ORRBEABRL (REEXR)
21a

Kt BRHEBELAHES
° {Bi—ri’iﬂﬁz_é.?szh&ﬁ%ﬁﬂ
‘Mﬁﬁﬁzﬁﬂkaﬁﬁﬁ BEZZES
FHRORIMREH - s mA R
IT”EZIE,’%T%D%BE?L/L&E%Z%IZW%B
B - BRZEENATERGEINE
%Z%(EW;#TE%’WEEITEIJW)
RZHEAN - BERRZEERITTMAE

B3
g

ERZASBENE ERNEAT
MBETHHE) BIE LT RAFRE
EmE -

N

ZEQREZREE  THEERESR
B2 EREIR  RE A EE R
BEER MAAREYANEZES

ERELBHEE  MIMNUERALH
HBIEXALSRKER  RRNAS

DRBEABHEBERNES ZHNRA
T2eE ZESERREEEZAHERMN
BITHEBE -

ZHEAN - BEREEgRE
B AT 2B E

17 (E$E

o  EHIMEEEMINSZEENET
FRZHREGE e BRI
EETHMENEZRA - XAFHE
AR ZFE B EMRRANERH
EREEHIER - A MR8 E

H AREZEZTRRMEEX

s EEMAEZREZBEZRIZES
e SN E T R R Z INEAZ
%ZEFE,

o EENMEHMEMINERBEI SRR
AR IR BRSS < R P MFE 3|

2. Audit Committee

An Audit Committee was established by the Board in 1999, which
now comprises four Independent Non-Executive Directors with
appropriate academic and professional qualifications or related
financial management expertise, namely, Dr H.K. Cheng (Chairman
of the Committee), Ms Laura L.Y. Chen, Prof PW. Liu and Mr
Dominic C.F Ho. Meetings are held at least two times a year for the
purpose of discussing the nature and scope of internal audit work
and assessing the Group’s internal controls. Separate meetings
will also be held with the external auditor (in the absence of
management) as and when required. The Audit Committee held two
meetings in the Period.

[ts terms of reference, which are accessible to all via our website,
have included the duties stipulated in the Listing Rules.

The Committee is authorized by the Board to investigate any activity
within its terms of reference; to seek any information it requires
from any employee and all employees are directed to co-operate
with any requests made by the Committee; to obtain outside legal or
other independent professional advice; and to secure the attendance
of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise to their meetings
if necessary. Sufficient resources are provided to the Committee to
discharge its duty.

During the Period, the Audit Committee has performed, inter alia,
the following:

o reviewed and obtained explanation from management and the
external auditor on the results for the Period, including causes
of changes from the previous period, effects on the application
of new accounting policies, compliance with the Listing
Rules and relevant legislation, and any audit issues, before
recommending their adoption by the Board,

° considered and proposed to the Board the re-appointment of
KPMG as the Company's external auditor;

o considered and approved the procedures and guidelines
in employing the external auditor to perform non-audit
assignments for the Company;
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3.

received and reviewed the internal audit reports from the
Internal Auditor;

held meetings with the external auditor in the absence of
management to discuss any audit issues;

held meetings with the Internal Auditor in private to discuss
internal audit issues;

approved the internal audit program for the Period; and

carried out a review of the internal control system of the
Company during the Period including the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and
their training programs and budget.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

A Nomination and Remuneration Committee, set up in 2003, now
constitutes five Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely
Prof PW. Liu (Chairman of the Committee), Mr Ronald J. Arculli,
Dr H.K. Cheng, Ms Laura L.Y. Chen and Mr Dominic C.F. Ho.
Regular meetings were held to review human resources issues,
including significant changes in the salary structure of the Group and
terms and conditions affecting Directors and senior management.
The Committee met once in the Period to review, inter alia, the
composition of Board members and Directors’ remuneration.

Its terms of reference, which are accessible to all via our website,
have included, as a minimum, the specific duties as stipulated in the
Listing Rules.

The major work performed by the Committee during the Period
included the following:

reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

made recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior
management;

determined the specific remuneration packages of all Executive

Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments; and

EEBERERAR —T——F4R
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e made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive
Directors.

The remuneration package of Directors and senior management,
including discretionary bonus and share options, is based on the
following criteria:

e  individual performance;

e  skills and knowledge;

e involvement in the Group's affairs;

e achievement of business targets; and

e performance and profitability of the Group.

The Committee also considers factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
the Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Committee obtains benchmark reports from internal and external
sources for evaluation of market trends and the competitive levels
of remuneration being offered to Directors and senior management.
Sufficient resources are provided to the Committee to discharge its
duty. The Committee may consult the Chairman and the Managing
Director about their proposals relating to the remuneration of
other Executive Directors and have access to professional advice if
considered necessary.

4. Management Functions

Senior management includes Executive Directors of the Company
only. Their duties were explained in the paragraph headed “Executive
Committee” above. Key executives are responsible for the day-to-
day operations and administration function of the Group under the
leadership of the Executive Directors. The Board has given clear
directions to management as to the matters that must be approved
by the Board before decisions are made on behalf of the Company.
The types of decisions to be delegated by the Board to management
include implementation of the strategy and direction determined
by the Board, operation of the Group's businesses, preparation
of financial statements and operating budgets, and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations. These arrangements will be
reviewed periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate to our
needs.
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(ll) Directors’ Securities Transactions and Share
Interests

1. Compliance with Model Code

We have set out guidelines regarding securities transactions by
Directors under “transactions in the Company's shares” in our Code
of Conduct, which are on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). The Company has made specific
enquiries to all Directors and confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the Code
of Conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.

2. Share Interests of Directors
Details of Directors’ interests in shares of the Company and our
listed parent company, Hang Lung Group Limited ("HLG") as at
December 31, 2011 are as follows:

RAF] BEEE
The Company HLG
RIEHRE RIEHRE
AR 2 R E B PAE
RPEE  No. of Shares RPEE No. of Shares
EENRZ Name of Directors No. of Shares under Option No. of Shares  under Option
BREN R Ronnie C. Chan - 36,570,000 - 11,790,000
BB S.S.Yin = = = =
PREI % Philip N.L. Chen - 14,500,000 - -
=ER Nelson W.L. Yuen - 24,320,000 - -
B Ronald J. Arculli 724,346 - 1,089,975 -
%] H.K. Cheng - - _ _
PREENG Laura L.Y. Chen = = = -
BiaE PW. Liu 100,000 - - -
fa e Dominic C.F Ho - - - .
={R@E William PY. Ko — 25,730,000 30,000 994,000
e Henry TY. Yiu — 7,600,000 170,000 50,000
OE4= H.C. Ho - 5,600,000 - -
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(IV) Accountability and Audit

1. Financial Reporting

Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements on a going concern basis, with supporting assumptions
or qualifications as necessary. The Company’s financial statements
are prepared in accordance with the Listing Rules, Companies
Ordinance and also the accounting principles and practices generally
accepted in Hong Kong. Appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently; judgments and estimates made are
prudent and reasonable. A statement by the external auditor, KPMG,
about their reporting responsibilities is included in the Independent
Auditor's Report on the Company’s financial statements.

The Directors endeavor to ensure a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Company's position and
prospects in annual reports, interim reports, price-sensitive
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other statutory requirements.

2. Internal Control

We maintain a good internal control environment to enable the
internal control systems and procedures to perform effectively.
The Code of Conduct details the Group's philosophy in running its
business and acts as a benchmark for all staff to follow.

Internal control systems have been designed to allow us to monitor
the Group's overall financial position, safeguard its assets against
loss and misappropriation, to provide reasonable assurance against
fraud and errors, and to manage the risk in failing to achieve the
Group's objectives.

We have a well defined specific limit of authority governing activities
of the Executive Committee, Directors, executives and senior staff.
Annual and mid-year budgets on all capital and revenue items are
prepared and approved by senior management and key executives
before being adopted. We monitor the business activities closely
and review monthly financial results of operations against budgets.
We also review and update the internal controls to meet upcoming
challenges.

We take extreme precautionary measures in handling price-sensitive
information. Such information is restricted to a need-to-know basis.
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We maintain an internal audit department which is independent of
our daily operations and accounting functions. The Internal Auditor
reports directly to the Audit Committee. An internal audit program
based on risk assessment methodology was designed which
has been reviewed by the Audit Committee on an annual basis.
On a monthly basis, the Internal Auditor discusses his internal
audit reviews and findings with the management and obtains
management’'s responses on various issues. Internal audit reports
are prepared for the Audit Committee every quarter.

Formal meetings are held every six months between the Internal
Auditor and the Audit Committee to discuss internal audit issues.
During Audit Committee Meetings, the Audit Committee also
enquires on financial and internal control matters with the external
auditor. The Audit Committee has the authority to have direct
discussion with external auditor in the absence of management if
deemed necessary, and they meet at least once annually for this
purpose. One Executive Director is present at the Audit Committee
Meetings to answer enquiries from the Audit Committee and to
report to the Board on matters arising.

The Directors acknowledged that it is their responsibility to maintain
effective risk management and internal control systems and to
review them twice a year. The Directors manage risks by strategic
planning, appointing appropriately qualified and experienced
personnel at senior positions, monitoring the Group’s performance
regularly, maintaining effective control over capital expenditure and
investments, and setting a high level of Code of Conduct for all
Directors and employees to follow.

The Directors had conducted a review covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
Period, and were satisfied that an effective and adequate internal
control system had been in operation. Considerations are also given
to the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the
staff of the Company's accounting and financial reporting function,
and their training programs and budget. The Directors came to such
a conclusion based on the Company’s clearly set company policies
and procedures, specific limits of authority, budgetary controls,
regular monitoring of performance and the reports from both the
external auditor and the Internal Auditor.
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We identify the risk in land acquisition for future expansion, the
development into world-class outstanding properties that will let us
stay ahead of competitors, maintaining adequate financial resources
for the projects, constantly upgrading the functions and appearance
of our properties to capture the changes in market and trend, using
a centralized treasury function and limiting the exposure to currency
and credit risk, safeguarding our assets, maintaining adequate
insurance coverage, formulating an appropriate disaster plan
including a separate computer back-up site, providing appropriate
training and competitive remuneration packages to retain quality
staff.

The Directors confirm that there have been no major changes in
the nature and extent of significant risks faced by us from the
previous financial year, and the Company has the ability to respond
to any such changes in our business and the external environment.
Furthermore, there were no significant internal control problems
encountered during the Period. We closely monitor our system
of internal control, and received further assurance from the Audit
Committee that the internal audit function has been functioning
effectively. We have complied with the Code Provisions set out in
the CG Code in respect of maintaining an effective internal control
system.

3. Code of Conduct
We have adopted a corporate Code of Conduct since 1994 which is
updated from time to time.

The Code of Conduct clearly spells out the Company's stance, the
legal requirements, conflicts of interest, handling of confidential
information and company property, use of information and
communication systems, avenue for whistle blowing, fair trading
with suppliers and contractors, payment procedures, responsibilities
to shareholders and the financial community, relationship
with customers and consumers, employment practices, and
responsibilities to the community. In essence, it details the Group’s
philosophy in running its business and acts as a benchmark for all
staff and suppliers to follow.
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In order to monitor and enforce compliance to the Code of
Conduct, functional managers are responsible for ensuring their
subordinates fully understand and comply with the standards and
requirements as stipulated. Any violation thereof will result in the
employee being disciplined, including termination of employment.
Suspected corruption or other forms of criminality will be reported
to the Independent Commission Against Corruption or appropriate
authorities. The Executive Directors will also answer directly to any
Board member for impartial and efficient handling of complaints
received from all shareholders and potential shareholders; customers
and consumers; suppliers and contractors and our employees.

Also, all employees who are above a designated level are required
to complete and sign a declaration form annually declaring
their interests, directly or indirectly, with the Company and our
subsidiaries and associated companies, so as to make sure that all
operations are managed in accordance with the highest standards of
practice and corporate governance.

4.  Auditor’s Remuneration

KPMG was re-appointed as our external auditor by shareholders
at the 2011 AGM until the conclusion of the 2012 AGM. They are
primarily responsible for providing audit services in connection with
the annual consolidated financial statements.

ZHAM A - N T INEAZ ST RS 2 2B During the Period, the total remuneration in respect of services
LT provided by the external auditor is as follows:
BEz-T——-F+=A HE_Z-ZF+_-A
=t+—BitAE AL = EIJJ:/\1IH,HJ%F'EJ
Six-month period ended Six-month period ended
December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
BYEET BEEET
HK$M HK$M
TEEZERTE Statutory audit services 4 3
T M E At AR % Tax and other services 3 1
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(V) Communication with Stakeholders

1. Shareholders

Our AGM provides a good opportunity for communication between
the Board and shareholders. The Chairmen of the Board and of
the Committees are normally present to answer queries raised
by shareholders. External auditor also attend the AGM every year.
Notice of the AGM and related papers are sent to shareholders at
least 20 clear business days before the meeting. Each separate
issue is proposed by a separate resolution by the Chairman. The
meeting enjoys strong participation from shareholders.

On the requisition of our shareholders holding not less than 5% of
our paid-up capital as at the date of the deposit of the requisition
carrying the right of voting at our general meetings, our Directors
shall forthwith proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting.

Specific enquiries and suggestions by shareholders can be sent in
writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at our registered
address or by e-mail to our Company.

Our last AGM was held on October 18, 2011 at our registered office.
The meeting was attended by 226 shareholders present in person
or by proxy. At the meeting, the Chairman had demanded a poll on
each of the resolutions submitted for voting, and the shareholders
were provided with detailed procedures for conducting a poll.
All resolutions tabled at the 2011 AGM, inter alia, adoption of the
financial statements, re-election of Directors, re-appointment of
auditor, renewal of general mandates and amendments of articles of
association were voted on by poll, and the results of poll voting were
posted on the websites of our Company and of the Stock Exchange
in the evening on the same day.
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EERHARABEN T —_FPMA+/\ The Board confirms that there are no changes proposed to the
AETZBEFEReHHEBIART 24 articles of association of the Company at the forthcoming AGM to
MERRAMA - NMEPMFEEZLERFMARBE be held on April 18, 2012. The important shareholders’ dates for
NEZHE  BERSMEEEE_F the coming financial year, which include the Board Meetings for
——HE+-A=+—HBILFEZPHA the declaration of interim and final dividends for the year ending
BENAEBREMBITHNESBEE#MHE December 31, 2012 and the AGM, are expected to be held at around
H - AREFRKEHE  2RI4R-Z late July 2012, late January 2013 and in April 2013 respectively.
——F+tAK - —T—=F—AK M
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2. Investors

As at December 31, 2011, the number of shares of the Company
which were in the hands of the public (i.e. other than those held
by our parent company, HLG) was 2,205,560,475 shares (49.3% of
total issued share capital), with market capitalization of HK$48,742.9
million.

Details of shareholders by domicile as at December 31, 2011 are as
follows:

@
[ & ERE
Shareholders Shareholdings
A8 Bk BROEBE B
FiTIES it Domicile No. %  No. of Shares %
B Hong Kong 3,008 9438  4,434,722,230 ©1e). 115
AR A Mainland China 53 1.82 4,231,220 0.10
SRS Macau 6 0.19 376,923 0.01
=y Taiwan 2 0.06 5ef3 0.00
RN K TR Australia & New Zealand 10 0.32 15,105 0.00
PIEYNSESE] Canada & USA 45 1.41 2,460,010 0.05
REEE South East Asia 44 1.38 2,611,917 0.06
B United Kingdom 8 0.28 15,585 0.00
HAth Others 5 0.16 28,336,462 0.63
et TOTAL 3,187 100.00 4,472,770,045 100.00
4
W-ZT——F+_-A=+—H2ZMKHEHE Details of shareholders by holding range as at December 31, 2011
REARFBEET : are as follows:
@
R ERE*
Shareholders* Shareholdings*
A8 Bk BROEBE B
EREAR Holding Range No. %  No. of Shares %
1 —1,000/% 1-1,000 shares 1,430 44.87 691,548 0.02
1,001 — 5,000/% 1,001 — 5,000 shares 819 25.70 2,262,705 0.05
5,001 — 10,000/ 5,001 — 10,000 shares 346 10.85 2,861,798 0.06
10,001 — 100,000/% 10,001 — 100,000 shares 485 15.22 16,722,984 0.37
100,000R% LA = Over 100,000 shares 107 3.36 4,450,231,010 99.50
st TOTAL 3,187 100.00 4,472,770,045 100.00
. 4

BEMANTN\E28RRELERIWRGEZA T
T WEEMBZHREMARNA - UEBTRE
HREABRAREGHEELHAA L - +EEL

Nominees Limited

FrAE=+=-80F BT —BRRH
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Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors of the Company as at
the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules.

We are committed to disclosing relevant information on our
activities to our shareholders and investors through regular analysts'
briefings, press conferences and press releases, e-mails and our
website, apart from our annual and interim reports. All enquiries and
proposals received from shareholders, investors, media or the public
are responded to by Executive Directors, Company Secretary or
appropriate key executives.

The Company’'s information, including the terms of reference of
Audit Committee and Nomination and Remuneration Committee, is
also accessible to all via our website. Hard copies of the terms of
reference of the above-mentioned Committees are also available on
request. Besides providing traditional financial data, our website also
contains the most current information including properties available
for sale and leasing, latest issued capital, updated substantial
shareholders’ interests in shares, newsletters, major corporate
events and frequently asked questions.
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Mr Ronnie Chichung Chan
EER

Chairman

Aged 62, Mr Chan joined the Group in 1972 and was appointed
to the Board of Hang Lung Properties Limited in 1986 before
becoming Chairman in 1991. He also serves as Chairman of
Hang Lung Group Limited. Mr Chan is Vice-President of The Real
Estate Developers Association of Hong Kong, Co-Chair of the Asia
Society and Chairman of its Hong Kong Center. He also acts as an
advisor to the China Development Research Foundation in Beijing.
Mr Chan sits on the governing or advisory bodies of several think-
tanks and universities, including the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology, the University of Southern California,
USA, where he received his MBA, and Tsinghua University in
Beijing.

BRI B &L
Mr Shang Shing Yin
BlESER BUEITES)

Vice Chairman (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Aged 80, Mr Yin joined Hang Lung in 1970 and was appointed
to the Board of Hang Lung Properties Limited in 1980. A past
Managing Director, he has been Vice Chairman since 1992. He has
over 20 years of experience in the fields of property investment
and development, and is a qualified banker with a Banking Diploma
from The Chartered Institute of Bankers in London, UK. MrYin also
serves as Vice Chairman of Hang Lung Group Limited.
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FRE#R L
Mr Philip Nan Lok Chen

TSI
Managing Director

Aged 56, Mr Chen joined the Company and its listed holding
company, Hang Lung Group Limited, as Managing Director in
July 2010. Mr Chen has more than 30 years of management
experience, mostly in the aviation industry, acquiring a wealth
of experience in Hong Kong, mainland China and beyond. Mr
Chen graduated from the University of Hong Kong in 1977 with a
Bachelor of Arts degree and holds a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from the same university.

RERKE

Mr Nelson Wai Leung Yuen
FMITES

Non-Executive Director

Aged 61, Mr Yuen was appointed as a Non-Executive Director in
March 2011. He joined Hang Lung in 1978, became an Executive
Director of the Company in 1986, and was appointed as Managing
Director of the Company and its holding company, Hang Lung
Group Limited, in 1992. He held this position until his retirement
in July 2010. He is a graduate of The University of Manchester, UK
and a Fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales.
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Mr Ronald Joseph Arculli GBM, ¢vO, GBS, OBE, JP
BUIEHITES

Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 73, Mr Arculli joined the Board in 1980. Mr Arculli is a
practicing solicitor and was a Member of the Legislative Council of
Hong Kong from 1988 to 2000, representing the Real Estate and
Construction functional constituency between 1991 and 2000. He
was first appointed in November 2005 as a non-official member
of the Executive Council of the HKSAR and has since October
2011 being appointed as Convenor. He has a distinguished record
of public service and has served on numerous government
committees and advisory bodies. Mr Arculli is the Independent
Non-Executive Chairman of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited, an Independent Non-Executive Director of SCMP Group
Limited and a Non-Executive Director of HKR International Limited,
Power Assets Holdings Limited, Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited,
Sino Hotels (Holdings) Limited, Sino Land Company Limited and
Tsim Sha Tsui Properties Limited.
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EUESE L exmes  0BE ATHT
Dr Hon Kwan Cheng GBS, OBE, JP
BIIEHITES

Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 84, Dr Cheng joined the Group in 1993. Dr Cheng obtained
an engineering degree from Tianjin University and a postgraduate
diploma from Imperial College, London, UK, of which he is a
Fellow. He is a past President, Honorary Fellow and Gold Medallist
of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, Fellow of the Hong
Kong Academy of Engineering Sciences, and past Vice President,
Fellow and Gold Medallist of The Institution of Structural Engineers,
Fellow of The Institution of Civil Engineers, UK, Honorary Fellow of
The Institution of Engineers, Australia, and an Authorized Person
and Registered Structural Engineer in Hong Kong, with a State
Class 1 Registered Structural Engineer qualification. Dr Cheng
was a Member of both the Executive and Legislative Councils and
Chairman of the Hong Kong Housing Authority. Dr Cheng is an
Independent Non-Executive Director of Wing Hang Bank, Limited,
Agile Property Holdings Limited and Tianjin Development Holdings
Limited. He is also an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Hang Lung Group Limited.
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BRE&4ME 2+
Ms Laura Lok Yee Chen
BN FERITER

Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 63, Ms Chen joined Hang Lung in 1997 She has been
involved in the banking, real estate, and financial service industries
for over twenty years, both in Hong Kong and in the USA. Since
1993, she has been a director of the Sterling Group — a private
investment entity managing investment portfolios in global capital
markets, with a special interest in emerging markets and high-yield
products. In recent years, her professional career has made the
transition into the development and management of philanthropic
programs and activities, and she is currently the Executive Chair
of the Hong Kong based ZeShan Foundation. She serves on the
advisory councils of the Hopkins-Nanjing Center — a joint program
between the Johns Hopkins and Nanjing Universities, the Asia
Society Hong Kong Center, and numerous nonprofit organizations.
Ms Chen holds an MBA from the George Washington University
in Washington, DC, USA, and a postgraduate certificate in
International Banking from the University of Virginia, USA. Ms
Chen is also an Independent Non-Executive Director of Hang Lung
Group Limited.
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BHEZE sxngs - AFet
Professor Pak Wai Liu sBs, JpP
B IEITES

Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 64, Professor Liu joined the Board as an Independent Non-
Executive Director in 1998. He received his AB degree from
Princeton University and Ph.D degree from Stanford University
in the US. Professor Liu is Professor of Economics and was
formerly Pro-Vice-Chancellor of the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He holds a number of positions related to his field of study,
including Director of the Economic Research Centre of the Hong
Kong Institute of Asia-Pacific Studies and Vice-President of the
East Asian Economic Association. He was formerly Director of
the Institute of Global Economics and Finance and was appointed
Distinguished Fulbright Scholar in 2000-01. Professor Liu serves
on many government advisory bodies. He is a member of
the Commission on Strategic Development and the Advisory
Committee on Post-Office Employment for Former Chief Executives
and Politically Appointed Officials. He was a past member of the
Independent Commission on Remuneration for Members of
the Executive Council and the Legislature, and Officials under
the Political Appointment System of the HKSAR, the Provisional
Minimum Wage Commission, the Independent Commission on
Remuneration for the Members of the District Councils of the
HKSAR and the Aviation Development Advisory Committee. He is
also a Director of the Hong Kong Institute for Monetary Research
of the Hong Kong Monetary Authority, and was a Non-Executive
Director of the Securities and Futures Commission and Chairman
of its Remuneration Committee. Professor Liu is an Independent
Non-Executive Director of Transport International Holdings
Limited. He was awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star (SBS) in 1999,
and appointed Justice of Peace (JP) in 2006.
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Mr Dominic Chiu Fai Ho

B FNTESR
Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 61, Mr Ho joined the Board as an Independent Non-Executive
Director in April 2008. Mr Ho retired as co-chairman of KPMG,
China and HKSAR on March 31, 2007 He obtained his degrees at
the University of Houston in the United States and is a member
of the American Institute of Accountants and a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He was a
past member of the Corruption Prevention Advisory Committee
of the Independent Commission Against Corruption and of the
Insurance Advisory Committee, both in Hong Kong. Mr Ho is
also a Non-Executive and Independent Director of Singapore
Telecommunications Limited.

SHELE

Mr William Pak Yau Ko
WiTES

Executive Director

Aged 53, Mr Ko joined the Group in 1994 as Senior Project Manager
and was promoted to Assistant Director in 2002. He was appointed
as an Executive Director in 2005 and is responsible for project
planning both in Hong Kong and mainland China. He was also
appointed as an Executive Director of its holding company, Hang
Lung Group Limited, in February 2010. He holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree and a Bachelor of Architecture degree from the University
of Liverpool, UK. He also has an Executive MBA degree jointly
awarded by The Kellogg School of Management of Northwestern
University, USA and The School of Business and Management of
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. A Member
of the Royal Institute of British Architects and The Hong Kong
Institute of Architects, he is a Registered Architect both in the
United Kingdom and Hong Kong. Prior to joining the Group, Mr Ko
practiced architecture in the United Kingdom, United States and
Hong Kong.
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RKFEXRE

Mr Henry Tze Yin Yiu
WITES

Executive Director

Aged 57 Mr Yiu was appointed as an Executive Director in
February 2010. He joined the Group in 1986 and was promoted
to Senior Manager — Project Development (China) in 2006. Mr
Yiu was appointed as General Manager — Jinan in 2007 and was
promoted to Assistant Director — Project Development in 2009,
is responsible for project construction in mainland China. He
possesses over 20 years of experience in project management.

EEA=P S
Mr Hau Cheong Ho
WITES

Executive Director

Aged 52, Mr Ho joined the Group in 2008 as Assistant Director
— Finance & Administration. He was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company and of its holding company, Hang Lung
Group Limited, in September 2010. He possesses over 20 years of
financial management experience, having previously held a range
of senior positions with major corporations in the United Kingdom,
Australia and Hong Kong. He holds an MBA from The University
of Melbourne, Australia and a Bachelor of Commerce degree in
Accounting from The University of Birmingham, United Kingdom.
Mr Ho qualified as a chartered accountant in England in 1986 and
Australia in 1987
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Ms Prudence Bik Wah Chan

Director

Aged 53, Ms Chan joined the Group in 2011 as Director
— Leasing & Sales. She is responsible for formulating and
implementing strategies and business plans for the development
of the Group’s property leasing and management in Hong
Kong and the Mainland. Ms Chan possesses over 20 years of
management experience in various industries such as finance,
retail and telecommunications.

Ms Bella Peck Lim Chhoa
Company Secretary, General Counsel and Assistant Director —
Corporate Affairs

Aged 41, Ms Chhoa joined the Group as Company Secretary,
General Counsel and Assistant Director — Corporate Affairs in
2011. She is responsible for overseeing the company secretarial,
legal and human resources and training functions of the Group.
Prior to joining the Group, she was head of the legal department
and company secretary of two other companies listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for a number of years.
Ms Chhoa is a solicitor qualified to practice in Hong Kong. She
graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor
degree in law and holds a Master of Business Administration
degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr Henry Kam Ling Cheung

Assistant Director — Leasing & Management

Aged 55, Mr Cheung joined the Group as an Executive Assistant
in 1983. He has worked in the Leasing and Management Division
since 1984 and was promoted to Senior Property Manager in
1994. Mr Cheung was appointed as Assistant Director in 2006.
He holds a Bachelor degree in Economics from the University of
Victoria, Canada and a Master of Business Administration degree
from Southern lllinois University, USA.
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Mr Ivan Tak Wa Kung

Assistant Director — Project Construction

Aged 47 Mr Kung joined the Group as Assistant Director —
Project Construction in 2011. Mr Kung possesses over 20 years
of experience in architectural design and project management
with leading property developer and consultant. Mr Kung holds
a Master of Design Studies (Urbanization and Housing) degree
from Harvard University, USA and a Bachelor of Architecture
degree from The University of Hong Kong. He is a Registered
Architect in Hong Kong, a Member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Architects and an Authorized Person under Buildings Ordinance.
He is also an Associate Member of Royal Institute of British
Architects and a LEED Accredited Professional, USGBC, and he
holds a PRC Class 1 Registered Architect Qualification.

Mr Chuk Fai Kwan

Assistant Director — Corporate Communications

Aged 52, Mr Kwan joined the Group as Assistant Director —
Corporate Communications in 2011. Mr Kwan possesses over
25 years of public relations and corporate affairs experience.
He holds an Executive MBA degree from The University of
Western Ontario, Canada and a Bachelor of Arts degree from The
University of Hong Kong.

Mr Moses Woon Tim Leung
Assistant Director — Project Planning

Aged 44, Mr Leung joined the Group as Senior Manager —
Project Construction in 2007 and was appointed as Assistant
Director — Project Planning in 2011. He possesses over 20 years
of experience in project design with various consultant firms and
exposure in Mainland projects. Mr Leung holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Architectural Studies and a Bachelor of Architecture
degree from The University of Hong Kong. He is a Registered
Architect in Hong Kong, a Member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Architects and an Authorized Person under the Buildings
Ordinance.
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Mr Gavin Yee Liang Lu

Assistant Director — Project Construction

Aged 50, Mr Lu joined the Group as Assistant Director —
Project Construction in 2010. Mr Lu possesses over 25 years
of experience in architectural design and project management
with major property developers and leading consultants. He
has extensive exposure in property development and property
management in the Asia Pacific region. Mr Lu holds a Bachelor
of Science degree in Architecture and a Bachelor of Architecture
degree from The University of Newcastle, Australia. He is a
Registered Architect in Singapore, a Member of The Royal
Institute of British Architects and a Member of Singapore
Institute of Architects.

Mr Raymond Wai Man Mak

Assistant Director & Group Financial Controller

Aged 48, Mr Mak joined the Group as Assistant Director & Group
Financial Controller in 2011. Mr Mak possesses over 20 years of
finance, auditing and company secretary experience. He holds a
Master of Business Administration degree from The University of
Warwick, UK. He is a Certified Public Accountant of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a Fellow Member of
Chartered Association of Certified Accountants, UK.

Mr Oliver Chun Tien

Assistant Director — Project Construction

Aged 47 Mr Tien joined the Group as General Manager — Wuxi
in 2007 and was appointed as Assistant Director — Project
Construction in 2011. He possesses over 20 years of experience
in project design and management with various consultant firms
and developers, including exposure in management of Mainland
projects. Mr Tien holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Architectural
Studies and a Bachelor of Architecture degree from The University
of Hong Kong. He is a Registered Architect in Hong Kong, a
Member of the Royal Institute of British Architects and The Hong
Kong Institute of Architects. Mr Tien is also an Authorized Person
under the Buildings Ordinance.
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Mr William Yu Qiang Wang

Assistant Director

Aged 56, Mr Wang joined Grand Gateway 66, Shanghai in 1993
as Deputy General Manager. He was appointed as Director of
Shanghai Kong Kui Property Development Co., Ltd. in 2003,
and was nominated as Board Chairman and General Manager
in 2005. Mr Wang was promoted to Assistant Director in 2009.
He is a graduate of the Economics Faculty in Zhong Gong
Zhong Yang Dang Xiao and a qualified accountant accredited
by the Ministry of Finance People’s Republic of China. Mr
Wang has been appointed as a Committee Member of the
Shanghai Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and
Committee Member of two designated districts of the Shanghai
Municipal People's Congress (Standing Committee) for several
years, and is now a Committee Member of the Shanghai Jingan
District of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference.

Mr William Wing Chung Yiu

Assistant Director — Corporate Audit

Aged 42, Mr Yiu joined the Group as Assistant Director —
Corporate Audit in 2011. Mr Yiu possesses over 15 years of
finance, internal audit and PRC taxation experience. He holds a
Master of Business Administration degree from the California
State University, Hayward, USA and a Bachelor of Economics
degree from Monash University, Australia. He is a Certified
Practising Accountant of the Australian Society of Certified
Practising Accountants, an Associate of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a Member of The Institute of
Internal Auditors.

Ms Joanne Yuen Man Chan
Deputy General Manager — Grand Gateway 66

Aged 42, Ms Chan joined the Group in 2010 and was promoted
to Senior Manager — Leasing & Management and appointed as
Deputy General Manager — Grand Gateway 66 in 2011. Ms Chan
holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree from The University
of Hong Kong and a Diploma in Surveying from The University
of Reading, UK. She is a Registered Professional Surveyor in
Hong Kong, a Professional Member of The Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors and a Member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors.
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Mr Paul Wan Po Chan

Senior Manager — Finance

Aged 39, Mr Chan joined the Group as Senior Manager —
Finance in 2011. Mr Chan possesses over 17 years of auditing
and financial management experience. He holds a Master of
Accounting degree from Curtin University of Technology, Australia
and a Bachelor of Business Administration degree (Professional
Accountancy) from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is
a Member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales, and also a Fellow Member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Mr Steven Ching Po Chu

Senior Manager — Leasing & Management

Aged 41, Mr Chu joined the Group as Senior Manager — Leasing
& Management in 2011. Mr Chu possesses over 16 years of
experience in brand management and product marketing. He
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from City
University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Marketing from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr Peter Ka Wai Ho

Senior Manager — Project Construction

Aged 50, Mr Ho joined the Group in 1996 and was promoted
to Senior Manager — Project Construction in 2011. Mr Ho
possesses over 25 years of experience in project management
for both Hong Kong and Mainland projects. He holds a Master
of Science degree in Building Services Engineering from
Brunel University, UK and a Bachelor of Engineering degree in
Mechanical Engineering from The Polytechnic of Central London,
UK.

Ms Mina Pou Lam Lai
Senior Manager — Leasing & Management

Aged 57 Ms Lai joined the Group in 1995 as Corporate Services
Manager. She was appointed as Central Purchasing Manager
in 2003 and was promoted to Senior Manager in January
2007 Ms Lai was appointed as Senior Manager — Leasing
& Management in September 2007 She holds a Master of
Business Administration degree from the University of Leicester,
UK.
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Mr ShiuWo Lam

Senior Manager — Project Construction

Aged 52, Mr Lam joined the Group as Senior Manager —
Project Construction in 2007. Mr Lam possesses over 25 years
of experience in mechanical and electrical design and project
management with consultant firm. He also gained exposure
in development projects in PRC. He holds a Bachelor of
Engineering degree in Building Services Engineering from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is a Chartered Engineer
and Registered Professional Engineer. He is also a Member of
The Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers, UK,
American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air Conditioning
Engineers, Inc, USA, The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and
a LEED Accredited Professional, USGBC.

Ms Betty Shuk Man Law

Senior Manager — Corporate Communications

Aged 39, Ms Law joined the Group as Senior Manager —
Corporate Communications in 2011. Ms Law possesses 17 years
of corporate communications and media relations experience.
She holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong.

Ms Sabrina Wei Man Law

Senior Manager — Project Construction

Aged 46, Ms Law joined the Group as Senior Manager —
Project Construction in 2011. Ms Law possesses over 20 years
of experience in project design and management with various
consultant firms and developer. She holds a Master of Business
Administration degree from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology, a Bachelor of Arts degree in Architecture and
a Postgraduate Diploma in Architecture from The University
of Manchester and University College London, UK. She is a
Registered Architect in Hong Kong and a Member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Architects. She also holds a PRC Class 1
Registered Architect Qualification.
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Mr Andrew Chee Man Lee

Senior Manager — Finance

Aged 53, Mr Lee joined the Group in 2008 as Senior Manager
— Finance. He possesses over 28 years of experience in finance
and has exposure in the commercial sector. Mr Lee holds a
Master of Arts degree from The University of Lancaster, UK,
a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of London, UK
and a Bachelor of Law degree from Tsinghua University, PRC.
He is also a Member of Canadian Certified General Accountants
Association of Hong Kong, a Fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, an Associate of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an Associate of
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
and an Associate of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants.

Ms Christina Yiu Chee Leung

Head of Human Resources and Training

Aged 42, Ms Leung joined the Group in 2010 as Head of
Human Resources and Training. She possesses over 19 years
of experience in human resources. Ms Leung holds a Master of
Management degree in Human Resources Management from
Macquarie University, Australia and a Bachelor of Arts degree
in Hotel & Restaurant Administration from Washington State
University, USA.

Mr Gilbert Tak Wai Li

Deputy Financial Controller — Plaza 66

Aged 47 Mr Li joined the Group as Deputy Financial Controller
— Plaza 66 in 2011. Mr Li possesses over 20 years of auditing
and financial management experience. He holds a Master of
Business Administration degree from the University of Wales, UK
and a Bachelor of Business Administration degree in Accounting
from Hong Kong Baptist University. He is a Member of The
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, a
Fellow of Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, UK and
a Member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

145



EETB AR

Profile of Key Executives

BERRELE

SREE —RAER

AREERFR+T LR R—ANEEME
S -BaEEREER=-tT=FFELERN
HRBBZIRRIEELR - ®EFAH M
EARERFHHABIREELEM - 7K
RBEEBLIZMMEGEE -

IR T

BRHREE

BEERFN AR R2T——FmME
SELEEANMRTIE - BELHERER -
THFEAMKREENERNOKLR - BT
BREZHNEEER 2 IHERELS
i WARHERBENFIFEANKE
EAL-

RAfEKERE

SRKE —BERER

AIERERFON =5 R—ANAZFM
BEE R -_ZETNFEFR/SRLE
— W BR T -TFREZERDAL
B — HEER - AEREEAEB T NFE
BER VEHERTHKER HEEE
BHTASEARME LR FEKRE
RESMECR (FHEER) RNEAH
RAMARBREBEEETEM - AIELRER
BBMERRBOERPEKE -

whBrt
BREE — BERNEER (@)

RRETBEAFE+E R_ET—FN8REE
YR ZTETRFER/LE — HBR
MERERE (FE) - R _TT/N\FEZRE
SEMEE — ABEERMEERE (FE) -
BRIEEBRTN\EEELRTERBYE
Bk MBEMEEE &R -

146

Mr Charles Tong Liong Lui

Senior Manager — Project Construction

Aged 57 Mr Lui joined the Group in 1994. Mr Lui possesses over
33 years of experience in project management for both Hong
Kong and Mainland projects. He holds a Bachelor of Engineering
degree from McMaster University, Canada and is a Member of
The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers.

Mr Alden Wing Yuen Poon

Head of Information Technology

Aged 49, Mr Poon joined the Group in 2011 as Head of
Information Technology. He possesses over 25 years of
information technology management and development
experience. He holds a Master of Business Administration
degree from Henley Business School, UK. He is a Chartered IT
Professional Member of The British Computer Society.

Mr Eric Wing Hong Szeto

Senior Manager — Project Planning

Aged 43, Mr Szeto joined the Group in 1992 and was promoted
to Senior Manager — Marketing in 2004. He was appointed as
Senior Manager — Project Planning in 2010. Mr Szeto possesses
over 19 years of experience in project development and property
sales and marketing. He holds a Master degree in Information
Systems from the City University of Hong Kong, a Postgraduate
Diploma in Surveying (Real Estate Development) from The
University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor degree in Economics
from the University of Western Ontario, Canada. Mr Szeto serves
as a Member of the Legal Sub-Committee of The Real Estate
Developers Association of Hong Kong.

Ms Iris Siu Wai Tsui

Senior Manager — Leasing & Management (China)

Aged 40, Ms Tsui joined the Group in 2001 and was promoted
to Manager — Leasing & Management (China) in 2006. In
2008, she was appointed as Senior Manager — Leasing &
Management (China). Ms Tsui possesses over 18 years of
experience in property development and leasing & management
in Hong Kong and mainland China.
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Ms Ella Hoi Yan Wong

Senior Manager — Project Planning

Aged 38, Ms \Wong joined the Group in 2006 and was promoted
to Senior Manager — Project Planning in 2011. Ms Wong holds a
Master of Science degree in Project Management from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University, a Master of Architecture degree
and a Bachelor of Arts degree in Architectural Studies from The
University of Hong Kong. She is a Registered Architect in Hong
Kong, a Member of The Hong Kong Institute of Architects and an
Authorized Person under the Buildings Ordinance. She is also a
LEED Accredited Professional, USGBC.

Ms Passy Wai Chung Wong

Senior Manager — Leasing & Management

Aged 37 Ms Wong joined the Group in 2003 and was promoted
to Manager in 2005. In 2010, she was appointed as Senior
Manager — Leasing & Management. Ms Wong holds a Master
of Science degree in Real Estate, a Postgraduate Diploma in
Surveying (Real Estate Development) from The University of
Hong Kong and a Bachelor of Social Science degree from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong. She is a Professional Member
of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and a Member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

Mr Ronald Kam Fai Yan
Deputy General Manager — Plaza 66

Aged 49, MrYan joined the Group as Assistant Property Manager
in 1994 and was promoted to Property Manager in 2002. In 2006,
he was appointed as Senior Manager — Leasing & Management
and in 2011, he was appointed as Deputy General Manager
— Plaza 66. Mr Yan has a Master of Social Science degree in
Housing Policy & Practice from the University of Birmingham,
UK.

Ms Cora Yuet Ngor Yiu

Senior Manager — Leasing & Management

Aged 49, Ms Yiu joined the Group in 1990 and was promoted to
Property Manager in 2001. In 2008, she was appointed as Senior
Manager — Leasing & Management. Ms Yiu has a Master of
Business Administration degree from the University of Leicester,
UK and a Bachelor of Science degree in Estate Management
from The University of Reading, UK.
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Ms Yun Zhang

Senior Manager — Legal & Secretarial

Aged 37 Ms Zhang joined the Group in 2008 as Senior Manager
— Legal & Secretarial. Ms Zhang possesses over 14 years of
experience in the PRC legal field. She holds a Master degree in
Law and a Bachelor of Law degree from the Fudan University,
Shanghai. Ms Zhang is qualified as a Lawyer by the Ministry of
Justice of PRC since 1998.
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their report together
with the audited Financial Statements for the sixmonth period
from July 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011.

Change of Financial Year End Date

As a result of the recent change of the financial year end date
from June 30 to December 31, the Financial Statements and this
report of the directors now presented cover a sixmonth period
from July 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011 (the “Period”).

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding,
and through its subsidiaries, property investment for rental
income, property development for sales and leasing, car park
management and property management.

An analysis of the turnover and trading results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) by
operating segments during the Period is set out in Note 3 on the
Financial Statements.

Principal Subsidiaries and Jointly Controlled Entities
A list of principal subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities,
together with their places of operations and incorporation and
particulars of their issued share capital/registered capital is set
out in Notes 35 and 36 on the Financial Statements.

Financial Results

The profit of the Group for the Period, and the state of affairs of
the Company and of the Group at December 31, 2011 are set out
in the Financial Statements on pages 160 to 230.

Ten-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last nine financial years and the Period is set out on
page 231.

Dividends

The directors now recommend a final dividend of HK36 cents
per share. The proposed final dividend, if approved by the
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on April 18, 2012,
will be paid on May 8, 2012 to shareholders whose names
appear on the Register of Members on April 24, 2012.
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Major Suppliers and Customers

During the Period, both the percentage of purchases attributable
to the Group's five largest suppliers combined and the
percentage of turnover or sales attributable to the Group's five
largest customers combined were less than 30% of the total
purchases and turnover or sales of the Group respectively.

Reserves
Movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the Period are set out in Note 23 on the Financial
Statements.

Donations

Donations made by the Group during the Period amounted to
HK$1 million (HK$18 million for the year ended June 30, 2011
and HK$11 million for the sixmonth period ended December 31,
2010).

Fixed Assets
Details of movements in fixed assets during the Period are set
out in Note 11 on the Financial Statements.

Bank Loans
Particulars of bank loans of the Group as at December 31, 2011
are set out in Note 18 on the Financial Statements.

Borrowing Costs Capitalization

Borrowing costs capitalized by the Group during the Period
amounted to HK$97 million (HK$152 million for the year ended
June 30, 2011 and HK$56 million for the sixmonth period ended
December 31, 2010).

Major Group Properties
Details of major properties of the Group as at December 31, 2011
are set out on pages 68 to 74.
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Share Capital

During the Period, as a result of the exercise of share options
under the Company’s share option scheme, 955,875 shares
(18,782,500 shares for the year ended June 30, 2011 and
15,303,000 shares for the sixmonth period ended December
31, 2010) of HK$1.00 each, fully paid, were issued for total
consideration of HK$15,851,750 (HK$335,112,060 for the year
ended June 30, 2011 and HK$282,155,320 for the sixmonth
period ended December 31, 2010). As at the date of this report,
the total number of shares available for issue under the share
option scheme is 99,819,390 shares, representing 2.23% of the
issued share capital of the Company. The total number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of options (including both
exercised and outstanding) granted to each participant shall not
exceed in any 12-month period 1% of shares of the Company in
issue.

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the
Period are set out in Note 22 on the Financial Statements.

Directors

The directors of the Company as at the date of this report are
listed on page 232 and their brief biographical details are set out
on pages 131 to 138. Details of their remuneration are set out in
Note 6 on the Financial Statements.

In accordance with Articles 103 and 104 of the Company's
Articles of Association, Mr Ronald J. Arculli, Mr Ronnie C. Chan,
Mr Henry TY. Yiu and Mr H.C. Ho retire from the Board by
rotation at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ Service Contracts

The appointments of non-executive director and independent
non-executive directors are for specific terms (not exceeding 3
years) which coincide with their expected dates of retirement
by rotation in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s
Articles of Association.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has a service contract with the Company,
its holding company or any of their subsidiaries which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).
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Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contract of significance in relation to the Group's business
to which the Company, its holding company or any of their
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a director of the Company
was materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at any time during the Period or at the end of the Period.

Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at December 31, 2011, the interests or short positions of each
of the directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO"))
which were required to be notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited pursuant to Part XV of the
SFO or pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO are as follows:

KAF (F8) EEEEERAR (F2)
The Company (Long Position) Hang Lung Group Limited (Long Position)
ERfT REDE BRT RIEHE
BAz AREZRE BAz AREZRE
Bl (Mi3E1) B (Mi32)
RGEE % of No. of Shares RGEE %of No. of Shares
Name of No. of Issued under Option No. of Issued under Option
EEHE Bh Directors Capacity Shares Capital (Note 1) Shares Capital (Note 2)
REE A Ronnie C. Chan  Personal - - 36570000 - - 11,790,000
RiHE - SS.Yin - - - - - - -
Bk EA Phiip N.L. Chen  Personal - - 14,500,000 - - -
=2 aA Nelson W.L. Yuen  Personal - - 24,320,000 - - -
EAB  [@ARAF  RonaldJ.Arculi  Personal & Comorate 724,346 0.02 - 1,089,975 0.08 -
By - HX. Cheng - = - - - _ _
LS - lauraLY Chen - - - - - - -
2R BARZFE  PW. L Personal & Family 100,000 - - - - -
fBiE = DominicCEHo - - - - - - -
RiEE @A Willam PY. Ko~ Personal - - 25730000 30,000 - 994,000
KFE BA Henry TY. Yiu Personal - - 7600,000 170,000 0.01 50,000
flzg  fAA H.C. Ho Personal - - 5,600,000 - - -
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1. BREXRARAZROBESBNDESS

Movement of Options under the Share Option Scheme of the Company

RIBHREA R R
No. of Shares under Option
BRITEE
B A H2011E ZHERTE H20115 (B%) BEBEH ZH#A
(B/8B/%) 7818 Exercised 128318 Exercise Price (A /B /%) (A/B/%)
Date Granted As at during As at per Share Vested Dates Expiry Date
(mmy/dd/yyyy) HE Name Jul 1,2011  the Period  Dec 31, 2011 (HK$) (mm/ddfyyyy) (mmy/dd/yyyy)
05/20/2004 BT Ronnie C. Chan 5,090,000 - 5,090,000 $9.20 05/20/2005: 25%  05/19/2014
=R William PY. Ko 1,330,000 - 1,330,000 05/20/2006: 25%
HhFE Henry TY. Yiu 200,000 - 200,000 05/20/2007: 25%
05/20/2008: 25%
09/01/2005 ={RE William PY. Ko 500,000 - 500,000 $12.35 09/01/2006: 25%  08/31/2015
09/01/2007: 25%
09/01/2008: 25%
09/01/2009: 25%
11/14/2006 HhTE Henry T.Y. Yiu 500,000 - 500,000 $16.75 11/14/2007: 10%  11/13/2016
11/14/2008: 20%
11/14/2009: 30%
11/14/2010: 40%
11/20/2006 R Ronnie C. Chan 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 $1714 11/20/2007: 10%  11/19/2016
={RE William PY. Ko 3,700,000 = 3,700,000 11/20/2008: 20%
11/20/2009: 30%
11/20/2010: 40%
08/21/2007 BRARR Ronnie C. Chan 3,640,000 - 3,640,000 $25.00 08/21/2008: 10%  08/20/2017
RIER Nelson W.L. Yuen 3,510,000 - 3,510,000 08/21/2009: 20%
={RE William PY. Ko 2,600,000 - 2,600,000 08/21/2010: 30%
08/21/2011: 40%
08/21/2007 BT Ronnie C. Chan 5,600,000 - 5,600,000 $25.00 08/21/2009: 10%  08/20/2017
RER Nelson W.L. Yuen 5,400,000 - 5,400,000 08/21/2010: 20%
={RE William PY. Ko 4,000,000 = 4,000,000 08/21/2011: 30%
08/21/2012: 40%
08/18/2008 HFE Henry T.Y. Yiu 150,000 - 150,000 $23.72 08/18/2010: 10%  08/17/2018
08/18/2011: 20%
08/18/2012: 30%
08/18/2013: 40%
09/01/2008 D= H.C. Ho 300,000 - 300,000 $2420 09/01/2010: 10%  08/31/2018
09/01/2011: 20%
09/01/2012: 30%
09/01/2013: 40%
12/31/2008 B R Ronnie C. Chan 9,240,000 - 9,240,000 $1736 12/31/2010: 10%  12/30/2018
RiER Nelson W.L. Yuen 8,910,000 - 8,910,000 12/31/2011: 20%
=Rl William PY. Ko 6,600,000 = 6,600,000 12/31/2012: 30%
HFE Henry TY. Yiu 300,000 - 300,000 12/31/2013: 40%
[OE2= H.C. Ho 300,000 - 300,000
02/08/2010 FRERR Ronnie C. Chan 6,500,000 - 6,500,000 $26.46 02/08/2012: 10%  02/07/2020
RiER Nelson W.L. Yuen 6,500,000 - 6,500,000 02/08/2013: 20%
Pt (=) William PY. Ko 4,000,000 - 4,000,000 02/08/2014: 30%
HFE Henry TY. Yiu 3,450,000 - 3,450,000 02/08/2015: 40%
07/29/2010 BRE#% Philip N.L. Chen 10,000,000 - 10,000,000 $33.05 07/29/2012:10%  07/28/2020
07/29/2013: 20%
07/29/2014: 30%
07/29/2015: 40%
09/29/2010 BES=! H.C. Ho 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 $36.90 09/29/2012:10%  09/28/2020
09/29/2013: 20%
09/29/2014: 30%
09/29/2015: 40%
06/13/2011 BT Ronnie C. Chan 4,500,000 - 4,500,000 $30.79 06/13/2013: 10%  06/12/2021
FRRIHE Philip N.L. Chen 4,500,000 - 4,500,000 06/13/2014: 20%
={RE William PY. Ko 3,000,000 = 3,000,000 06/13/2015: 30%
BFE Henry TY. Yiu 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 06/13/2016: 40%
EEa=] H.C. Ho 3,000,000 - 3,000,000

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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2. BEEESEARAFAZROMESANNELSS

Movement of Options under the Share Option Scheme of Hang Lung Group Limited

@
IR A2 2 R
No. of Shares under Option
BRITHEE
Bt A H20ME ZHRBATHE H2014E (%%) BEBEH Z#A
(R/B/%) 7818 Exercised 12H31H Exercise Price (8 /B /%) (B/8 /%)
Date Granted As at during As at Per Share Vested Dates Expiry Date
(mm/ddfyyyy) — #& Name Jul1,2011  the Period  Dec 31, 2011 (HKS) (mmy/dd/yyyy) (mm/dd/yyyy)
05/20/2004 BRER Ronnie C. Chan 5,090,000 - 5,090,000 $9.45 05/20/2005: 25%  05/19/2014
={RE William PY. Ko 494,000 - 494,000 05/20/2006: 25%
kB Henry T. Yiu 50,000 - 50,000 05/20/2007: 25%
05/20/2008: 25%
11/20/2006 BRECR Ronnie C. Chan 6,700,000 - 6,700,000 $20.52 11/20/2007: 10%  11/19/2016
={RE William PY. Ko 500,000 - 500,000 11/20/2008: 20%
11/20/2009: 30%
11/20/2010: 40%
o
BRIAEPTIRERIN - WEARNAEZEEREE  Save as disclosed above, none of the directors of the Company

ZIEMBEAR-ZE——F+_A=1+—
BHE/AARRSAEMEEEEZ R - 4
FAR (D S B RE < S TR R °

BRIA EPrattsh - Rz A B fE - 2
NE - HERRQRHRE 2N E QA
BEELENLZHEARRES (BREEE
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Bl B A A 2 A () S (B R RE T Je At o

FERRREMATRRDREE
BRD R ARRE

REESFGKINE=ZB=ZTEETETHE
FrEmMmRs TZERERKEZES
B EXVE B BEHER 2 HMA TR
—E——F+A=+—HBEAXQTZ
e BB D 2 ERARKR 2B
T

or any of their associates had, as at December 31, 2011, any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any associated corporations.

Other than as stated above, at no time during the Period was
the Company, its holding company or any of their subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the Company
(including their spouses and children under 18 years of age)
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares

As at December 31, 2011, details of substantial shareholders’
and other persons’ (who are required to disclose their interests
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO) interests and short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO
are as follows:

@
FEROIEERDHE
No. of Shares or ERITRAZEDL
Underlying Shares Held % of Issued Capital
Bier (#8) (%=) (F&) (%R)
£ Name Note (Long Position) (Short Position) (Long Position) (Short Position)
BREES Chan Tan Ching Fen 1 2,295,542,670 = 51.32 =
Cole Enterprises Cole Enterprises 1 2,295,542,670 - 51.32 -
Holdings Limited Holdings Limited
Merssion Limited Merssion Limited 1 2,295,542,670 - 51.32 -
EEESEPS NG| Hang Lung Group Limited 2,267,209,570 - 50.69 -
BEARAF Prosperland Housing 1,267,608,690 - 30.60 -
Limited
Purotat Limited Purotat Limited 3 354,227,500 - 8.55 -
JPMorgan Chase & Co. JPMorgan Chase & Co. 223,578,933 4,437504 5.00 0.10
o
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1.

IERMNE—EAESHBEE 2RO AR KD - REBS LT AZETESZMILA  Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited B 55t E & 2 <5t
A ° Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited&Merssion Limitedi5 BB EEER AR ([BEEE]) aorz=tt 2z - BEEERENB AR
BEZEROEREELM -+ ZBATRAEATRE-T Bt +REHZHER -

These shares were the same parcel of shares held by a trust of which Ms Chan Tan Ching Fen was the founder. Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited was
the trustee of the trust. Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited and Merssion Limited held 37% interests in Hang Lung Group Limited (“HLGL'). The shares

held by HLGL and its subsidiaries were included in the above-mentioned number of 2,295,542,670.

2. EERD

BREEZ2AMBRARRNA - Bt - EREERESNZEROTHEAES

These shares were held by the wholly-owned subsidiaries of HLGL and as such HLGL was deemed to be interested in these shareholdings.

3. WERRAAEBREEZZEMBERR  RELEGCEFEELIMBEESEMFAZ -+ BATLtE-tEBZATAAE L TRBRHZHEER -

These companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of HLGL. Their interests were included in the above-mentioned number of 2,267209,570 shares held by

HLGL.

4. BEANTFZE=TEZTATEEN+ZRAIHEEORY - LERMIURELESZHES -
It included 92,305,742 shares in the lending pool. These shares were held in the capacity of investment manager.
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2011, no other
interest required to be recorded in the register kept under
Section 336 of the SFO has been notified to the Company.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken
in the usual course of business are set out in Note 29 on the
Financial Statements. None of these related party transactions
constitutes a discloseable connected transaction as defined
under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Management Contracts

No contract for the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the Period.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities
During the Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed
securities.

Corporate Governance

The Company's corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 111 to 130.
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BB Auditor
ARG EREIERITZRRBEFKRE L8 A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditor of
HRER ZEBEZEEFHEEAIE the Company until the conclusion of the next Annual General
BRAARARIZEE  EETERRAF Meeting is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General
REHERRBIE © Meeting.

EEER By Order of the Board
NAlE Bella Peck Lim Chhoa
M Company Secretary

BE —E——F—HT+hB Hong Kong, January 19, 2012
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Hang Lung Properties Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hang
Lung Properties Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together “the Group”) set out on pages 160 to 230, which comprise
the consolidated and company statements of financial position as
at December 31, 2011, the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the sixmonth period then ended and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. WWe do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
as at December 31, 2011 and of the Group's profit and cash flows
for the sixmonth period then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince's Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

January 19, 2012
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Consolidated Income Statement

HE-T—F+=-A=+—HI1EXEA For the six-month period ended December 31, 2011

BZE #HE HE
“8——% -F—§| -F-TF
+=A=+-—H AA=tH |TZA=1+—-~
1EXEA +=fEA 1~ EA
Period ended Year ended Period ended
ffs=  December 31, June 30, | December 31,
BB BETE in HK$ million Note 2011 2011 2010
] Turnover 3(a) 3,069 5,164 2,521
Hip A Other income 4 189 231 89
BERANEEER Direct costs and operating expenses (618) (968) (447)
TRER Administrative expenses (270) (512) (327)
Rt AREWEZATFE  Operating profit before change
BHN LT in fair value of investment properties 2,370 3,915 1,836
wEWE 2 AT EEM Increase in fair value of
investment properties M 964 3,349 2,297
BEtAREMEZ ATE  Operating profit after change
BN E G in fair value of investment properties 3,334 7,264 4133
HMBER Finance costs 5 (104) (93) (43)
[E(LE & RALER| Share of profits of jointly
controlled entities 13 42 98 60
BRE AR F Profit before taxation 3@) &5 3,272 7,269 4,150
IR Taxation 7(a) (536) (1,028) (502)
A EE A Profit for the period/year 2,736 6,241 3,648
FEGHER - Attributable to:
R Shareholders 23 2,516 5,792 3,418
R Non-controlling interests 24 220 449 230
2,736 6,241 3,648
SREF Earnings per share 10(a)
BEK Basic $0.56 $1.33 $0.80
] Diluted $0.56 $1.31 $0.79

IS RERM s DA B HRR 2 — 365 > The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
BRI AR R FEAG AR B EF 51 AR REQ © Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company

160

attributable to the profit for the period are set out in note 9.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

HE-ZT——F+-H=+—HIt/<{@A For the six-month period ended December 31, 2011
BZE #HE HE
—e—-5 —3—%| =z-=F
+=A=+—~H ~NA=Z+RA | TZA=+—H
1E7RfE A H+=fEA LE7~{E A
Period ended Year ended Period ended
fis=  December 31, June 30, | December 31,
BB BETE in HK$ million Note 2011 2011 2010
8/ FERA Profit for the period/year 2,736 6,241 3,648
Hih 2 EIRE Other comprehensive income 7(d)
BREGINGTBRARIRE Exchange difference arising from
EEZERER translation of overseas subsidiaries 1,651 2,726 1,352
A, EEREKGEEE  Total comprehensive income
for the period/year 4,387 8,967 5,000
EEEmkmAE ! Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
PR Shareholders 4,036 8,283 4,662
IR Non-controlling interests 351 684 348
4,387 8,967 5,000

BB RERM AT BHRERZ — 8D
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R=_Z——F+=-H=+—H At December 31, 2011

R-ZE——8F RIE—F | RZZTITF
+=H=+—H ANA=Z+H | TZA=1+—H
Mz  December 31, June 30, | December 31,
BB EE T E in HK$ million Note 2011 2011 2010
ERBEE Non-current assets
BE&E Fixed assets
REYE Investment properties 93,610 85,918 84,036
BREAIGEYE Investment properties under
development 23,613 21,624 19,056
HinEEEE Other fixed assets 217 204 176
I 117,440 107,646 103,268
BN AER Interest in jointly controlled entities 13 1,007 991 968
HibEE Other assets 14 450 865 851
ELERIEE E Deferred tax assets 20(b) 35 32 26
118,932 109,534 105,113
REEE Current assets
e RIRITER Cash and deposits with banks 15 23,732 27,202 24,565
U BR TR N oAt FE U 3k Trade and other receivables 16 1,436 1,983 348
HipEE Other assets 14 449 - _
FeEmE Properties for sale 17 6,114 5,963 5,899
31,731 35,148 30,812
nEAE Current liabilities
BITER Bank loans 18 4,700 4,500 5,600
JERTBRTN M E (bR X Trade and other payables 19 3,823 3,430 2,926
JERTREIE Taxation payable 20(a) 392 1,196 1,100
8,915 9,126 9,626
REBEETFE Net current assets 22,816 26,022 21,186
BEAERTHER Total assets less current liabilities 141,748 135,556 126,299
*RBEE Non-current liabilities
RITER Bank loans 18 16,034 12,236 6,484
RhEFR LAY Finance lease obligations 21 - 35 104
FEAEFIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 20(b) 8,696 8,361 8,039
24,730 20,632 14,627
EERE NET ASSETS 117,018 114,924 111,672
BXR Capital and reserves
AR Share capital 22 4,473 4,472 4,468
A Reserves 23 106,989 105,247 102,281
IR iR Shareholders’ equity 111,462 109,719 106,749
FEIERR Non-controlling interests 24 5,556 5,205 4,923
MRS TOTAL EQUITY 117,018 114,924 111,672
PR = 4% Philip N.L. Chen
EERKIE Managing Director
CEA=] H.C. Ho
HITESE Executive Director

M REN D AT BHRER 2 — 8D
162 ERBEERAT —T——FFH

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position

R=_Z——F+=-H=+—H At December 31, 2011

R-ZE——F RZZ—F | RZZ-ZF
+=A=+—~H ANA=Z+H | TZA=1+—H
iz December 31, June 30, | December 31,
BB EETE in HK$ million Note 2011 2011 2010
ERBEE Non-current assets
B R Interest in subsidiaries 12 62,022 63,375 44,249
RBEE Current assets
Be RIRITER Cash and deposits with banks 1 1 1
JEUER 0 M E At M K Trade and other receivables 3 2 3
4 3 4
nEAE Current liabilities
FERTBR R E At PR X Trade and other payables 18 19 7
RBEETE Net current liabilities (14) (16) @)
EEAERARBEE Total assets less current liabilities 62,008 63,359 44,246
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
AR LRIEYNGIEE] Amounts due to subsidiaries 19,217 20,987 1,739
EERE NET ASSETS 42,791 42,372 42,507
—_— — ——— ————— |
EARRHE Capital and reserves
PN Share capital 22 4,473 4,472 4,468
w1 Reserves 23 38,318 37,900 38,039
HrEn TOTAL EQUITY 42,791 42,372 42,507
PR 1% Philip N.L. Chen
EERKIE Managing Director
CEA=] H.C. Ho
HITEER Executive Director

MBREN D AT BHRER 2 — 8D

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE-T—F+=-A=+—HI1EXEA For the six-month period ended December 31, 2011

IRkER
Shareholders' equity
\ FiEfRE R
B HiEE KRR Non- BiER
Share Other  Retained % controlling Total
capital reserves profits Total interests equity
(Wk22)  (WiE23)  (Fsk2s) (Fzk24)
WERRETHE in HK$ million (Note 22)  (Note23)  (Note 23) (Note 24)
RZE—ZFtA—-H At July 1, 2010 4,159 25,922 63,024 93,105 4,682 97,787
RERET Profit for the year - - 579 5,792 449 6,241
BEEINHBATRE Exchange difference arising from
EEVERER translation of overseas subsidiaries - 2,49 - 2491 235 2726
AEE2ENGLE Total comprehensive income for the year - 2,491 5,792 8,263 684 8,967
=EERERS Final dividends in respect of previous year - - (2,252) (2,252) - (2,252)
TEERHRE Interim dividends in respect of
current year - - (760) (760) - (760)
BT Issue of shares 313 10,919 - 11,232 - 11,232
EEREER Employee share-based payments - 104 7 111 - 11
RREREC T Dividends paid to non-controling interests - - - - (B) (B)
BETPIHERERTE Repayment to non-controlling interests - - - - (156) (156)
RZE—& A=1EK At June 30, 2011 and July 1, 2011 4,472 39,436 65,811 109,719 5,205 114,924
—F—%+A-H
piN:lipayil Profit for the period - - 2516 2516 220 2,736
BEEINHBATRE Exchange difference arising from
EEVERER translation of overseas subsidiaries - 1,520 - 1520 131 1,651
rHEENGAE Total comprehensive income for the period - 1,520 2,516 4,036 351 4,387
FEERHRE Final dividends in respect of previous year = - (2,415) (2,415) = (2,415)
) Issue of shares 1 15 - 16 - 16
EEREEHR Employee share-based payments - 96 10 106 = 106
W=B——F+-A=+-H  AtDecember 31,2011 4,473 41,067 65,922 111,462 5,556 117,018

SR M DA BIRER Z — 8D ©

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

HE-ZT——F+-H=+—HIt/<{@A For the six-month period ended December 31, 2011

Bz-E—-% BHEZT—F BEZT-TF
+-A=t+-H ~A=TH +-A=t-H
IEAMEA It+=faA IE~EA
s Period ended Year ended Period ended
NEEBETTE in HK$ million Note  December 31, 2011 June 30, 2011 December 31, 2010
£eE Operating activities
RELEEK TS Cash generated from operations % 2,213 4,507 2,99
BRI Tax paid
BNEEFEH Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (1,048) (235) (235)
2R ERER China Income Tax paid (164) (399) (138)
RELEEB REFHE Net cash generated from
operating activities 1,001 3873 2,621
REED Investing activities
BEETEE Payment for fixed assets (6,952) (6,316) (3,497)
HEETEEMGIE Sale proceeds from disposals of
fixed assets 3 1 -
BERZIHHAKE Purchase of held-to-maturity investments (13) (827) (827)
BUHE Interest received 170 206 43
BRAZLRRE Dividends received from jointly
controlled entities 18 36 9
AEDAER Repayment from jointly controlled entities 8 5 17
EEMBREREER Repayment of advances to
unlisted investments 1 1 1
R={EAZIEMERT Decrease/(Increase) in bank deposits with
BR2RS /(Em) maturity greater than three months 3,069 (7,404) (5,850)
RRREED < REFE Net cash used in investing activities (3,696) (14,298) 10,104)
BEED Financing activities
TEROERMGTRE Proceeds from new bank loans 3,903 11,743 5,629
BERTER Repayment of bank loans - (1,480) -
TR BTG 2R Proceeds from exercise of share options 16 336 282
RERNHEIE Proceeds from placement of shares = 10,896 10,896
ENFIEREMEEER Interest and other borrowing costs paid (164) (255) (97)
BRRERNER Finance lease charges paid (5) (17) 9
ERRE Dividends paid (2,415) (3012) (2,252)
BRI ERR Dividends paid to non-controlling interests - (5) (4)
Bigsrm $f'§ﬁ§?ﬂ1§ Repayment to non-controlling interests = (156) (103)
RERDZERT R Capital element of finance lease (64) (119) 57)
REMEEB REFHE Net cash generated from
financing activities 12711 17,931 14,285
ﬁﬁ&ﬁ%é‘ﬂ“ ) (Decrease)/Increase in cash and
B)/ & cash equivalents (1,424) 7,506 6,802
Eﬁﬁiﬂ E7 Effect of foreign exchange rate change 838 757 378
WEA-AZEER Cash and cash equivalents at July 1 19,798 11,535 11,535
REZEY
M+=A=1+-8/~A=1A Cash and cash equivalents at
ZBERREEEN December 31/June 30 15 19,212 19,798 18715

ATERAR M ETI A R 2 — 887
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(LA A E41) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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1 CHANGE OF FINANCIALYEAR END DATE

Pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Company
dated November 27 2011, the Company's financial year end date
has been changed from June 30 to December 31. The change is to
align with the financial year end date of the Company with that of
its subsidiaries established in mainland China, the financial results
of which are consolidated into its consolidated financial statements
each year, and their financial statements are statutorily required to
be closed with the financial year end date of December 31.

As a result of the change in financial year end date, the current
financial period covers a sixmonth period from July 1, 2011 to
December 31, 2011 (the “period ended December 31, 2011"),
and the comparative figures in these financial statements covers
a twelve-month period from July 1, 2010 to June 30, 2011 (the
“year ended June 30, 2011"). As the comparative figures are not
comparable with those of current period, financial information for
the sixmonth period from July 1, 2010 to December 31, 2010 (the
“period ended December 31, 2010"), prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”), has been
disclosed for the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of financial position, the statement of financial position, the
consolidated cash flow statement and certain selected notes to
enhance comparability.

2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable HKFRSs, which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A summary of the principal
accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

BELEFRIE — T —FFH



2 FEESHEE®

(a) EHIZEH @
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a) Statement of compliance (Continued)

The HKICPA issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. These new and revised
HKFRSs have no significant impact on the financial statements of
the Group for the period ended December 31, 2011 and the year
ended June 30, 2011.

The Group has not applied any new standards, amendments or
interpretations that is not yet effective for the current accounting
period (note 33).

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the period ended
December 31, 2011 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) and the Group's interest in
jointly controlled entities.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except as otherwise stated in
the accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of HKFRSs that
have significant effect on the financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 31.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(¢c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists
when the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity, so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are
exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions
and any unrealized profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealized losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of the net assets
of subsidiaries attributable to interests that are not owned by the
Company, whether directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with
the holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position within equity, separately from equity attributable to the
equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the period between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions,
whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controller and
non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect
the changes in relative interest, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognized.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(¢c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
recognized at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly
controlled entity.

In the Company's statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses (note 2(j).

(d) Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is an entity which operates under a
contractual arrangement between the Group or the Company and
other parties, where the contractual arrangement establishes that
the Group or the Company and one or more of the other parties
share joint control over the economic activity of the entity.

The Group's interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements under the equity method
and are initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the
post-acquisition change in the Group's share of the jointly controlled
entities’ net assets. The consolidated income statement includes the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the jointly
controlled entities for the period, whereas the Group's share of the
post-acquisition, post-tax items of the jointly controlled entities” other
comprehensive income is recognized in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in the
jointly controlled entity, the Group's interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the jointly controlled entity. For this purpose,
the Group's interest in the jointly controlled entity is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method together with
the Group's long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group's net investment in the jointly controlled entity.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Jointly controlled entities (Continued)

Unrealized profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its jointly controlled entities are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled entity, except
where unrealized losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred, in which case they are recognized immediately in
profit or loss.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in
jointly controlled entities are stated at cost less impairment losses
(note 2(j).

(e) Goodwiill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business
combination over the Group's share of the fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses and
is tested regularly for impairment (note 2(j)).

Any excess of the Group's interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of
a business combination is recognized immediately in profit or loss as
a gain on a bargain purchase.

On disposal of an entity, any attributable amount of purchased
goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on
disposal.

(f) Properties
1. Investment properties and investment properties under
development

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest to earn rental income and/or
for capital appreciation. These include land held for a currently
undetermined future use and property that is being constructed or
developed for future use as investment property.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f) Properties (Continued)

Investment properties and investment properties under
development (Continued)

=

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the reporting date
and their fair value cannot be reliably determined at that time. Any
gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from the retirement
or disposal of an investment property is recognized in profit or
loss. Rental income from investment properties is accounted for as
described in note 2(q).

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating lease
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, the interest
is classified and accounted for as an investment property on a
property-by-property basis. Any such property interest which has
been classified as an investment property is accounted for as if it
were held under a finance lease, and the same accounting policies
are applied to that interest as are applied to other investment
properties leased under finance leases. Lease payments are
accounted for as described in note 2(g).

2. Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale are classified under current
assets and stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs
include the acquisition cost of land, aggregate cost of development,
borrowing costs capitalized (note 2(o)) and other direct expenses.
Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price less
estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in selling the

property.

3. Completed propetrties for sale

Completed properties for sale are classified under current assets
and stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is
determined by apportionment of the total development costs,
including borrowing costs capitalized (note 2(0)), attributable to
unsold properties. Net realizable value represents the estimated
selling price as determined by reference to management estimates
based on prevailing market conditions, less costs to be incurred in
selling the property.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Other fixed assets

1. Other fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses (note 2(j)). Gains or
losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of
other fixed assets are determined as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item
and are recognized in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

2. Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions,
is or contains a lease if the Group determines that the arrangement
conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed
period of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such
a determination is made based on an evaluation of the substance
of the arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement
takes the legal form of a lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

The classification is determined based on an evaluation of the
substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether the
arrangement takes the legal form of a lease. Leases of assets under
which the lessee assumes substantially all the risks and benefits
of ownership are classified as finance leases. Leases of assets
under which the lessor has not transferred all the risks and benefits
of ownership are classified as operating leases, with the following
exceptions:

—  property held under operating leases that would otherwise
meet the definition of an investment property is classified as
an investment property on a property-by-property basis and is
accounted for as if held under a finance lease; and

- land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair value
of which cannot be measured separately from the fair value
of a building situated thereon at the inception of the lease, is
accounted for as being held under a finance lease, unless the
building is also clearly held under an operating lease. For these
purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that the lease
was first entered into by the Group, or taken over from the
previous lessee.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Other fixed assets (Continued)

2. Leased assets (Continued)

(i) Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance leases,
the amounts representing the fair value of the leased asset, or, if
lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, of such
assets are included in fixed assets and the corresponding liabilities,
net of finance charges, are recorded as obligations under finance
leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which write off the cost or
valuation of the assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where
it is likely the Company or the Group will obtain ownership of the
asset, the life of the asset, as set out in note 2(h). Finance charges
implicit in the lease payments are charged to profit or loss over the
period of the leases so as to produce an approximately constant
periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations
for each accounting period. Contingent rentals are written off as an
expense of the accounting period in which they are incurred.

(i) Operating leases charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases,
payments made under the leases are charged to profit or loss in
equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease
incentives received are recognized in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rentals are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

(h) Depreciation

1. Investment properties

No depreciation is provided for investment properties and
investment properties under development.

2.  Other fixed assets

Depreciation on other fixed assets is calculated to write off the cost,

less their estimated residual value, if any, on a straight line basis

over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 50 years or unexpired lease term,
whichever is shorter

Furniture and equipment 4-20 years

Motor vehicles 5 years
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity which the
Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to
maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are initially recognized in the
statement of financial position at fair value plus transaction costs and
subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment loss. Any impairment loss is
recognized in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the
asset is impaired (note 2(j)).

Investments are recognized/derecognized on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investments or they expire.

(j) Impairment of assets

An assessment is carried out at each reporting date to determine
whether there is objective evidence that a current or non-current
asset, other than properties carried at revalued amounts, is impaired.

If any such indication exists, any impairment loss is determined and
recognized as follows:

= For current receivables carried at amortized cost, the
impairment loss is recognized when there is objective evidence
of impairment and measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset's original
effective rate where the effect of discounting is material.
Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data that
comes to the attention of the Group about events that have
an impact on the asset's estimated future cash flows such as
significant financial difficulty of the debtor. If in a subsequent
period the amount of impairment loss decreases, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognized in prior years.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (Continued)

—  For other non-current assets, the recoverable amount is the
greater of its net selling price and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is recognized
as an expense in profit or loss whenever the carrying amount
exceeds the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favorable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount. A reversal of
impairment losses is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognized in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognized. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

(k) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognized at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortized cost less impairment losses for bad
and doubtful debts (note 2(j)), except where the receivables are
interest-free loans or the effect of discounting would be immaterial.
In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment
losses for bad and doubtful debts (note 2(j)).

(I) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortized cost unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(n) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognized initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortized cost with any
difference between costs and redemption value being recognized in
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

(o) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalization of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are in progress. Capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying assets for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities

1. Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the
guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the beneficiary
of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because
a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance
with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Company issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of
the guarantee (being the transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially recognized as deferred
income within trade and other payables. \Where consideration
is received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognized in accordance with the Company’s
policies applicable to that category of asset. When no such
consideration is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognized in profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred
income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognized as deferred income
is amortized in profit or loss over the term of the guarantee as
income from financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions
are recognized in accordance with note 2(p)(2) if and when (i) it
becomes probable that the holder of guarantee will call upon the
Company under the guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that claim on
the Company is expected to exceed the amount currently carried in
trade and other payables in respect of that guarantee i.e. the amount
initially recognized, less accumulated amortization.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities (Continued)

2.  Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing or

amount when the Group or the Company has a legal or constructive

obligation arising as a result of past event, it is probable that an

outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation

and a reliable estimate can be made. When the time value of the

money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

(q) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, revenue is recognized in profit or loss as follows:

1. Sale of properties

Revenue from sale of completed properties is recognized upon the
later of the signing of sale and purchase agreements or the issue
of occupation permit by the relevant government authorities, which
is taken to be the point in time when the risks and rewards of
ownership of the property have passed to the buyer.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q) Revenue recognition (Continued)

2. Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognized on a straight
line basis over the terms of the respective leases, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives
granted are recognized in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payment receivable. Contingent rentals are
recognized as income in the accounting period in which they are
earned.

3.  Interest income
Interest income is recognized as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

4. Dividends
Dividends are recognized when the right to receive payment is
established.

(r) Taxation

Income tax for the period comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognized in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r) Taxation (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can
be utilized, are recognized. The limited exceptions to recognition of
deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes and the initial
recognition of assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profits, and temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the
Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case
of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse
in the future.

When investment properties and investment properties under
development are carried at their fair value in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2(f)(1), the amount of deferred tax
recognized is measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale
of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting date unless
the property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time, rather than through
sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognized
is measured based on the expected manner of realization or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each
reporting date and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilized. Any such reduction is reversed to
the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends

are recognized when the liability to pay the related dividends is
recognized.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Translation of foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group
are measured using the currency that best reflects the economic
substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to
the entity (“functional currency”). The financial statements of the
Group are presented in Hong Kong dollars.

Foreign currency transactions during the period are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the reporting date. Exchange
gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rate ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at
fair values are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates the fair value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated in Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position
items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the reporting date. The resulting exchange differences
are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognized.

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011 181



W% i 2% Kk
Notes to the Financial Statements

2 FESHBEEX @

(t) BEEAL

1. {HBIATRNAL  BlsZ ALz A
TRERZYNKEKEHAEES
B

(i) fEHlsEEIEHIAERE ;

(i) HAREEEERFE S

(i) AAEEXAEBEGRAZEEE
BEAE °

2. HFAFE THMEMGEG - BB
REBBRE

(i) ZERBEASEBR-—SBEIZKE
AR (AIEEFAR - WBARKE
A BRRFEILEEEE) -

(il —HERRS —ERMNEZ QAN
EELE (B —EBRKERTF]
ZEBETHKE QAR 2B E RE)K
AEhE) -

(i) MEERBHERRE—
% o

ivy " HEBARE-FEBMNEGZED
X mME—ERRZE=-FEREAR
B A% N E] o

(v) ZEBAASENEASEGRHE
2 EREE M SR ABEBETR
FTaEl -

(vi) ZERBXIR2001

R o

K20t ey A T ¥ % B 48

BEAMENABZER (KZE

MERA]) TEEEEKE °

)P st B A 1 422 I

(vii)

i } kn
i

ﬁ

,\E%\ifﬁ%?tﬂE’J%F}ﬂ‘z%%#ﬁﬁﬂﬁ
EERETR K BHAgEer e
:Z}\iriizzj\i%ﬁ“ﬁ’]%ﬁﬁx,a °

(u) ZHHE

REDBNE2FRHALBREHRTAEEN
REATEEBHREDEER - 7
ZRER B T B S A% Skt I 0 R R R IR T AR
HjE’JW*BHM‘M&tt B L EERM
A2y R AT — AR Z AL E D
#B (% F 0w A A AR LA &S
ERERBENMEEMAI TEH)  HE
- E 2D ab (AN BER R ER

EBEWE) AKX -

oif

182

(iii)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties
A person, or a close member of that person's family, is related
to the Group if that person:

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or the Group's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

The entity and the Group are members of the same Group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary
is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a Group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in note 2(t)(1).

A person identified in note 2(t)(1)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

(u)

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the Group’s internal financial reporting to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of the Group's various lines
of business and geographical locations. For disclosure purpose,
a reportable segment comprises either one or more operating
segments which can be aggregated together because they share
similar economic characteristics and nature of the regulatory
environment, or single operating segments which are disclosable
separately because they cannot be aggregated or they exceed
quantitative thresholds.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v) Employee benefits
1. Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement schemes

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, the cost of
non-monetary benefits and obligation for contributions to defined
contribution retirement schemes, including those payables in
mainland China and Hong Kong under relevant legislation, are
accrued in the period in which the associated services are rendered
by employees of the Group.

2.  Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is measured at
grant date, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted, and is expensed on a straight line basis
over the vesting period taking into account the probability that the
options will vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (employee
share-based compensation reserve).

During the vesting period, the number of share options that
is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to
the cumulative fair value recognized in prior years is charged/
credited to profit or loss for the period of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset,
with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-based
compensation reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognized as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-based
compensation reserve).

At the time when the share options are exercised, the related
employee share-based compensation reserve is transferred to share
capital and share premium, together with the exercise price. If the
options expire or lapse after the vesting period, the related employee
share-based compensation reserve is transferred directly to retained
profits.

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011 183



B % & MRk
Notes to the Financial Statements

3 EXBERIBEHR

R EIRE Y RIS RERNIEER
EEEEE - EREDRE=ARNR
MEED BT BRARDBEAR - =
5 %5 3R B R E A Y%A
& REBOYEHBE -

MERESLRIEMEHRELE - ~N§
Bz RENEAESTEBEMRBEER
PRAKESE  BFE - X BB
ANEBAREES MEHES>TREFE
BEHEEAEEMNREBZHEWE -

B B BAREER B A S A K AF SR
3 o

DHEETEBREERBRERED N
RRERBEELRBEE  EAERQ
AL HMWEE BEXEWBEEENR
& RBITFEREIN - DMEEBRBEAR

FEIFRZIREYE 15’\* i A I A

BREREME 2 ATHER

184

3 TURNOVERAND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses according to the nature of
services and products provided. Management has determined three
reportable operating segments for the measurement of performance
and the allocation of resources. The segments are property leasing
in Hong Kong and mainland China and property sales in Hong Kong.

Property leasing segment includes property leasing operation. The
Group’s investment properties portfolio, which mainly consists
of retail, office, residential, serviced apartments and carparks are
primarily located in Hong Kong and mainland China. Property sales
segment includes development and sale of the Group’s trading
properties in Hong Kong.

Management evaluates performance primarily based on profit before
taxation.

Segment assets principally comprise all non-current assets and
current assets directly attributable to each segment with the
exception of interest in jointly controlled entities, other assets,
deferred tax assets and cash and deposits with banks. The
investment properties of the Group are included in segment assets
at their fair values whilst the change in fair value of investment
properties is not included in segment profits.
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3 TURNOVERAND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a) DHEXEFRES (a) Tumover and results by segments
EXE Bianaf|
Turnover Profit before taxation
Bz Bz #z Bz ) )
“E-f ZE—%| 5% &5--f T—%| %%
+ZA=+-RB A~A=tR |ftZA=t-A [f=A=+-R ~A=1B |ftZA=t-H
t~ER =R L7 EA E~ER T =fEA flopy i)
Period ended Yearended | Periodended | Period ended  Yearended | Period ended
December 31, June 30, | December 31, | December 31, June 30, | December 31,
WA RETHE in HKS miion 2011 201 2010 2011 2011 2010
pak| Segment
NERE Property leasing
-&% - Hong Kong 1,483 2.822 1,387 1,229 2332 1,143
—RElRH - Mainland China 1,393 2,339 1131 1,072 1,862 929
2,876 5,161 2518 2,301 419 2072
nEHEE Property sales
- B - Hong Kong 193 3 3 150 2 2
Nijes Segment total 3,069 b,164 2521 2,451 41% 2,074
L0 ON Other income 189 231 89
THEE () Administrative expenses (Note) (270) (612) (327)
Rt ANRENEZATE Operating profit before change in fair value
2amaLat of investment properties 2,370 3915 1836
RENEZDTEEN Increase in fair value of investment
properties 964 3,349 2297
-RERIMERE - property leasing in Hong Kong 688 2,49 1,839
-RHER NERE - property leasing in mainland China 276 853 458
YRER Finance costs (104) 93) 43)
Nt Share of profits of jointly controlled
entities 42 9% 60
S INavil Profit before taxation 3212 7269 4150

Mz : TRERRERERA—EZT BT (=%

T/ ——FE: - F BT T
T ATABET) - BERAAETREW
ROBEASBEN 2 AT EOBH - AEE
RABUEER SR -
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Note: Administrative expenses included share-based payments of $106 million (2010/11: $111

million; 2010: $66 million) representing the amortization of the fair value of options granted
to employees over the vesting period and do not involve any cash outflow for the Group.
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(b) PHBEE

(b) Total assets by segments

3 TURNOVERAND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

BEE
Total assets
R-B——F RIZE—F | RZT-ITF
+=H=+-—H ANA=+H | TZA=1+—~
December 31, June 30, December 31,
NEWB BT in HK$ million 20m 2011 2010
Vik: Segment
WEHRE Property leasing
- &5 - Hong Kong 54,355 53,633 52,849
— BRI - Mainland China 64,476 55,993 50,748
118,831 109,626 103,697
MEHE Property sales
- &% - Hong Kong 6,159 5,966 5,918
DEbiEEE Segment total 124,990 115,592 109,515
BENAER Interest in jointly controlled entities 1,007 991 968
HiEE Other assets 899 865 851
RIERIBEE Deferred tax assets 35 32 26
e RIRITIFR Cash and deposits with banks 23,732 27,202 24,565
WwEE Total assets 150,663 144,682 135,925
4 HWA 4 OTHER INCOME
&=
Group
BE BHE BHE
—E——fF —E——F —E-TF
+=A=+-—H ~A=+H | TZA=+—H
IEAEA IE+=@A 1E7~{EA
Period ended Year ended | Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
BB BETE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
RITFIBUA Bank interest income 168 209 77
FELTHEZFIHARENMEWA  Interest income from unlisted
held-to-maturity investments 10 " 2
FEX (B18),/ W F5E Net exchange (loss)/gain (1) 11 10
Hth Others 12 _ _
189 231 89
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5 PBREBANER 5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
@
&=
Group
8ZE HE HE
—E——fF —E——F ZE-TF
+=A=+—~H AA=+H | TZA=+—H
1EXEA =184 1E7NEA
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
NABAETHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
B A& M E kR T 5 &IA - Profit before taxation is arrived at
after charging:
ARRFENEEZIRITER Interest on bank loans and
REAMBEZFE other borrowings repayable
within 5 years 117 127 64
BERTEBEEZIRTEZFE  Interest on bank loans repayable
over 5 years 67 69 12
BMEMNER Finance lease charges 5 17 9
HibfFER A Other borrowing costs 12 32 14
BB A Az Total borrowing costs 201 245 99
o BERAEAY () Less: Borrowing costs capitalized (Note) (97) (152) (56)
B Finance costs 104 93 43
SHEWERAN Cost of properties sold 16 - -
BINA  BiEREEREER Staff costs, including employee
—BZ EET share-based payments of
(=B / —FF: $106 million (2010/11: $111 million;
—E—F—BEBx: 2010: $66 million) 404 736 430
—E-2F . XTREET)
e Depreciation 15 24 9
SEMRNER  pEIAES Operating lease charges, including
—T-EET contingent rentals of $12 million
(=8 /——&FF (2010/11: $25 million;
ZFREET 2010: $13 million) 56 113 56
“T-TF: —T=BET)
ZERR BN & Auditors’ remuneration
— R - audit services 4 6 3
— B R H A AR — tax and other services 3 3 1
WEETA and after crediting:
REYEZ RS WALRE - Gross rental income from
EfREEIHARETR investment properties less direct
BET (2T /—FE: outgoings of $575 million
NEATEEERL (2010/11: $967 million;
—ZT-TF: 2010: $446 million), including
MENFREET)  BFE%A  contingent rentals of $176 million
He—EBtTEET (2010/11: $310 million;
(=% /—FE: 2010: $147 million) 2,301 4,194 2,072
=E—T&rx: ZT—TF:
—ENTFtEEL)
®
Mt : REFYEZEERACREFEEND 2 %=  Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalized at an average rate of 2.2% (2010/11: 1.8%;
(=2 %/ ——FE - BHZHBN: =% 2010: 1.5%) per annum for properties under development.
—ZE Aoz —HhH) 2FHRERE -
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6 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists of five
Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Committee makes
recommendation to the Board on the Directors’ remuneration
packages and terms of employment. The emoluments of Directors
are determined by the scope of responsibility and accountability,
and individual performance of directors, taking into consideration of
the Company’s performance and profitability, market practice and
prevailing business conditions.

(a) EEENE (a) Directors’ emoluments
EEZMEFNNWT Details of directors” emoluments are summarized below:
S Y
e 20K FEEHRK ZB—-f —2—F
WABEETHE in HKS million ENFle SiElZHR T=A=+-B  A~A=TA
Salaries, Group's 1975 )2 R g o
allowances B4 contributions Period ended  Year ended
#%  andbenefits  Discretionary  toretirement December 31, June 30,
jiZa Name Fees in kind bonuses scheme 2011 2011
HTES Executive Directors
R Ronnie C. Chan 0.2 1.0 45 11 16.8 314
R Philip N.L. Chen 0.1 103 40 05 14.9 265
ek} William P.Y. Ko 0.1 47 2.0 0b 13 139
T Henry T.Y. Yiu 0.1 30 1.5 0.3 49 9.2
EE H.C. Ho 0.1 2.1 12 0.1 35 48
FHTES Non-Executive Director
7ER Nelson W.L. Yuen
(RZE— (Appointed on March 15, 2011) 0.1 - - - 0.1 0.1
“AtHREZRA)
BUkHTES Independent
Non-Executive Directors
RHE S.S. Yin 0.1 - - - 0.1 0.2
EEE Ronald J. Arcull 02 - - - 0.2 03
e H.. Cheng 0.2 - - - 0.2 04
Fpgkfs Laura L.Y. Chen 0.2 - - - 0.2 03
BiE PW. Liu 0.2 - - - 0.2 04
e Dominic C.F. Ho 0.2 - - - 0.2 03
HES Ex-Directors
RER Nelson W.L. Yuen
(RZE-ZF (Retired as executive director on
+A+TEAER) July 14, 2010) - - - - - 08
Rin Terry S. Ng
(RZE-2F [Resigned on July 21, 2010) - - - - _ 06
tAZ+—HET)
=8——F+=A=1—A December 31,2011 18 3.1 132 25 486 89.2
“E——F A=1H June 30, 2011 31 59.3 220 48 89.2

188

EELEFRIE — T —FFH



6 EERIEESEHALL

& o

(b) EEREHFALTZHME

EhE&eHALFR 28 (2T~
T/ ——FE: 280 RARRESE
5% 5 2 Bl & 70 B 5£6(a) B P 7£28(b)

E;go

(c) BRALBESN -

BT EE28(b) #KER -

(d) B=2=ZT—F+=A=+—81 ()
NEAAR—ZE—FA=THIE
+Z@A  BEMLAEERER
THA B X N RIBE R BB (E

REREMBAREE -

7 HEWRmERAZBIE

(a) #EBBERAZHEAS

ETEZEMEER (c)
BARRREZKEIERARERS
EAR QR B A S ER T
P fn BAtE - NRBER A 2 Mo BitE

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments

6 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, all (2010/11: all)
are directors of the Company whose emoluments are disclosed in
note 6(a) and note 28(b).

In addition to the above emoluments, certain directors and
employees were granted share options under the share option
schemes of the Company and its ultimate holding company,
Hang Lung Group Limited. Details of the share options granted

by the Company to the individuals are disclosed in note 28(b).

During the period ended December 31, 2011 and the year
ended June 30, 2011, there were no amounts paid to directors
and senior executives above for compensation of loss of office
and inducement for joining the Group.

7 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME

STATEMENT

(a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement represents:

B
Group
BZE BHE HE
8- —F—F| =-F-TF
+=A=+—H ANA=Z+H | TZA=1+—H
LERER IF+=EA LE7~{E A
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
NABAETAE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
INEFIIE Current tax
BERMEH Hong Kong Profits Tax 184 257 110
BEEEREY (%18),/ 42 (Oven/Under-provision in prior years (2) 1 1
182 258 111
PEIFTIS TR China Income Tax 226 440 230
408 698 341
ERERIA Deferred tax
BEME s NFER Change in fair value of
investment properties 69 213 115
HihRE kBB =5 Other origination and reversal
of temporary differences 59 117 46
&7 (FIFE20(b)) Total (Note 20(b)) 128 330 161
FiIES HaasT Total income tax expense 536 1,028 502
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7 HZEAEWBRAZBIE @
(a) GEWSRAZTIELS @ (#)

ERNSHBEREB HIZRBRZ G
JERTREMABDZ T MR (ZF—
T/ ——FEE BHOZTAERE: _F
—ZF:BHZ2+ABA)HE - EH
FIBMEBATECEMEHREESZ
—tR (2T ——FE BHZ
“t+hH: ZE-ZEF BHHZ_TH)
AERTPETERAGRIZERBMEG
o BARRAKRPRANM ZINFRE
TCEERNH ST NF—H—BREAL
ZBFFTREZREHYEZB D 2B
WNTBIRFTIS R ©

(b) BE—"T——F+_-_A=+—HB1It
NERZEEAERFIRENAS
T(ZE-F/ ——%E: tHE
T ZE-FF  UHET) Bt
ABIERERBENA -

(c) UK it SRR Bt A R DUB AR Bt 36
St 2B -

7 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT (Continued)
(a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement represents:
(Continued)
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2010/11:
16.5%; 2010: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the
period/year. China Income Tax mainly represents China Corporate
Income Tax calculated at 25% (2010/11: 25%; 2010: 25%) and China
withholding income tax at the applicable rates. A withholding tax of
5% is levied on the Hong Kong companies in respect of dividend
distributions arising from profits of foreign investment enterprises in
mainland China earned after January 1, 2008.

(b) Share of jointly controlled entities’ taxation for the period ended
December 31, 2011 of $4 million (2010/11: $7 million; 2010: $4
million) is included in the share of profits of jointly controlled
entities.

(c) Reconciliation between actual tax expense and profit before
taxation at applicable tax rates:

&5
Group
S BZE BHE
—B——-F —E——F —E-TE
+=ZA=+—~H ~NA=+H | tZA=+—H
EREA =184 1E75ME A
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, | December 31,
BB BETHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
BREE A& A Profit before taxation 3,272 7,269 4,150
ERRANEFAEHAKRZETE  Tax on profit before taxation at
Z B applicable rates 678 1,475 839
FEERTRUNA 7 FiTB R & Tax effect of non-taxable income (117) (452) (328)
FER 2 R E Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 14 35 16
BERAHBEERE D Tax effect of tax losses utilized
MRS EZE 7 FES2  and other deductible temporary differences (50) (74) 66)
KERZRBEBZRIBFZ  Tax effect of unrecognized tax losses 13 43 40
BAFEEE Y (%18),/ P48 (Over/Under-provision in prior years (2) 1 1
BRFIES Actual tax expense 536 1,028 502

(d) HB/FR EEGE2EKETAH
THIHEBOEREZE -
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(d) There is no tax effect relating to the component of the other
comprehensive income for the period/year.
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8 MEE/LAR 8 NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS
PR EMARNBIEARARTBEHREA  Net profit attributable to shareholders includes a profit of $2,712
2w+ tE—TFT=—a&8;x (=ZZ— milion (2010/11: $558 million) which has been dealt with in the
T/ ——FE:ABATN\EET) ° financial statements of the Company.

9 KRE 9 DIVIDENDS
(a) &H "FERE (a) Dividends attributable to the period/year
BZE HE BHE
—E2——F —E——F —ETF
+ZB=+—H ~NA=+H | TZA=1+—H
LEREAR F+=fEA 1A A
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
AR ETHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
BEEMREIREFHRE Interim dividend declared and paid of
B (-8 /—%E: $Nil cent (2010/11: 17 cents) per share - 760 760
SR
REE B R ER RIS, Final dividend of 36 cents
BR=1t (=22 / (2010/11: 54 cents) per share
——%FE  Fmil) proposed after the reporting date 1,610 2,415 -
1,610 3,175 760

NEE B BER 2 REIIRE - WERER  The final dividend proposed after the reporting date has not been
BEERZAE- recognized as a liability at the reporting date.

(b) BE-_Z—F X XA=TAHIEE (b) The final dividend of $2,415 million for the year ended June 30,

Z_THHE—FTHESTRBERE 2011 was approved and paid in the period ended December 31,
R-_E——F+_-_A=+—HItH 2011 (2010/11: $2,252 million).

B ENRRE (ZE—F  ——4F
E:Zt+tZEBRAT-AS&T) °
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10 BRAEF 10 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) BREARNESAHT LA TEYE (a) The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based
ETE on the following data:
L
HE #HE HE
—B——F T 25
+=-A=+—H AA=+H | T=ZA=+—H
ERER IH={EA LE~EA
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
EBRETHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
AT ESRER LS ERF) Earnings for calculation of basic and
ZBF (B R e 4L F]) diluted earnings per share (net profit
attributable to shareholders) 2,516 5,792 3,418
o
@
Bringr B
Number of shares
BZE BHE BHE
—E——F 25 —ETF
+ZHB=+—H AA=+H | TZA=+—H
LERER IF+={EA 1E7~E A
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
NBEREE in million 2011 2011 2010
RUTE SR EARRF 2 &K Weighted average number of shares used
IEEFIE in calculating basic earnings per share 4,472 4,360 4,252
EBEER 2 BERD ZEE Effect of dilutive potential shares
— f&in HasE — share options 13 63 61
BT ESREE AT 2 BH Weighted average number of shares used
D8 in calculating diluted earnings per share 4,485 4,423 4313
o
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10 BREF @

(b) BREEERLH (TEEREY (b)
EREEZS - WHRBBEREN
TR OFRRAERS) <FtEWT

10 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

The underlying net profit attributable to shareholders which
excluded changes in fair value of investment properties net of
related deferred tax and non-controlling interests, is calculated

as follows:
BE BE BHE
—B——F —F—F —T-TF
+=ZA=+—H ~NA=+H | +=ZA=+—H
EREA E+=f@A 1R EA
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, | December 31,
BB BEBIHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
P& SR AR 45 R Net profit attributable to shareholders 2,516 5,792 3,418
REMEZ NEEF T E Effect of changes in fair value of
investment properties (964) (3,349) (2,297)
HERELHRIE Z 2 Effect of corresponding deferred tax 69 213 115
BERARIREYEC NTHE Effect of change in fair value of
BEgrEE investment properties of
jointly controlled entities (20) (58) (40)
(915) (3,194) (2,222)
FEE R RS Non-controlling interests 49 143 79
(866) (3,051) (2,143)
iS¢ B P A A0 ) Underlying net profit attributable to
shareholders 1,650 2,741 1,275

R REEERAENARE 2 EFREM  The earnings per share based on underlying net profit attributable to

V= shareholders are:

@

BE BHE BE

—E——F T —Z-TF

+=HA=+-H ANA=+RH [+tZA=+—H

ER{EA E+=fE8AR 17 fE A

Period ended Year ended Period ended

December 31, June 30, | December 31,

2011 2011 2010

ESN Basic $0.37 $0.63 $0.30

b Diluted $0.37 $0.62 $0.30
o
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11 BEEE - 58 11 FIXED ASSETS - GROUP
BRAPILENE
Investment
REYZ properties
Investment under Hitb B
A RETtE in HK$ million properties  development Others Total
PRANESEME - Cost or valuation:
R-Z—-ZF+A—H At July 1, 2010 80,965 15,326 216 96,507
I Exchange adjustment 1,484 750 3 2,237
HE Additions 161 5,407 62 5,630
HE Disposals - - (2) (2)
ATEE Increase in fair value 3,308 41 - 3,349
RZE—F A=THK At June 30, 2011 and
—Z—4%+H-H July 1, 2011 85,918 21,524 279 107,721
[E 5 Exchange adjustment 909 494 2 1,405
NE Additions 104 7.310 29 7,443
HE Disposals - - (6) 6)
NE(EI Increase in fair value 956 8 - 964
®A/(EY) Transfer 5,723 (5,723) - -
W-ZE——H+Z-H=+—H At December 31, 2011 93,610 23,613 304 117,527
ZEITE Accumulated depreciation:
RZZ—TF+A—H At July 1, 2010 - - 53 53
AEENE Charge for the year - - 24 24
EHERE Written back on disposals - - 2) 2)
RZE——F A=Z+HR At June 30, 2011 and
—T—%+A-H July 1, 2011 - - 75 75
KEME Charge for the period - - 15 15
A ERE Written back on disposals - - 3) 3)
R=ZB——%+tZA=+-H AtDecember 31,2011 ~ - 87 87
RmEE: Net book value;
WR-ZE——H+=-H=+—H At December 31, 2011 93,610 23,613 217 117,440
RZE—%XA=1H At June 30, 2011 85,918 21,524 204 107,646
B EE 2R AE Cost or valuation of the fixed assets
fAENT : is made up as follows:
—E2——%F+-A=+—H: December 31, 2011:
&E Valuation 93,610 23,613 - 117,223
RAE Cost = = 304 304
93,610 23,613 304 117,527
“E——F A=1A: June 30, 2011:
fh1E Valuation 85,918 21,524 - 107,442
RAE Cost - - 279 279
85,918 21,524 279 107,721
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11 EEEE - % (#®) 11 FIXED ASSETS — GROUP (continued)
Y ZREFES AT An analysis of net book value of properties is as follows:
ERTRENE
REME Investment properties
Investment properties under development

R-B—-F RZE—F | RNZE-BE| RIB--F§ RIE—F | RIZ-E2f£
TZA=t-A ~A=tH | TZA=+-A | t=B=1+-A ~A=TR | TZA=1-H
December 31, June 30, | December31, | December 31, June 30, | December 31,
IWEBBETHE  inHKS millon 2011 2011 2010 M 2011 2010
EAREMZ Long leases in Hong Kong 34417 33,889 33418 - - -
FEFIMRENZ  Long leases outside Hong Kong - - - 760 3,348 3,118
B Medium term leases in Hong Kong 19,646 19,424 19,115 - - -
EEENRENZ  Medium term leases outside Hong Kong 39,544 32,584 31,461 22,853 18,176 15,938
EAEEmR Short lease in Hong Kong 3 21 42 - - -
93,610 85,918 84,036 23,613 21,524 19,056

(a)

AREE 2 REMPERBERFED
EOR_—_FT——F+-_A=+—H
B 5 — A PR A E N FXER
BERARZEMBEXAEE (EX
RE) REBEEERMSEEEE
EITEE -

B FRN REBEEREYE
MEBERPIKEMEZ AFEEMN
BATHAET (- //——
FE:=4+=EBONTHhEET:
—E-ZFTF:_F+_EBhLTtA
Er) EReERSERAM s 3
EhWENEENESET (ZT—
T2/ ——FE - NT—BBTT:
—ET-TFE:=FHEET) °

AEBKEYMH 2 RKEFENRTRE
BIEMEENFEAE 2EE  HEEE
FEARTNAENTREET (=
TZ——FXA=+H: A+t \EL
FThE8r: _E—FF+_A=
+—B:BA+\EETN\BEL) °

AEBHEMBEFTEEZRMFEER
FURBBARBMEZEG 2 it
rEEY—FTHEET (ZT——
FRNA=+H: —TREST: —
EZ-FBE+-A=+—H: —F@
BEIT) WARBBEINAFHIH R
BEZITHWREEYWN\BET (=
TZ——FA=+H: \BETL:
—E-FFE+-_A=1+—H: A\
Br) MARBMEZIEEZ TR
BEY =T _HEL(ZZT——F
NA=1+B: =FTHaErx: =&
—ZF+_A=+—8: ZTF~A

b —

BiL) °

(a)

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

The investment properties and investment properties under
development of the Group were revalued as at December
31, 2011 by Mr. Charles C.K. Chan, Registered Professional
Surveyor (General Practice), of Savills Valuation and Professional
Services Limited, on a market value basis.

During the period/year, an increase in fair value of investment
properties and those under development of $964 million
(2010/11: $3,349 million; 2010: $2,297 million), includes $8
million (2010/11: $41 million; 2010: $35 million) contributed by
properties under development in mainland China, is recorded.

The net book value of investment properties of the Group
includes an amount of $5,985 million (June 30, 2011: $5,899
million; December 31, 2010: $5,848 million) in respect of an
asset held under a finance lease.

The net book value of other fixed assets of the Group
included long leases of $15 million (June 30, 2011: $15 million;
December 31, 2010: $15 million) in respect of land and building
held in Hong Kong, and medium term leases of $8 million (June
30, 2011: $8 million; December 31, 2010: $9 million) and long
leases of $32 million (June 30, 2011: $34 million; December 31,
2010: $26 million) in respect of land and buildings held outside
Hong Kong respectively.
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11 BEEE -8 ®»

(a) &

MERERSDEREMEZAS
WABBE -+ \EBELtTFNEBEET
(=222 / ——FEF A+ 1§
ANTF—EA8rT: —E—ZTF: —+

RAE—TN\BERT) -

(b) AKRERBEEXHEHLERZHE
MHDHEEYE - ZFHO—RT
TRP-_ERF  ERHOARE
BEQN  EREFHEMBGER -
RGBT S HENR A
BEMSZ G mMAKEESFHE
—ELPINBENRREL - HTHE
HeEXAEE - H2REARP I

ATEETE °

REER  AEERREME R
RPREWE  RETAIHEZ
ERNRIORE 2 RRE 2 AN

1
(a)

(b)

FIXED ASSETS — GROUP (continued)

(Continued)

Property leasing revenue includes gross rental income from
investment properties of $2,876 million (2010/11: $5,161 million;
2010: $2,518 million).

The Group leases out its properties under operating leases
and subleases under finance lease. Leases typically run for an
initial period of two to five years, with some having the option
to renew, at which time all terms are renegotiated. Long term
leases contain rent review or adjustment clauses and the
Group has a regular proportion of its leases up for renewal each
year. Certain leases include contingent rentals calculated with
reference to the revenue of tenants.

At the reporting date, the Group’s total future minimum lease
income under non-cancellable operating leases in respect
of investment properties and investment properties under

S & development were as follows:
@
oKl HAAL fast
BB ST E in HK$ million Subleases Other leases Total
R-ZE——%+=-A=1+-—H
December 31, 2011
—FR Within 1 year 185 4,362 4,547
—FRERFR After 1 year but within 5 years 856 5,967 6,823
A% After 5 years 1,401 922 2,323
2,442 11,251 13,693
_
@
pari:| HipF4) 45T
A8 TEtE in HK$ million Subleases Other leases Total
RZZ—FA=+H
June 30, 2011
—FR Within 1 year 244 3,733 3,977
—FREREFR After 1 year but within 5 years 46 6,648 6,694
R’ After 5 years - 2,500 2,500
290 12,881 13,171
o
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12 MEQRERE 12 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

NS

Company
R-ZB——F RIZE—F | RZZTITF
+=A=+-—H ANA=+H | TZA=1+—H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
NAEEBITHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
LMD - RAE Unlisted shares, at cost 8 8 8
JEMPH 2 B KR Amounts due from subsidiaries 62,014 63,367 44,241
62,022 63,375 44,249

FEWMB AR ZFHEERSHAHIFESS o Details of principal subsidiaries are set out in note 35.

JEMI B AR FIBAEEIF - 2B KE  Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free with
REERH  MEBHZEZIENRAK no fixed terms of repayment and classified as non-current assets
+ZEARTEUE - WIIEIERENE as they are not expected to be recoverable within the next twelve

E o months.

13 & QAR 13 INTEREST IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

£H
Group

R-B——F RT——F| RZ-IZT&

+=B=+-A  A~A=tA |+=A=+-A

December 31, June 30, December 31,

NAKBEBITHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010

JE(HEEFE — FELTRNG Share of net assets — unlisted shares 1,013 989 978

& (1), WaERRIFIE Amount due (to)/from a jointly
controlled entity (6) 2 (10)
1,007 991 968

fEU () A& QRIFZES AEEF - Amounts due from/(to) a jointly controlled entity is unsecured,
TR E R EETEENRD - ME  interest-bearing at market rate with no fixed terms of repayment and
TEEZERETIER AR+ ZEARY classified as non-current assets/liabilities as it is not expected to be
Bl EE - BIEIEREEE, BfE -  recoverable/repayable within the next twelve months.
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>

3 &%

BEN A 2B RSN E36 o AREE

NEER @

13 INTEREST IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

(Continued)

Details of jointly controlled entities are set out in note 36. The

EREENRIZEZHEBAYMEERH  summary financial information related to the Group's interest in
MR jointly controlled entities are as follows:
<@
R-ZB——F RIZE—F | RZZT—ITF
+=A=+-—H ~A=+H | TZA=+—H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
NAKBEBITHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
ERBEE Non-current assets 1,084 1,063 1,043
REEE Current assets 26 22 26
FEREEE Non-current liabilities (77) (72) (72)
nBEE Current liabilities (20) (24) (19)
BEFE Net assets 1,013 989 978
®
@
BZE #HE HE
—F—-% 2 F —TTF
+ZA=+—H ~A=+H |+=ZA=+—H
1E7<E A H+=fEA LE7~{E A
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
AR AETHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
EET Turnover 31 56 28
A/ FERT Profit for the period/year 42 98 60
L
14 HiEE 14 OTHER ASSETS
@
£H
Group
RZBE——F RT—F | RZ=—ZF
+=ZA=+—H AA=tH | T=ZA=1+—H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
AR BETHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
BAFLTHEIHARE Unlisted held-to-maturity investments
(PH3E) in Hong Kong (Note) 898 863 849
ERFIELTRER Advances to unlisted investee companies 1 2 2
899 865 851
o BER AR —FZ Less: Unlisted held-to-maturity investments
BB LTHERHA in Hong Kong with maturity less
®E (Miat) than one year (Note) (449) - _
450 865 851
®
e : R=F——F+=-A=+—H AEEEHEHEIE  Note: At December 31, 2011, the Group held investments in unlisted bonds which will mature

EHEFRE  KREBN T —FNAE
— 2=+ _HIB hESKREF—H
RNEE—BNAE (ZE——F < A=+H: —

BREE_BNE: —BE-—TF+_-_A=+
—B: —HABE_HARE) 2 BARKRIS R
8 BEENREFRS °
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from September 2012 to December 2013. The effective yield of the bonds ranged from
1.6% to 2.9% (June 30, 2011: 1.6% to 2.9%; December 31, 2010: 1.6% to 2.9%) per
annum, payable quarterly or semi-annually.
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15 BERBITEXK

15 CASH AND DEPOSITS WITH BANKS

&=
Group
R-B——% RIZ—F | RZZ-IF
+ZHB=+—H ANA=+H | TZA=1+—H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
NABAETHE in HK$ million 201 2011 2010
FHFR Time deposits 19,808 24,833 21,837
BITFER Cash at banks 3,924 2,369 2,728
BAEMBHKARGES X Cash and deposits with banks in
RITIFH the consolidated statement of
financial position 23,732 27,202 24,565
A R =18 A A3 R Less: Bank deposits with maturity
RITTFER greater than three months (4,520) (7,404) (5,850)
SABSRERNES R Cash and cash equivalents in the
HEZEY consolidated cash flow statement 19,212 19,798 18,715
REER - ARE RS RIBITHFERKIL At the reporting date, the Group's cash and deposits with banks
FHMEGEFTHEE (ZF——F/X  were interest-bearing at an average rate of 0.7 % (June 30, 2011:
A=TH :ZEHNE: ZE—FF+= 0.9%; December 31, 2010: 0.4%) per annum with currency
A=+—H: :ZEWE)FE EE% denominated in:
DT -
R-Z——F RIE—F RZZ—ZF
+ZHB=+—H ANA=tH | TZA=1+—H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
B BETETE in HK$ million 201 2011 2010
BHEE Hong Kong Dollars equivalent of:
ARE Renminbi 19,074 22,773 16,750
ok Hong Kong Dollars 3,497 2,961 5,547
=TT United States Dollars 1,161 1,468 2,268
23,732 27,202 24,565

REBEFHEARKBEITEZIAEMER  The Group holds Renminbi bank deposits to meet its ongoing

R B A B B R IR B R AR AV

REE -

mainland China.

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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16 FEU AR AR I H 1 FE WK
(a) BEFFABRUEREREBEERZE (a)
WRRREAERIDOMTIAT

16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Included in trade and other receivables are trade receivables
with the following terms:

=B

Group
R-ZE——F RZZ—F | RZZZF
+=-A=+—~H AA=+H | TZA=+—H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
NAKBEBITHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
RHAE—EAR Current and within 1 month 66 25 37
—Z==fAAR 1 -3 months 3 9 5
={EANKE Over 3 months 3 2 1
72 36 43

RIBREBHRBATEK - XEB 21
ERRFFBEHIINMEEI0(c) °

(b) AKEZHMEKFBE=EZT/\ (b)
BEL(ZE——%A=t+A:
TtRATNEEL: —F—FTF+
ZAZT—A &) RPENMmE
Bz HERABAT=88
T(ZE——FRA=1tH: \&
ThEagr: ZF—FF+ZA=
+—H : &) ZaES &R FIK
A o WA AEER REHN —F
AU E

17 SEYWE

17 PROPERTIES FOR SALE

The balance of bad and doubtful debts is insignificant. The details on
the Group's credit policy are set out in note 30(c).

Included in other receivables of the Group are deposit of land
acquisition in mainland China of $308 million (June 30, 2011:
$798 million; December 31, 2010: $Nil) and amount recoverable
from a jointly controlled entity of $693 million (June 30, 2011:
$809 million; December 31, 2010: $Nil) which is unsecured and
expected to be recoverable within one year.

L
Group
R-E——F RZT—F | RNZZ-ITF
+=-A=+-—H ANA=TH | tZHA=+—H~
December 31, June 30, | December 31,
BB BRETHE in HK$ million 201 2011 2010
CINEE ERTIE Properties under development for sale
— REAHER located in Hong Kong - long leases 987 905 844
UREBZFECERYE Completed properties for sale located
— PER R in Hong Kong — medium term leases 5,127 5,058 5,065
6,114 5,963 5,899

FEERDYREHE —FREH -

recovered after more than one year.
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18 MITEN
REEZEH  BEFRITERZEREN
T

18 BANK LOANS

At the reporting date, bank loans were unsecured and repayable as
follows:

£H

Group
R-ZE——F RZZ—F | RZZZF
+=H=+—H AA=+H | TZA=+—H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
NEBRETAE in HK$ million 201 2011 2010
— R ANER Within 1 year or on demand 4,700 4,500 5,600
—FREZFRN After 1 year but within 2 years 864 - 4,000
MERBREA After 2 years but within 5 years 13,197 10,638 1,396
AFENRE Over 5 years 2,035 1,671 1,130
16,096 12,309 6,526
o REEMEER Less: unamortized front end fees (62) (73) (42)
16,034 12,236 6,484
20,734 16,736 12,084

HA - AARTEFRORTHIEE+
BOLE (22— / ——FF: TH=
BEERERE: —T-TF: THNUE
ERECE) FMEREL -

AEEZETEERIMHROBH -
ZER RO ERA BN AR
BABWAEEMETEERREEE
ABEMAREFE LR TRERAEK
TR AREERRMIRERY
MEF -

R=_FE—F+=-_A=+—8 ' x5H
BERA+=F=FBL(ZE—FX
A=Z+8B: A+XEATERBEET: =
T—ZTF+-A=+—H: —BZZE
TrHET) ABANRITEAREEE -

o KRBz —HE2ERANHB R
AR —EABE-TEEXTZTHREER
TEl (T5t8]) RZT——F+ A=
T—H  AEBEWARAEUE BT EHTE
MEE(CF——FA=1H &)

All bank loans are interest-bearing at rates ranging from 0.5% to
75% (2010/11: 0.3% to 6.6%; 2010: 0.4% to 6.2%) per annum
during the period.

Certain of the Group's borrowings are attached with financial
covenants which require that at any time, the Group's consolidated
tangible net worth is not less than and the ratio of borrowings to
consolidated tangible net worth is not more than certain required
levels. During the period, all these covenants have been complied
with by the Group.

At December 31, 2011, the Group had $5,330 million (June 30, 2011:
$6,694 million; December 31, 2010: $10,207 million) committed
undrawn banking facilities.

In addition, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company has a US$2
billion Medium Term Note Programme (the “Programme”). At
December 31, 2011, the Group has not issued any note under the
Programme (June 30, 2011: $Nil).
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19 BARRKREMEMNK

19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

=B
Group
R-B——% RIZ—F | RZZ-IF
+=ZA=+—H ANA=ZTH | TZA=1+—¢H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
NABAETHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
RN EAER (i) Creditors and accrued expenses (Note (al) 2,420 2,163 1,909
Bldze (M) Deposits received (Note (b)) 1,389 1,253 971
ERRZMBATIZIE (K3 ) Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
(Note (c)) 14 14 46
3,823 3,430 2,926
BiaE - Notes:
(a) EARREAEREEEAR-—FATEESN (@ Creditors and accrued expenses include retention money payable of $266 million (June 30,

ZREBRE_EANTAEBET (ZTE——F X
A=+H: ZE=Fta8rt:  —T—TF+
—A=+—8: AEBATERT) °

b) BREENERETLEET(ZZE——%F~A
=t+RH:tEEATF=8&8T: —T—FTF+=
A=+—8 : XEx) BHR—FATEENM -

(0 RENRRNEARREGREER 28 RE
EEEES -

B EF AFEAS BRI EL At A 32 FE A AR
RERRE DT

2011: $237 million; December 31, 2010: $550 million) which is not expected to be settled
within one year.

(b) Deposits received of $857 million (June 30, 2011: $763 million; December 31, 2010: $600
million) are not expected to be settled within one year.

(c) The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed
terms of repayment.

Included in trade and other payables are trade creditors with the
following aging analysis:

£E

Group
R-ZB——8F RIZE—F | RZT-ITF
+=-A=+-—H AA=+H | TZA=1+—H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
NAKEBITHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
—{EAAEEA Due within 1 month 1,752 1,446 1,233
—{E A% 5 Due after 3 months 287 250 557
2,039 1,696 1,790
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20 REFEEMBIRRER L ZHIR

OF FINANCIAL POSITION

20 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

(a) AEHIE (a) Current taxation
@
B
Group
R=Z——F RIT——F | RIT-ZTF
+=HA=+—H ANA=+H | TZA=+—H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
AEBRETAE in HK$ million 201 2011 2010
EENEHBE Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax 184 257 110
PRI TSR B Provision for China Income Tax 170 108 159
NEFE 2 ENEANEH Hong Kong Profits Tax payable relating
to prior years 38 831 831
392 1,196 1,100
>
(b) EZEHIA (b) Deferred taxation
@
£
Group
R-IBE——F RZZ—F | RZZ2ZF
+=-A=+-—H A~NAZTR | TZA=+—H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
BB RETHE in HK$ million 201 2011 2010
ELERIBAE Deferred tax liabilities 8,696 8,361 8,039
REHIBEEE Deferred tax assets (35) (32) (26)
RERIREEEE Net deferred tax liabilities 8,661 8,329 8,013
.4
RirE M BRREK LB ZELERIEE  The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognized in the
&/ (EE) WEKREHR  FR2E consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
LU during the period/year are as follows:
@
WAKEE TS in HK$ million NESRES
PRETE R
Depreciation BREE
allowances in R G
excess of WEE( Future
related  Revaluation benefit of Hfty N
ERTIREER : Deferred tax arising from: depreciation  of properties  tax losses Others Total
R-E-EF+A—H AtJuly 1, 2010 944 6,672 (25) 63 7,654
FATE K R ERIRR Charged to exchange reserve 24 321 - - 345
BMBZIIE /(A (1 7 (@) Charged/(Credited) to profit or loss (Note 7(a)) 89 213 (7) 35 330
R-Z——FA=1BER At June 30, 2011 and July 1, 2011 1,057 7,206 (32) 98 8,329
G
FATE K B R RR Charged to exchange reserve 18 186 - - 204
HBZPUNE /(BN (37 ) Charged/(Credited) to profit or loss (Note 7(a)) 31 69 3) 31 128
WZZE——F+ZH=1t—H AtDecember 31,2011 1,106 7,461 (35) 129 8,661
o
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20 REBBEARREZ L ZFHIE @)

() RERZELERBREE

RS B 1 AR LA T B A B2 E B
BN+ R-—TAEBELT (ZFE——FKX
A=tB: \EATHRAST —T—
EF+-_A=+t—B: ABN\T=88
T MBEEMELNELENIAEEE
HER  BAR-T——F+=A=+
— B AIREREAREER ARER
B MADNFIE - WEBBRBFHRE
BERREREAR LW REE - mH
BAEBNREEBERAN AR F
EEAFRER -

21 BMEELYEE
MERNRLERZASREREEE
N

20 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognized

The Group has not recognized deferred tax assets in respect of tax
losses of $1,016 million (June 30, 2011: $855 million; December 31,
2010: $583 million) sustained in the operations of certain subsidiaries
as the availability of future taxable profits against which the assets
can be utilized is not probable at December 31, 2011. The tax losses
arising from Hong Kong operations do not expire under current tax
legislation. The tax losses arising from the operations in mainland
China expire five years after the relevant accounting year end date.

21 FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Total minimum lease payments under finance lease and their
present values are as follows:

@
£
Group
S AR
FEfT 278 RRFE RPN
SRR E FTAZFE ik
Present Interest Total
value of expenses minimum
minimum relating to lease
lease payments future periods payments
R-EB——%+=-A=t+—H
B EE TR E in HK$ million December 31, 2011
e Amounts payable
—FR Within 1 year 104 3 107
o
@
R=ZE—FA=+H
A B ETE in HK$ million June 30, 2011
el &% Amounts payable
—ER Within 1 year 133 141
—FRERFNRN After 1 year but within 5 years 35 - 35
168 8 176
o
@
RZE—ZF+-A=1+—H
LABEEETTE in HKS$ million December 31, 2010
BN S Amounts payable
—FR Within 1 year 126 12 138
—FREAFA After 1 year but within 5 years 104 3 107
230 15 245
®

BERNAEZERFNEALE (=
F——FxA=tH: +tE: —B—%F
E+=A=+—B:tE)-

204

The effective interest rate of the finance lease obligations is 7%
(June 30, 2011: 7%; December 31, 2010: 7%) per annum.
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22

SHARE CAPITAL

R-B——%+ZA=+-B RZZ—4F~A=tA |RZZ—ZF+-A=1+-H
December 31, 2011 June 30, 2011 December 31, 2010
RGEE BAeE  BRHEE BA&E BEE e
Number of Amountof  Numberof  Amountof | Numberof  Amount of
shares share capital shares  share capital shares  share capital
(BER) (BER) (B8R) -] (B&R) (B&m)
(Million)  ($Million) (Million) ($Million) (Million) ($Million)
EE Authorized
SREE-T Shares of $1 each 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000
BREITRAR Issued and fully paid
ntA—H At July 1 4,472 4,472 4159 4159 4159 4159
Gl Issue of shares
— BERO D2 ~ under share option scheme 1 1 19 19 15 15
- REfRE (M) ~ from placement (Note) - - 294 294 294 294
Wt-f=+—-B/ At December 31/June 30 4,473 4,473 4472 4472 4,468 4,468
~NAZTH

R-Z—ZF+—f  BER=ttrxtlmAa/\L&ET
ZEATEHESRSREE—TEARESHE 2D

Note:

In November 2010, 294 million shares of $1 each were issued at $3748 per share which were
fully paid in cash.
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23 f#fe 23 RESERVES
(a) &E (a) The Group
Hitf#4E Other reserves
EERH
AR HERE
el Employee
Rl B Capital  EJEE sharebased eyl BEE
Share  redemption Exchange  compensation ] Retained Total
BB EE T E in HKS$ million premium reserve reserve reserve Total profits reserves
W-E-Z5+A-AH At July 1, 2010 21,879 2,066 1,604 373 25,922 63,024 88,946
KEFGEF Profit for the year - - - - - 5,792 5,792
BERINIB AT Exchange difference arising from
Rt EHER translation of overseas
subsidiaries - - 2,491 - 2,491 - 2,491
AEEZANGER Total comprehensive income
for the year - - 2,49 - 2,491 5792 8,283
FEERARE Final dividends in respect of
previous year - - - - - (2,252) (2,252)
TEERHIRE Interim dividends in respect of
current year - - - - - (760) (760)
Bikin Issue of shares 10919 - - - 10919 - 10919
EEREER Employee share-based payments 92 - - 12 104 7 M
RW=ZE——%FA=1H % At June 30, 2011 and
SE—FF- Juy1, 2010 32890 2,066 4,095 B 394% 65811 105247
IR Profit for the period - - - - - 2,516 2,516
BEEIHBAT Exchange difference arising from
FEEL/ELER translation of overseas
subsidiaries - - 1,520 - 1,520 - 1,620
THrENEEE Total comprehensive income
for the period - - 1,520 - 1,520 2,516 4,036
FEERMRE Final dividends in respect of
previous year - - - - - (2,415) (2,415)
BRH Issue of shares 15 - - - 15 - 15
EEREER Employee share-based payments 4 - - 92 96 10 106
W=Z——%+"A=1—R At December 31,2011 32,909 2,066 5,615 471 41,067 65,922 106,989

206 EEBERRAR —T— —F4H



23 f#fE @

23 RESERVES (Continued)

(b) T (b) The Company
E{t%H Other reserves
EERH
BEGE  Employee
RIDEE Capital  share-based R A BiE
Share  redemption compensation faks Retained Total
NEERETtE in HK$ million premium reserve reserve Total profits reserves
RZE-ZFtA—H At July 1, 2010 21,879 2,066 373 24,318 5,006 29,324
KEERFI N 2EREESE  Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year - - - - 558 558
LEERERE Final dividends in respect of
previous year - - - - (2,252) (2,252)
KEFHRHRE Interim dividends in respect of
current year - - - - (760) (760)
) Issue of shares 10,919 - - 10,919 - 10,919
EERRER Employee share-based payments 92 - 12 104 7 1M1
RZE——%EA=+H  AtJune 30,2011 and
k=F—F+H—H July 1, 2011 32,890 2,066 385 35,341 2,559 37,900
AEHEFIR2ENEAE  Profit and total comprehensive
income for the period - - - - 2,712 2,712
EEFARBRE Final dividends in respect of
previous year - - - - (2,415) (2,415)
BT Issue of shares 15 _ _ 15 _ 15
EEREER Employee share-based payments 4 - 92 9% 10 106
R=Z——%+= A=+—H At December 31, 2011 32,909 2,066 477 35,452 2,866 38,318

AEBER-_ZF——F+=-A=+—8
MRERMBE—RELTNABET (=
E——FXA=1TH: —FBHETLtEE
7)) WP B A B AR 2 BERDTE

i@ ER M EARBORE 2 BED 5
ZXEBARAIGRA) FO+NLIERE
O+ FREE - EXRFERERES
SN AR B mMARELEZEN 8 -
FAAF FE2(v) P - 1R B R D W (E R e
BROEDEERRITEZ B REZ
NFE-

W=B——E+=A=+—0 AR
THDETREZ HELAEA= TN
BATABET (ZF——FAA=T
A —tEEEFARET) -

The retained profits for the Group at December 31, 2011 included
$178 million (June 30, 2011: $147 million) in respect of statutory
reserves of the subsidiaries in mainland China.

The application of the share premium account and the capital
redemption reserve are governed by Section 48B and Section
49H of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance respectively. The
exchange reserve comprises the exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements of overseas subsidiaries.
The employee share-based compensation reserve comprises the
fair value of share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as
explained in note 2(v).

The aggregate amount of the Company’'s reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company at December 31,
2011 was $2,866 million (June 30, 2011: $2,559 million).
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(b) AT @)

BEAREE
AEEMNEAEERRZEZBIZEAR
EAEBEFELE  NARERERD
WEkABEMBOHERRNZ  FRUE
EKARGEE °

AEEERE SR RERRE AL
1 AT B K T A A A
50795 A 3R 2190 S0 5 O AN A A R ) B
RARKE 2 RAER/G T8 - W RAEA L E Y
EBEE REHREY BOHE LS
eI -

AEBEBRRTAEXRRRERENT
K WE BRI E KRR TGRSR R
HENGEE - AEREFEHEEREN
FER L] o FERERITERME
BREAASE - BIRE RIRITHER o I
BRI R MR A o

N_E——F+_A=+—HBRZ=F—
—FXRA=1TH A5EEERERFREK
oo AR B HE AT B A T I &R
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24 FERER

IR S B E RN AL E (R
“RA=+—R) k2 EEENHNBLF
MR AR R RFIREE - 2 E
FEEZHBRARTER LEREAEEN
AR T AR - EERES B
PHERNGAREDE -
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23 RESERVES (Continued)

(b) The Company (Continued)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits to
other stakeholders, and to secure access to finance at a reasonable
cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholders’
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in the light of changes in
the Group's business portfolio and economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure by reviewing its gearing ratio
and cash flow requirements, taking into account its future financial
obligations and commitments. The gearing ratio represents the
proportion of net debt to equity plus net debt. Net debt represents
bank loans and finance lease obligations, less cash and deposits with
banks. Equity comprises shareholders’ equity and non-controlling
interests.

The Group has a net cash position as at December 31, 2011 and
June 30, 2011. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

24 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Non-controlling interests represent the equity interests and the
share of profit or loss attributable to other shareholders in respect of
the subsidiaries not wholly-owned by the Group as at December 31.
Details of movement of non-controlling interests are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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25 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

8E BHE BHE
—2——fF —E——F —ETF
+=A=+—8 A~A=+H | TZA=1+—H
1EREA F+=fEA 1A A
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
BB RETHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
BREATE A Profit before taxation 3,272 7,269 4,150
R Adjustments for:
RITAEUA Bank interest income (168) (209) (77)
ELTEEIEARENEWA  Interest income from unlisted
held-to-maturity investments (10) (11) 2)
BB Finance costs 104 93 43
e Depreciation 15 24 9
REWE N EZEM Increase in fair value of investment
properties (964) (3,349) (2,297)
[ELE & RALET Share of profits of jointly controlled
entities (42) (98) (60)
EEREER Employee share-based payments 106 111 66
FEYE 7 1E] Increase in properties for sale (120) (147) (39)
JRE U B 0 e Lt B Wk 2 R A Decrease in trade and other receivables 67 323 1,182
R F e ER 2 Ofld),/  (Decreasel/Increase in creditors and
0 accrued expenses (168) 525 76
BldRE 218 Increase in deposits received 121 106 36
[ENREZIE A RZUEZ R Decrease in amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries - (130) (93)
RELEER RS Cash generated from operations 2,213 4,507 2,994

26 SAEME
REE B SRBENT

26 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the reporting date, contingent liabilities were as follows:

NG
Company

R=-B——% RZFT——F
+=A=t-B  X~A=tE

December 31, June 30,

BB RETHE in HK$ million 201 2011
HWBARES ZIRITEE Guarantees given to banks to secure credit

iz 2 #&1R facilities drawn by subsidiaries 20,821 16,835

ARBLERMBARZEE

REMIE The Company has not recognized any deferred income for the

ITEEREZIEREREMIELZEWA - guarantees given in respect of borrowings and other bank facilities
HZEEENBITEEZ A AFEELRA for subsidiaries as their fair value cannot be reliably measured and
EHHERERZE (ZE——4%,5H their transaction price was $Nil (June 30, 2011: $Nil).

=t8:&|)-
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27 EiE
(a) REEHBRARRMBHREBEHE2E
AFEPENOT -

27 COMMITMENTS

(a) At the reporting date, capital commitments not provided for in
the financial statements were as follows:

=B

Group
RZB——F RZIT—F
+=HA=+—H ~A=1H
December 31, June 30,
B EETEE in HK$ million 2011 2011
B&4 Contracted for 6,441 3,276
EREERARY Authorized but not contracted for 27,551 32,201
33,992 35,477

FAEIERERASERHE AL
ZEBRTERIBREMEREEZ LM
PR B R SRR

(b) ANEERE+FREMR AR
LEMROERETYE - HTHL
BREZ2EMERAMEE 2 HAE
T RNEER - RERZDENZHE
T

The above commitments include mainly the land costs and
construction related costs to be incurred in respect of the Group’s
development of its investment properties in various cities in
mainland China.

(b) The Group leases certain properties under non-cancellable
operating leases expiring within ten years. Certain leases
include contingent rentals calculated with reference to revenue
from the properties. At the reporting date, total future minimum
lease payments were as follows:

=B
Group
RZB——% RZT—F
+=H=+—H ~NA=1H
December 31, June 30,
AR ETAE in HK$ million 2011 2011
—FR Within 1 year 18 46
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28 EEER

(a) EBHKER
AEBEAEREERIAREHIENRS
T8l ZATEITZEER MBI
RAIZRTEAEE  THEEESKEE
BHEAEE s EESHER -

BENBEDZEEZEAFHFEZET
BAOLER - BREBSLERREFEM
BRAE - BERERAIZHEFAKE
AT R B %At 8 - BB R W 2 f5kT)
BAFEIES ZHER - AEBE AR T
FEEEAKEMEREEARKEEES
ZRBBAEEKERP - AREAK
Wz R D B BEAREE
I DAL 75 SRR R » AEBR A
ZHREBR—TEBL (T /—
—FE: T8I MEAREEZ
RREReRERAN+ET (ZF—
T/ ——FE:NTER) -

—IREKEFRHIMEATEREE (5878
& E]) B - IR B AR S
BEN - BIREEDHIZEEZEH
BRABA(ERA-ET) 2AHZH
TR B - NEEZ g 28
;AR FBNER < RFILI RERE
RNz RE#E R - AREBERHAEL
ZEBEHFEER _ BB (ZT—
T,/ ——%E: ZHEBT)

RRAREZRARSEE N —RERR
RogTE & RO B RIKET 8] ([BRE
Katdl)) - BRAGE EBias st
ZHRBERER - MRS A —RIEE
B2 HEB RGBS BB -

28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a) Retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution provident fund scheme
for its employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of the Group by an independent corporate trustee and
managed by professional fund managers.

Contributions are made by both the employer and the employees at
a certain percentage of employees’ basic salaries, the percentage
varying with their length of service. When an employee leaves the
scheme prior to his or her interest in the Group’s contributions being
fully vested, forfeited contributions are credited to reserves of the
fund. Depending on the level of reserves, the Group may direct
the trustee to credit dividends to members' accounts out of the
reserves of the fund. The Group's contributions may be reduced by
the forfeited contributions, but there was no such reduction of the
Group's contributions during the period. Total contributions made
by the Group for the period amounted to $10 million (2010/11: $20
million) and forfeited sums credited to reserves amounted to $0.4
million (2010/11: $0.6 million).

A master trust Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme"”) is operated by an independent service provider.
Mandatory contributions are made by both the employer and the
employees at 5% of the employees’ monthly relevant income, up
to a limit of $20,000. The Group’s contributions will be fully and
immediately vested in the employees’ accounts as their accrued
benefits in the scheme. Total MPF contributions made by the Group
for the period amounted to $2 million (2010/11: $3 million).

As the Group's provident fund scheme is an MPF Exempted
Occupational Retirement Scheme (the “ORSO Scheme”), eligibility
for membership of the ORSO and MPF schemes is identical. New
employees are offered a one-off option to join either the ORSO or
the MPF scheme.
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28 EEEA @

(a) EBAKER 50
RAARIEFRBEAMEEERE KB R
A EEEDNFEEMTRTMEN
RARBEHMEE ([HBERKBRETED)
2B - ZEREAMKME A F AT
ExH—EBF DREBZIFHSEY
REBEDL - WP BERKERTEED
HRAERBBRREFES  MPREH
WERAT R A EZETRE AN B AR 2
FTERBRGEREKRZIEE ZRIKE
FEM - ZEPEAMKME R TR
NER z R BRBEA—TEL(ZZE—
T/ ——FE:—FTHABT) °

(b) BROBHESRR
RARIRZEE_F+—HZ+ZHK
MR EARERTE] o WWETBIREARRRE
=R ((EER]) RAFEREAL (BEFEX
SEARMNARIZEERES) BTK
DEIERBARNT ZRGD - IEREEY
REBEB CEEIREE - R{HEAET
FEHREFRHNE TRMDBERAE -
WHBERBRHEE RETEBRNG
KMEREER TR AEEEA 2 FH
WmE=Fhz&=E Al ZEHNHEZ
HEREEN CHRIE BB - 1788
REHEEANRERND CHBBEHYIHES
BRE T ZERE it E8IRNEHEMA
HEBHATFRER UK 2T —=F
+—A=+—HBE® -
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28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(a) Retirement benefits (Continued)

Staff in the Company’s subsidiaries operating in mainland China
are members of a retirement benefits scheme (the “Mainland RB
Scheme”) operated by the local municipal government in mainland
China. The only obligation of the subsidiaries in mainland China is
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the Mainland
RB Scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal
government in mainland China undertakes to assume the retirement
benefits obligations of all existing and future retired employees
of the subsidiaries in mainland China. Total contributions made by
the subsidiaries in mainland China for the period amounted to $10
million (2010/11: $15 million).

(b) Equity compensation benefits

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted
on November 22, 2002, whereby the Board of Directors (the
“Board"”) of the Company is authorized to grant options to selected
participants, including employees and directors of any company in
the Group, to subscribe for shares of the Company as incentives
or rewards for their contributions to the Group. The exercise price
of the options is determined by the Board at the time of grant, and
shall be the highest of the nominal value of the shares, the closing
price of the shares at the date of grant and the average closing price
of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant. The period open for acceptance of the option and
amount payable thereon, the vesting period, the exercisable period
and the number of shares subject to each option are determined by
the Board at the time of grant. The scheme remains in force for a
period of 10 years commencing on its adoption date and will expire
on November 21, 2012.
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28 EBERTH @ 28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
(b) BROFHERF @ (b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)
BN MR D BARE 2 B Epan T - The movements of share options during the period are as follows:

@
i
Number of share options
RIE—F R=B—-F
tA-A T=R=1-H I E
HARITHE BjM/ AT RIDEHE 2 T1E (%)
Outstanding BAM  Outstanding on Period during Exercise
BB on B B Forfeited/ ~ December 31, which options price
Date granted July 1, 2011 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2011 are exercisable (HKS)
“EEMERA=TH 7,601,500 - (169,875) - 7,431,625 “ZLRFRAZTHE 9.20
May 20, 2004 —“E-mERATAA
May 20, 2005 to
May 19, 2014
“ZETENA-RE 500,000 - - - 500,000 ZEEENA-AE 1140-1235
525 +—A-R “Z2-T45TA=T-R
September 1, 2005 to September 1, 2006 to
November 1, 2005 October 31, 2015
ZEEET-ATIAE 11,084,000 - (550,000) - 10534000 —ZTLET—FTMNAZ  1675-2260
ZEStE=RtNA “E—t5=A1/\R
November 14, 2006 to November 14, 2007 to
March 19, 2007 March 18, 2017
B e o e = 61,620,000 - (236,000) (1,476,000) 59,908,000 “EF\EtAZHE  17.36-2790
“FE\F+-A=1-H ZE-\ETZA=1H
July 3, 2007 to July 3, 2008 to
December 31, 2008 December 30, 2018
ZETNET-A=TAE 21,450,000 - - - 21450000 —Z——4$+-A=THAE 2646-2888
225 AR “E-EFRR=1-H
November 30, 2009 to November 30, 2011 to
June 1, 2010 May 31, 2020
ZZ-TELAZTNAAE 47,190,000 - - (540,000) 46,650,000 —F-—FtA-FTNHE 30.79-3690
—F——FxA+ZA B -ERA+ZA
July 29,2010 to July 29,2012 to
June 13, 2011 June 12, 2021
“E-—5+ZA+H - 1,350,000 - - 1350000 —ET-=5+-F+AEZE 24.10
December 7, 2011 “E--%+ZR~A
December 7, 2013 to
December 6, 2021
£t Total 149,445,500 1,350,000 (955,875) (2,016,000 147,823,625
o

st PR Bt AR R AR b B B AR AT —
ELFERRE  YARKRLAH+FE
mEARIITEE - BLIRARD BAREAS R -
HA ML S AR D BARE At 8 o

All the above options may vest after one to five years of the grant
date and are exercisable up to the tenth anniversary of the date of
grant, after which they will lapse. No options were cancelled during
the period.
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28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)

In respect of share options granted to the directors and an
ex-director, the related charge/(credit) recognized for the period
ended December 31, 2011, estimated in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy in note 2(v)(2) was as follows:

(1) Mr. Ronnie C. Chan, $18.3 million (2010/11: $28.6 million);

(2)  Mr. Philip N.L. Chen, $19.2 million (2010/11: $25.5 million);

(3)  Mr. William PY. Ko, $11.3 million (2010/11: $19.8 million);

(4)  Mr. Henry TY. Yiu, $74 million (2010/11: $7.8 million);

(5) Mr. H.C. Ho, $7.1 million (2010/11: $5.6 million, including the
charge of $5.5 million in relation to his employment as director
of the Company);

(6) Mr. Nelson W.L. Yuen, $12.1 million (2010/11: $28.2 million,
including the charge of $9.1 million in relation to his
employment as director of the Company); and

(7)  Mr. Terry S. Ng, $Nil (2010/11: ($28.9) million, including
adjustment to reverse amounts of $30.8 million in relation to
unvested share options which were forfeited and a charge of
$1.9 million in 2011, in relation to his employment as director of
the Company).
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28
(b)
(i)

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Equity compensation benefits (Continued)

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and
their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

HE-2—-%
+ZA=t+-RALAEA
Period ended December 31, 2011

HE_T——F
NA=THI=fEA
Year ended June 30, 2011

il Il

THATEE kA

(B%) (%)
Weighted i) Weighted i)
average HiEHE average HiREE B
exercise price Number of exercise price Number of
(HKS) options (HK9) options
Rt A—BEARTE QOutstanding at July 1 24.28 149,445,500 15.84 138,665,000
BRd Granted 24.10 1,350,000 3159 47,330,000
[REBLES Exercised 1658 (955,875) 17.84 (18,782,500)
BRM/ BAH Forfeited/Lapsed 2353 (2,016,000) 2183 (17,767,000)
W+ZA=+-8/ Outstanding at December 31/June 30 24.34 147,823,625 24.28 149,445,500

NAZTBEARETE

W+ZA=+-8/ Exercisable at December 31/June 30 19.60 42,042,225 18.05 33,472,500

AA=TRAFR

(ii)

AARIRNEZREHRERE B2
AT EBN - +=ThAaRIN
—E——F%XA=FtH: =+
—ARWE=t+ARTAAATRMWN) -

KRB/ FRAEEFNEBEARA
ESHMWLBITERD HE - 1©
HINEBTE 2 Il B RiE
RETTE B B2 ARV pnE g e (B
BZTATNAAR (Z2—F/
——FE: =+@mxhs=ql) -

RERTTE 2R D HETEERZ
MEFHRER =T TRAZ
(—F—F/——FF: =0
NALEA) -

KO B RAAT O 2 PR
MAETAFS A OB A L=
—E——FAAZTH: LB
) -

(ii)

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately
before the date of grant is $23.95 (June 30, 2011: $30.15 to
$35.65).

No share options were exercised by the directors in the period
of their employment as directors of the Company during the
period/year. The weighted average closing price of the shares
immediately before the dates of exercise by the employees
during the period was $26.96 (2010/11: $34.93).

The weighted average share price at the dates of exercise for
share options during the period was $26.52 (2010/11: $34.87).

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options
outstanding at the reporting date was 7.3 years (June 30, 2011:
77 years).
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28
(b)
(iii)

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Equity compensation benefits (Continued)

The weighted average value per share option granted during
the period estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes
pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted was $733. The weighted
average assumptions used are as follows:

R BE (B
1T1EfE
i ) =
BEEFH ()
B

EEE LS

Share price at grant date $24.10
Exercise price $24.10
Risk-free interest rate 0.7%
Expected life (in years) 6
Volatility 04
Expected dividend per share $0.71

RIRHRER R TEEEE 2K
g DIREZRRL B —FAE
BB 2 Fet o i B2 - TRHAEK
BRETREBEBERESMETE - B
AR B R A FEM-FHERX
ERFE-

29 BEALRS
BRZEENIBREEMBHRESL X
SRR - IR AEEREA B E
BBRPITTUTHEATRS :

AARZ —BRWBARIGRER L
BZETEEES]  MAREA
ZHBRAEFAESIEAREARK
B -RZE——F+=HA=+—H
ZHBAR—THEET (ZF——
FRA=ZFTH: —THEHAEER) °

(a)

(b) EXRTIZEEEMSCNMES

K2 28(b) i FE -
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29

The volatility measured at the standard deviation of expected
share price returns is based on statistical analysis of daily share
prices over the one year immediately preceding the grant date.
Expected dividend per share is based on historical dividend.
Changes in the input assumptions could materially affect the
fair value estimate.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Except for the transactions and balances already disclosed
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group entered into the
following related party transactions during the period in its ordinary
course of business:

(a)

(b)

A fellow subsidiary of the Company contributed funds as
capital investment to a subsidiary of the Company for the
development of Plaza 66, a property in Shanghai. The amount
outstanding at December 31, 2011 was $14 million (June 30,
2011: $14 million).

Emoluments to directors and key management has been
disclosed in notes 6 and 28(b).
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

Exposure to interest rate, liquidity, credit and currency risks arises in

the normal course of the Group's business. The Group has policies

and practices approved by management as described below in

managing these risks.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from deposits with
banks and borrowings issued at floating rates. Interest rate trend
and movements are closely monitored and, if appropriate, existing
borrowings will be replaced with new bank facilities when favorable
pricing opportunities arise. In addition, the Group established the
Programme which provides fixed interest rate facilities to the Group
and assists the Group to manage its interest rate risk.

The interest rates of interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities
are disclosed in notes 14, 15, 18 and 21.

Based on the simulations performed at period end in relation to the
Group's bank deposits and borrowings, it was estimated that the
impact of a 100 basis-point increase in market interest rates from
the rates applicable at the period end date, with all other variables
held constant, would increase the Group's profit after taxation and
total equity by approximately $3 million (June 30, 2011: $50 million;
December 31, 2010: $76 million).

This analysis is based on a hypothetical situation, as in practice
market interest rates rarely change in isolation, and should not be
considered a projection of likely future profits or losses. The analysis
assumes the following:

—  changes in market interest rates affect the interest income and
interest expenses of floating rate financial instruments and

bank borrowings; and

- all other financial assets and liabilities are held constant.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group manages its surplus cash centrally and the liquidity risk of
the Company and its subsidiaries at the corporate level. The objective
is to ensure that an adequate amount of cash and committed bank
facilities are available to meet all funding requirements. Significant
flexibility is maintained through diverse sources of committed credit
lines to respond to unforeseeable opportunities and events.

@
%8
Group
BRRTREENE
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
—ZWMER  —ZhER
EuE —FR Between Between AEME
Carrying st Within 1and?2 2and 5 Over
AR EELAE in HK$ million amount Total 1 year years years 5 years
RITER Bank loans 20,734 22,735 5,114 1,263 13,961 2,397
JEN BRI B JERTRR Trade and other payables 3823 3,825 2,702 670 401 52
R=ZE——F+=-A=+—H AtDecember 31,2011 24,557 26,560 1,816 1,933 14,362 2,449
o
@
BOATRREE
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
—ZMFA  —ZERFA
EHE —FR Between Between AEMNE
Carrying it Within 1and 2 2and 5 Over
AR EBTE in HK$ million amount Total 1 year years years b years
RITER Bank loans 16,736 18,422 4813 286 11,254 2,069
I mEA AR Non-current finance lease obligations 35 35 - 35 - -
JERNBRI R E MR Trade and other payables 3,430 3,439 2,439 557 393 50
R-E——& A=1H At June 30, 2011 20,201 21,896 7,252 878 11,647 2,119
o
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables

and deposits and bonds held with reputable banks and financial

institutions.

[t maintains a defined credit policy including stringent credit
evaluation on and payment of a rental deposit from tenants.
Proceeds from property sales are receivable pursuant to the
terms of the sale and purchase agreements. In addition to the
payment of rental deposits, tenants are required to pay monthly
rents in respect of leased properties in advance. Except for sale of
properties developed by the Group, it does not hold any collateral
over the receivables. Receivables are regularly reviewed and closely
monitored to minimize any associated credit risk.

The Group does not engage in any derivative transactions. Surplus
cash is placed with reputable banks and financial institutions in
accordance with pre-determined limits based on credit ratings and
other factors to minimize concentration risk.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Company as set out
in note 26, the Group does not provide any other guarantee which
would expose the Group or the Company to material credit risk.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Currency risk

Currency risk arises when recognized assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
Group's entities to which they related. The Group maintains certain
bank deposits denominated in United States dollars amounting to
US$149 million (June 30, 2011: US$189 million). Given that Hong
Kong dollars are pegged to United States dollars, the resulting
currency risk on such deposits is considered insignificant.

The Group also engaged in property development and investments
in mainland China through its local subsidiaries whose net assets
are exposed to foreign currency risk. In addition, the Group holds
Renminbi deposits and bonds to meet its ongoing payment
obligations in relation to its development projects in mainland China
which is denominated in Renminbi. WWhere appropriate, the Group
seeks to minimize its exposure to currency risk in mainland China
through borrowings denominated in Renminbi.

Management estimated that a 1% appreciation/depreciation of
Renminbi against Hong Kong dollar would not have a material
effect on the Group's profit after taxation and the Group's equity
attributable to shareholders would be increased/decreased by $630
million (2010/11: $573 million).

The above analysis has been determined assuming that the change
in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the reporting date and that
all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

(e) Fair value

The fair values of held-to-maturity instruments, unlisted investments,
trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, cash and
deposits with banks, bank loans and finance lease obligations are
considered approximate to their carrying amounts at the reporting
date.
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31 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 28(b) contains information about the assumptions and their risk

relating to fair value of share options granted. Other key sources of

estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a) Valuation of investment properties and investment
properties under development

The investment properties and investment properties under
development of the Group were revalued at reporting date by
independent professionally qualified valuers on a market value
basis. For the completed investment properties, the valuers have
valued such properties with reference to market evidence taking
into account the rental income of the properties. The assumptions
adopted are based on the market conditions existing at the reporting
date, with reference to current market sale prices for similar
properties in the same location and condition and the appropriate
capitalization rate. For the investment properties under development,
the valuers have valued such properties as if they were completed
in accordance with the relevant development plan allowing for any
future construction and other relevant costs required for completion
of the development, and where appropriate, by reference to the
comparable market sale and purchase transactions.

(b) Properties held for sale

The Group determines the net realizable value of unsold properties
based on estimation of future selling price less costs to be incurred
in relation to the sale, with reference to the prevailing market data
and market survey reports available from independent property
valuers.

(c) Impairment of assets

The Group tests regularly whether goodwill and other assets
that have indefinite useful lives have suffered any impairment.
Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is determined using fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use
calculations as appropriate. These calculations require the use of
estimates.
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31 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Income taxes

There are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax

determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business

and judgment is required in determining the provision for income

taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from

the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact

the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in which such

determination is made.

(e) Recognition of deferred tax assets

The amount of the deferred tax assets included in the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group is recognized only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences and unused tax losses can
be utilized. The recognition of deferred tax assets requires the Group
to make judgments or based on the assessment of future financial
performance, the amount of future taxable profits and the timing of
when these will be realized.

32 ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The ultimate holding company is Hang Lung Group Limited, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong.
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33 EFHERZARES 33 FUTURE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AEBWEIZESHABEEBETMAE The Group has not early applied the following amendments, new

BN R AR ZEET - FHEH R standards or interpretations which have been issued by the HKICPA

2 o SEALA T ER] - ERIHRAEI TS but are not yet effective. The adoption of the following amendments

HAEEZ S HERBRERES) o or standards will not result in substantial changes to the Group's
accounting policies.

AT BEAg AR
a2 &5t HIRE AR

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

HKAS 1 ({&5TA) R 2 I =
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Presentation of Financial Statements July 1, 2012
HKAS 19 (&&37) BT i
HKAS 19 (Revised) Employee Benefits January 1, 2013
HKAS 27 (2011) B B SR —T—=F—H—H
HKAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements January 1, 2013
HKAS 28 (2011) BranrREeE A rER —T—=%—H—H
HKAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures January 1, 2013
HKFRS 10 ek —T—=F—H—H
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements January 1, 2013
HKFRS 11 B & ek —T-=%—-H—H
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements January 1, 2013
HKFRS 12 Hfth AR 2 B2 B —T—=F—H—H
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities January 1, 2013
HKFRS 13 NHEZ 85t —T-=%—-H—H
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement January 1, 2013
HKFRS 9 eRITH —T-hF—H—H
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments January 1, 2015
34 REMKHRE 34 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERN_FT——_F— At /LB%ZEL The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by
=T Al T B B TS Rk o the Board of Directors on January 19, 2012.
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35 XEMEAT 35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
R-_E——F+=-A=+—H At December 31, 2011

BEITIRA Balijpav
(B%) SRR REIFTHE REFME
lssued #EmANL  E@mASL Place of
NG Share Capital % Heldby % Held by E37s Incorporation
Company (HK$)  The Group The Company Activity and Operations
Antonis Limited* 10,000 100 100 nEHEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP City Limited 2 100 - nEEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Joy Limited 2 100 - NEERREE BE
Property development & leasing Hong Kong
AP Properties Limited MERRREEE 90
Property development & leasing Hong Kong

(AL 34 100 -

'A" shares
[B] & 6 100 -
‘B shares

AP Star Limited* 2 100 - ERIRE BE
Investment holding Hong Kong
AP Success Limited 2 100 - NEEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Universal Limited* 2 100 - MERE EE
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Win Limited* 1,000,000 100 - nEEE Bk
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP World Limited 2 100 100 MEER B
Property development Hong Kong
Bonna Estates Company Limited 1,000,000 100 100 NERE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
BEBEMEBRAR* 4,000,000 100 - MERE B
Caddo Enterprises, Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong
FEZARATY 2 100 - WERE BE
Carmana Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong
Cititop Limited 2 100 - NEERNIEE BE
Property development & leasing Hong Kong
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35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

R-E—F+=-_H=+—H At December 31, 2011
BEITIRA iz ava
(B%) SRR REIFTHE REFME
lssued #E@mANL  E@mASL Place of
NG| Share Capital % Heldby % Held by B3 Incorporation
Company (HK$)  The Group The Company Activity and Operations
BAERARAT BRRE BE
Country Bond Development Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
[A] % 990 79.8 -
'A" shares
[BJ KX 1 100 -
'B' share
Dokay Limited* 2 100 - MEMRE 0
Property leasing Hong Kong
RBEFERAR 2 100 - PERRIRE BE
Easegood Enterprises Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
Fu Yik Company Limited* 3 100 - nEHEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong
EXRARAA 2 100 100 BRIRE BA
Gala Ruby Limited* Investment holding Hong Kong
Gowily Limited 2 100 - NEEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong
Grand Centre Limited 4 100 - MERE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
Grand Hotel Group Limited 10,200 100 - REAEELERER i
Apartment operating Hong Kong
& management
BREEREERRA BRRE BE
Grand Hotel Holdings Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
[A] R 62,163,123 100 -
'A" shares
[B] & 6,000,000 100 -
'B" shares
Hang Chui Company Limited 2 100 - MERE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong
Hang Far Company Limited* 2 100 - PRRIEE B
Investment holding Hong Kong
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35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

At December 31, 2011

BEITIRAR iz ava
(B%) SRR REIFTHE REFME
lssued #EmANL  E@mASL Place of
NG| Share Capital % Heldby % Held by B3 Incorporation
Company (HK$)  The Group The Company Activity and Operations
BRERAR 200 100 - EZE BE
Hang Fine Company Limited Property leasing Hong Kong
Hang Kwok Company Limited* 10,000 100 - NERE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
Hang Lick Company Limited* 10,000 100 - nEHEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong
182 (118) BRAF 10,000 100 100 EERHB BE
Hang Lung (Administration) Limited Management services Hong Kong
1Bl (KiE) BRAF 1 100 - BRRE B%
Hang Lung (Dalian) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
15fe ('T#) BRAT 1 100 - PRIRE BE
Hang Lung (Jiangsu) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
18k (&) BRAR 1 100 - PRI E BE
Hang Lung (Jinan) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
18k (29) BRAR 1 100 - ERIRE BE
Hang Lung (Kunming) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
ki (E%) BRAR 1 100 - ERIRE BE
Hang Lung (Liaoning) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
Hang Lung Park-In Limited 2 100 - MERE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
EETiERIGRAR 10,000 100 100 TR &R BE
Hang Lung Project Management Limited* Project management Hong Kong
BRYELERERAT 100,000 100 - MEER BA
Hang Lung Property Management Property management Hong Kong
Limited*
BREREERAR 2 100 100 MERE BE
Hang Lung Real Estate Agency Limited* Property agencies Hong Kong
1Blg (&%) BRAR 2 100 - IR A B
Hang Lung (Shenyang) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
&g (R12) BRAR 2 100 - ERRE BE
Hang Lung (Tianjin) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
&M% (&) BRAF 1 100 - BIRIRE BE
Hang Lung (Wuxi) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
& (F%) BRAR 1 100 - ERERE BE
Hang Lung (Xian) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
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35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
At December 31, 2011

BEITIRA iz ava

(B%) SRR REIFTHE REFME

lssued #E@mANL  E@mASL Place of

NG| Share Capital % Heldby % Held by B3 Incorporation
Company (HK$)  The Group The Company Activity and Operations
1l (FEl) ARAR 2 100 100 ERIRE BE
HLP (China) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
HLP Finance Limited" E 100 100 Bt RESRRHE
US$1 Financial services  British Virgin Islands

B ENKERBRAR ARBIT 100 - gy BE
HLP Financial Services Limited RMB1 Financial services Hong Kong
HLP Fortune Limited 1 100 100 MELRE BE
Property development Hong Kong

BEhEREARA 2 100 100 Bt 0
HLP Treasury Limited Financial services Hong Kong
HLP Treasury Services Limited* 2 100 - ERIEE 0
Investment holding Hong Kong

Hoi Sang Limited* 2 100 - IR E B
Investment holding Hong Kong

SELBRLRA 1,000,002 100 - NEER BE
Lockoo Limited* Property development Hong Kong
Magic Modern International Limited* 1 100 100 B Bk
Advertising Hong Kong

Mansita Limited* 2 100 - nEHEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong

Modalton Limited 2 100 - nERE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong

Monafat Limited* 2 100 - MEHEE 0
Property leasing Hong Kong

Ottringham Limited* 20 100 - nEEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong

Palex Limited* 2 100 - NEHEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong

Pocaliton Limited 2 100 - EZE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong
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35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
At December 31, 2011

BEITIRAR iz ava

(B%) SEHE REIFTHE REFME

lssued #EmANL  E@mASL Place of

NG| Share Capital % Heldby % Held by B3 Incorporation
Company (HK$)  The Group The Company Activity and Operations
Rago Star Limited 2 100 - MEMRE 0
Property leasing Hong Kong

Rioloy Limited 2 100 - NERE e
Property leasing Hong Kong

Ronhero Limited* 2 100 - NEEE BB
Property leasing Hong Kong

Stooket Limited 2 100 100 MEMRE 0
Property leasing Hong Kong

Tegraton Limited 2 100 - nEEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong

BREXARAF* 100,000 100 - NEEE BE
Wai Luen Investment Company, Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong
Wililoy Limited* 2 100 - NERE e
Property leasing Hong Kong

Yangli Limited* 2 100 - nEEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong

Zarat Limited* 2 100 - MERE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
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35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
At December 31, 2011

@
iz ava
SR NGl REEME
FRE RN B E (5 EnAsk EmASk Place of
Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprises FMER % Heldby % Held by E Incorporation
in mainland China Registered Capital ~ The Group The Company Activity and Operations
AEERMERRLA AR2,356,877,3557T 100 - MEBR hEIRY
Dalian Hang Lung Properties Ltd. RMB2,356,877,355 Property development Mainland China
EREFHERRLF 7 14,660,000,0007T 100 - NEER BRI
Kunming Hang Ying Properties Ltd. HK$4,660,000,000 Property development Mainland China
FEERMERRAR 451,500,000% 7T 100 - NEER IR
Liaoning Hang Lung Properties Ltd. US$451,500,000 Property development Mainland China
R EEmERR AR 385,000,000 7T 100 - MEBRREE FEIR
Shandong Hang Lung Properties Ltd. US$385,000,000 Property development & leasing Mainland China
EHERMERRAR 349,990,000 T 100 - NEERIEE FE R
Shenyang Hang Lung Properties Ltd. US$349,990,000 Property development & leasing Mainland China
REEEMERBRRF 712,420,000,0007T 100 - NEER FEAH
Tianjin Hang Lung Properties Ltd. HK$2,420,000,000 Property development Mainland China
BHEEMEBRRF 7512,282,350,0007T 100 - NEER RE R
Wuxi Hang Lung Properties Ltd. HK$2,282,350,000 Property development Mainland China
EBHEEMEERRA #1509,000,0007T 100 - MEER HElRH
Wuxi Hang Ying Properties Ltd. HK$509,000,000 Property development Mainland China
o
- @
iz ava
FEf & A SR NIl REEME
(Fn) #mest #Emesl Place of
FE ARG B (D5 Registered Capital % Heldby % Held by e/ Incorporation
Equity Joint Venture in mainland China (US$)  The Group The Company Activity and Operations
LEERRHERERRAF 167,004,736 82 - NEERNEE hER
Shanghai Hang Bond Property Property development & Mainland China
Development Co., Ltd. leasing
HEBERNEREERAR 165,000,000 69.3¢ - NEERIEE hER
Shanghai Kong Hui Property Property development & Mainland China
Development Co., Ltd. leasing
&
EBRBLE " Operated in Hong Kong
@ FEREHE M EHIER & Not audited by KPMG
5 EASERGNBAREEXEEFENEX ¢ Represents the Group’s attributable interest in the commercial portion of the properties

5 b0 2 R

ERIHEZRR AU AR 28 K
BEREARFEZTENBRA]

held either directly or indirectly by the subsidiary

The above list gives the principal subsidiaries of the Group which in the
opinion of the directors, principally affect the profit and assets of the Group.
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36 JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

At December 31, 2011

BEITIRA 2 AvA
(B%) KEMSE REIFTHE REFME
Issued @mAN  ERASL Place of
A Share Capital % Heldby % Held by E37s Incorporation
Company (HK$)  The Group The Company Activity and Operations
BEMEBRAR 5,000,000 36.8 - EREE B
Country Link Enterprises Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
BHERARAT ERIRE 3
Ease Smart Development Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
[A] & 1 - -
'A" share
[BJ & 1 100 -
"B’ share
ERERARAR® 3 333 - NEEE BE
Star Play Development Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong

*

FREFHEEEB IR
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Ten-Year Financial Summary

e
+=A B#2AA=tALET={EA
Jul - Dec For the years ended June 30
A BEETAE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
MEE Total assets 150,663 144,682 116300 88614 84,341 69244 60366 53,096 47,226 40,800
REME Investment properties 93,610 85918 80,965 62,766 59,085 47,153 39590 36,032 30562 27,172
HEME Properties for sale

- BER — Completed 5127 5,058 5,055 6,923 6,774 9,501 10,159 10,693 7,005 -

—BREH — Under development 987 905 800 760 43 41 - - 5018 10775
Be RFTER Cash and deposits with banks 23732 27202 11535 8931 10578 6994 598 3206 1063 1,104
wafE Total liabilities 33,645 29758 18513 13428 15691 13407 16077 11841 15273 14,889
BRITER Bank loans 20,734 16,736 6458 4661 4419 4782 8454 4113 9593 7874
FERE Floating rate notes - - - 1500 1500 1,500 1,500 1,500 540 540
RIS Convertible bonds - - - - - - - - - 3414
RRER Shareholders’ equity 111,462 109719 93105 71,894 66377 54277 43246 40288 31,019 24,633
EEFE Net assets (including non-

(BEFERMER)  controlling interests) 117,018 114924 97,787 75186 68,650 55837 44,289 41255 31,953 25911
EXH Turnover 3069 5164 12057 4173 10080 4389 3657 6955 4533 2143
R REML LRI Net profit attributable to

shareholders 2,516 5,792 23,561 3,985 13,159 6,371 4,403 6,813 4,616 875
EARMR) (F3F1)  Underlying net profit (Note 1) 1650 2,741 6674 2388 5123 2048 1627 2516 2,065 875
KE Dividends 1,610 3,175 2,951 2,736 2,736 2,320 1,900 1,843 1,439 1,156
SREH Per share data
B Eamnings

S 7\ - Basic $0.56 $1.33 $5.68 $0.96 $3.18 $1.60 $1.19 $1.94 $1.53 $0.30

-&% - Diluted $0.56 $1.31 $5.61 $0.96 $3.15 $1.58 $1.18 $1.92 $1.52 $0.30
EARER (M) Underlying earnings (Note 1)

—EK - Basic $0.37 $0.63 $1.61 $0.58 $1.24 $0.51 $0.44 $0.72 $0.69 $0.30

-8 - Diluted $0.37 $0.62 $1.59 $0.57 $1.23 $0.51 $0.44 $0.71 $0.68 $0.30
8 Dividends

— — Interim - 17¢ 17¢ 15¢ 15¢ 13¢ 13¢ 13¢ 11¢ 11¢

— KE — Final 36¢ b4¢ b4¢ 51¢ 51¢ 43¢ 38¢ 37¢ 33¢ 29¢

-28/%F - Total for the period/year 36¢ ¢ ¢ 66¢ 66¢ 56¢ 51¢ 50¢ 44¢ 40¢
R iEs (MFE3) Shareholders' equity (Note 3) $249  $245  $24  $173  $160  $13.1 $116  $10.9 $9.4 $8.5
BEFHE (B Net assets (including non-

JEPERRERS) (Fif3E3)  controlling interests) (Note 3) $262  $257  $235  $18.1 $166  $135  $119  $112 $9.7 $9.0
SfEE (fiF2) Gearing ratio (Note 2) 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 9% 7% 24% 31%
RELLE Pay-out ratio 64% 53% 13% 69% 21% 35% 43% 26% 29% 132%
HERRELLE Underlying pay-out ratio

(FHzE1) (Note 1) 97%  113% 4% 114% 53%  109%  116% 70% 64%  132%
ERTREY Number of shares issued

(BER) (in million) 4,473 4,472 4,159 4,146 4,145 4,143 3,732 3,683 3,300 2,889

BaE - Notes:

1. BIGREAEEEEBLEMER Lz E 1 To facilitate better understanding of the Group's operational results, the underlying
AaF - FRAEF LIRS EHEMBRIEE net profit, earnings per share and pay-out ratio are presented by excluding the effect
MERBEREFRENE 2 ATEEZGHRER of changes in fair value of investment properties and investment properties under
FRERIE M IR R E - development and their related deferred tax and non-controlling interests.

2. BEXRAFEEEREMFEBEZLE - F 2 Gearing ratio represents net debt over equity plus net debt. Net debt represents bank

BEERITES  JRRES  ZERER
MEBLEE - HBRRERRITHER - BE

I B FE R R A o I SR PR A A

3. RERGEE 2 BoRER BEFEREE 3.

TR &L -

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

loans, convertible bonds, floating rate notes and finance lease obligations, less cash and
deposits with banks. Equity comprises shareholders’ equity and non-controlling interests.

Based on shareholders’ equity/net assets divided by number of shares outstanding on
the reporting date.
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Corporate Information

=X

PRENR (2ER)

BRHE (gEFs) *

PR R Bk (2 FamamiE)

RER*

EEIR AZHBE  CVO - 2LHES - OBE - AFM+¥
BES 22 - OBE - AT+

Directors

Ronnie C. Chan (Chairman)

S.S.Yin (Vice Chairman) *

Philip N.L. Chen (Managing Director)
Nelson W.L. Yuen*

Ronald J. Arculli, 6am, cvo, GBs, 0BE, Jp *
H.K. Cheng, 6ss 08E, Jp*

e 45 * Laura L.Y. Chen*
BE rengs A FmL* PW. Liu, sss, s *
o] 8 Dominic C.F Ho*
SR William PY. Ko
hFE Henry T.Y. Yiu
BEZS H.C. Ho
FHITEF Non-Executive Director
BYIIFNTESE Independent Non-Executive Director
EREEY Audit Committee
B0iE S pumEs - OBE - AF#+ (L) H.K. Cheng, 68s, 0BE, JP (Chairman)
PR &4 15 Laura L.Y. Chen
BAE #wxngs A Fmt PW. Liu, sas, Jp
By Dominic C.F Ho
RERTMHNZES Nomination and Remuneration Committee

BIRE smemgs A6+ (X5)
EEIR A28 CVO - 2EHES - OBE - AFM+
BRESY e xmEE - OBE - AFi+

PW. Liu, sBs, Jp (Chairman)
Ronald J. Arculli, gem, cvo, Gas, 0BE, JP
H.K. Cheng, 6Bs, 0BE, JP

PR 4446 Laura L.Y. Chen

Ep:il=d Dominic C.F Ho

REREK Authorized Representatives
PeR B £k Philip N.L. Chen

/MR Bella PL. Chhoa

ARAME Company Secretary

M Bella PL. Chhoa

HMRER Registered Office

BEEPIREEE IR
BITRTRE=+N\E
T 02879 0111
f8H : 2868 6086

28th Floor, Standard Chartered Bank Building
4 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

Tel: 2879 0111

Fax: 2868 6086

EERAu

#94E ¢ http://www.hanglung.com
BEHUE + HLProperties@hanglung.com

Internet Address
Website: http://www.hanglung.com
Email address: HLProperties@hanglung.com

2B ED
EER SR EBH
DB

Auditor
KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
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Listing Information

R-Z——%F+ - H=+—H At December 31, 2011

4,472,770,045 REREBEEE1.007T 4,472,770,045 shares of HK$1.00 each listed on

EEBBARGMER AR L2 K&mn The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

B4R Stock Code

BERBAER BN Hong Kong Stock Exchange 00101
FRFE Reuters 0101.HK
EAE! Bloomberg 101HK
BFEEEN (RH) Board Lot Size (Share) 1,000
EHELES American Depositary Receipt

F—HRE (BEXH) Sponsored Level-1 (Over the Counter)

BH ARSI ARSRE CUSIP Number /Ticker Symbol 41043M104/HLPPY
TEREEF R D 2 LXK ADR: Underlying Share Ratio 1:5
FrLiRTT « HEEEIIRTT Depositary Bank: The Bank of New York Mellon

A - Website: http://www.adrbnymellon.com
BREBFRELRE Share Registrars

BAEPREBAHELRBRAA Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
BEBEFRRNER—EAN\T=%R 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

BB LTEE 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong

BAE Tel: 2862 8628
BE - Fax: 2529 6087
REEZBREE Investor Relations Contact

BRI C.F Kwan

UL Email address: ir@hanglung.com

% iy & B Share Information

f& B Price f&{E Price
HRAKAER HAPKACER

&= ®EE Total Trading Em ®EE Total Trading

High Low Volume High Low Volume

B B &R (&) B B &R (FR)

HK$ HK$ No. of Shares ('000) HK$ HK$ No. of Shares ('000)
2011 2010
% —2 First quarter 38.20 29.50 439,728 | % —Z First quarter 3255 2535 370,365
% ~% Second quarter  36.25  28.90 365,474 | =% Second quarter 32.85 25.95 332,138
% =2 Third quarter 3295 23.25 501,183 | =% Third quarter 38.35 2965 434,684
V02 Fourth quarter  29.50  20.85 381,616 | U= Fourth quarter 4050 34.40 859,449
R-ZT——&+ZA=+—B2ZKE: #2210 R-F-BE+-A=+—B2ZKE: #¥36.357T
Share Price as at December 31, 2011: HK$22.10 Share Price as at December 31, 2010: HK$36.35
R=F——&+=A=+—B2HiE: #988.5(87T R-F-FE+A=+—-B2ZHfE: #51,624.2{87T
Market Capitalization as at December 31, 2011: HK$98.85 billion Market Capitalization as at December 31, 2010: HK$162.42 billion
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